
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 07895 213740 
 

 

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk 
Date: 7 December 2021 
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 
 

 

A MEETING OF THE 
 

Planning Committee 

 

WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2021 AT 6.00 PM 
 

FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

You can watch this meeting via this weblink: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ 
 
If you are attending in person you will need to bring a portable device, such as a 
laptop or tablet to listen to and watch the meeting. You will also need to bring a 
headset/headphones. 

 

Members of the Committee: 

David Bretherton (Chair) 

Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair) 
Ken Arlett 
Tim Bearder 
Victoria Haval 

Elizabeth Gillespie 
Lorraine Hillier 
Axel Macdonald 
Jo Robb 

Ian Snowdon 
Alan Thompson 

 
Substitutes 

vacancy 
Celia Wilson 
Sam Casey-Rerhaye 
Stefan Gawrysiak 

Alexandrine Kantor 
Mocky Khan 
Jane Murphy 
Caroline Newton 

Sue Roberts 
David Turner 
Kellie Hinton 

 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting. 

Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


  2 

 

1  Chair's announcements   
 

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters. 
 
2  Apologies for absence   

 
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members. 
 
3  Minutes of previous meetings  (Pages 5 - 20) 

 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meetings 
held on Wednesday 22 September 2021 and Wednesday 13 October 2021.   
 
4  Declarations of interest   

 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.    
 
5  Urgent business   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn. 

 
6  Proposals for site visits   

 
7  Public participation   

 
To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.   
 

Development control applications 

 
 

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information 

 
All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number.  
 
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting. 

 

 
Summary index of applications 

 



  3 

 

 Site Address Proposal Application No Page 

 
     
8  Harlesford 

Farm near 
Tetsworth   

The construction and operation of a 
solar photovoltaic farm and 
associated infrastructure, including 
inverters, substation compound, 
security cameras, fencing, access 
tracks and landscaping. As clarified 
by information received 26 October 
2020, 11 November 2020, 1 
February 2021 and 18 November 
2021 and amended by drawings 
received 21 December 2020 and 9 
February 2021. 

P20/S3245/FUL 21 - 48 

 

     
9  Land to south 

west of Cowley 
Substation, 
Nuneham 
Courtenay   

Installation of renewable led energy 
generating station comprising 
ground-mounted photovoltaic solar 
arrays and battery-based electricity 
storage containers together with 
substation, inverter/transformer 
stations, site accesses, internal 
access tracks, security measures, 
access gates, other ancillary 
infrastructure, landscaping and 
biodiversity enhancements. 

P20/S4360/FUL 49 - 76 

 

     
10  Land to the 

south of 
Newnham 
Manor, 
Crowmarsh 
Gifford   

Hybrid planning application for the 
erection of 100 new residential 
dwellings including new access road 
off the A4074, public open space 
(full application) and the provision of 
school land (outline application) at 
Newnham Manor, Crowmarsh 
Gifford (as amended by plans 
submitted 26 November 2019, 18 
December 2019, 14 January 2020 
and 18 May 2020 and revised 
Arboricultural Assessment received 
5 May 2020, and as amended by 
plans and information received 30 
April 2021). 

P16/S3852/FUL 77 - 
112 

 

     
11  Grove Farm, 

Patemore Lane, 
Pishill   

The erection of 5 holiday pods, 
maintenance building, managers flat 
and associated landscaping and 
parking (as amended to realign 
maintenance building). 

P21/S0047/FUL 113 - 
132 

 



  4 

 

 

 

 



 1 

Minutes 

OF A MEETING OF THE 
 

 

Planning Committee 

 
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 22 SEPTEMBER 2021 AT 6.00 PM 
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

 

Present in the meeting room: 
Councillors: Ken Arlett, David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice Chair), Tim 
Bearder, Elizabeth Gillespie, Lorraine Hillier, Axel Macdonald, Ian Snowdon and Alan 
Thompson. 
 
Officers: Paul Bateman and Paula Fox 
 

Remote attendance:  
Officers: Nathaniel Bamsey, Victoria Clarke, Kim Gould, Simon Kitson, Marc Pullen, Bertie 
Smith and Tom Wyatt 
 

190 Chair's announcements  
 
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed and 
advised on emergency evacuation arrangements. 
 

191 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 

 
192 Apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors George Levy and Jo Robb. 
 

193 Urgent business  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

194 Proposals for site visits  
 
There were no proposals for site visits. 
 

195 Public participation  
 
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 2 

196 P21/S2624/FUL - 114 Broadway, Didcot  
 
The committee considered planning application P21/S2624/FUL for the conversion and 
extension of existing building to create a residential development of 6 apartments to 
provide 2 x 3-bedroom apartments, 2 x 2-bedroom apartments and 2 x 1-bedroom 
apartments including amenity space to the rear (as amplified by Energy Statement 
received 7 July 2021) (as amplified by desk study regarding contamination received 10 
August 2021). As amended by plans received from agent on 08 September in relation to 
National Space Standards, at 114 Broadway, Didcot. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting. The 
planning officer reported that this application had been referred to planning committee at 
the discretion of the planning manager. It was deferred at the meeting on 1 September 
2021 to allow officers to consider the implications of an appeal decision for two flats in 
Goring, received earlier that day which was dismissed and referred to the National Space 
Standards. This application had no technical reasons for refusal. 
 
The committee considered that planning permission should be granted as the application 
site was located in a sustainable location in close proximity to Didcot Town Centre and 
Didcot Railway Station.  
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S2624/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions; 
 

1.  Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission 
2.  Approved plans  
3.  Materials as on plan 
4.  Energy Statement verification  
5. Access and vision splays 
6. Contaminated land 
7. Contaminated land 
8. Unsuspected contamination  
9. Foul water details to be submitted 
10. surface water details to be submitted 

 
 
 

197  P20/S2809/HH and P20/S2812/LB - 11 Thameside, Henley-on-
Thames  

 
The committee considered applications P20/S2809/HH and P20/S2812/LB for a proposed 
in respect of rear of listed building, alteration of existing modern extension to widen its 
footprint and conversion from single to double storey (glass and metal cladding) plus 
addition of adjacent single storey glass extension.  Internal floor plan alterations to install a 
new stair, removal of c20 staircase, new partitions at first floor level and opening up of rear 
elevation at g/f and 1/f levels for proposed rear extensions.  Removal of existing staircase, 
fireplace and modern internal partitions.  Retrospective application for sub-division of roof 
space into one large room plus small storage room and internal staircase, involving 
removal of internal section of chimney.  Provision of two rear dormer windows in the rear 

Page 6



 3 

roof. (as amended by plans received 17 December 2020 reducing size of rear extension 
and providing additional supporting information) at 11 Thameside, Henley-on-Thames. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting. 
 
The planning officer reported that a site visit had taken place and the applicant had made 
alterations to the application to deal with concerns from objectors. The extension is not 
now considered to be overly dominant or visually intrusive. 
 
Councillor Ken Arlett, a representative of Henley-on-Thames Town Council, spoke 
objecting to the application. 
 
Mr. Adam Gibbon, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.  
 
A statement by Mr. Graham Keevil, a local resident, had been sent to the committee by the 
democratic services officer some days prior to the meeting. 
 
The senior planning officer advised the committee that were it minded to refuse listed 
building consent, contrary to planning officer advice in the report that the proposed works 
would preserve the building, it was required to state  how the proposal would be harmful. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse listed building consent failed on being put to the 
vote. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant listed building consent was carried on being put to 
the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant listed building consent in respect of application P20/S2812/LB 
subject to the following conditions; 
 

1.  Commencement of works within three years 
2.  Development in accordance with the approved plans 
3.  Sample / schedule of materials required (walls and roof) 

 
 
The committee considered that planning application P20/S2809/HH represented an 
overbearing development and had concerns regarding its impact upon the property at 12 
Thameside. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission for was carried on being put 
to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: that planning permission for planning application P20/S2809/HH be refused 
for the following reasons; 
 

1. Size and bulk of the proposal. 
2. Overbearing impact of extension on nearest neighbour at 12 Thameside. 

 
  
 
 

Page 7



 4 

198  P20/S0510/FUL - Land to rear of 16 Reading Road, Henley-on-
Thames  

 
The committee considered planning application P20/S0510/FUL for the erection of a three-
storey building to provide three 1-bedroom flats (Daylight and Sunlight report received 29th 
May 2020; amended elevation received 23rd June 2020, clarifying external materials to be 
used for the stair core) on land to rear of 16 Reading Road, Henley-on-Thames. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting. 
 
The planning officer reported that this application had been deferred at the 21October 
2020 meeting to facilitate a site visit by members of the committee. With reference to 
objections which had been made regarding loss of light to neighbours, the planning officer 
reported that the applicant had commissioned a professional Daylight and Sunlight Report, 
which assessed the proposal against the 2011 Building Research Establishment (BRE) 
guidelines on Planning for Daylight and Sunlight. The study had found that all windows 
assessed at the Reading Road Flats 6a to 6d would continue to benefit from adequate 
daylight and sunlight as measured against the BRE criteria. It also concluded that 50 
percent of the properties’ amenity areas would continue to benefit from at least 2 hours 
sunlight at the spring equinox. Whilst objections to the content of the professional report 
had been received, officers did not have evidence directly contradicting the findings. 
 
The planning officer reported that an area of the proposed curved stairwell would be 
directly visible from the patio and kitchen at flat 6b to the south. However, the living room 
of that property was also served by openings facing to the west, from which the view would 
be largely unaffected. Whilst there was an absence of demonstrable harm to flats 6a and 
6b, in terms of daylight and sunlight, the perceived enclosure of the neighbours’ amenity 
areas and consequent level of harm was a matter of judgement. One of the proposed 
conditions dealt with energy efficiency; prior to the commencement of the development, an 
energy statement would be completed, demonstrating how the development would 
achieve at least a 40% reduction in carbon emissions compared with code 2013 Building 
Regulations. In conclusion, the planning officer advised the committee that council officers 
considered that this was a sustainable development, which was suitable for three 1-bed 
properties.  
 
Mr. Paul Scrivens, a local resident at 6d Reading Road, spoke objecting to the application. 
A statement by Mr. Scrivens had be sent to the committee by the democratic services 
officer some days prior to the meeting. 
 
Mr. Edward Couldwell, a local resident at 6b Reading Road, spoke objecting to the 
application. 
 
The issue of fire escapes and the fact that any scheme would still need to comply with 
building regulations irrespective of whether planning consent was granted was noted by 
the committee. It expressed concern at the apparently insufficient fire escape routes and 
inadequate access for emergency vehicles.  The committee considered that the proposed 
development would be overbearing and adversely affect the quality of life of existing 
residents. Amenity space for future occupants was also considered to be unsatisfactory.  
 
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission for was carried on being put 
to the vote.  
 

Page 8



 5 

RESOLVED: that planning permission for planning application P20/S0510/FUL be refused 
for the following reasons; 
 

1. Impact upon neighbouring residents, particularly at 6b and 6d Reading Road. 
2. Visual intrusion. 
3. Impact upon privacy of neighbouring residents. 
4. Adverse effect upon neighbours’ light levels. 
5. Inadequate amenity space for future occupants.   
6. Adverse effect upon quality of life of neighbouring residents. 

 

199  P20/S1991/FUL - Land next to Oak House Cottage, track leading to 
Box Cottage Common Lane, Binfield Heath  

 
The committee considered planning application P20/S1991/FUL for a new 4 bedroom 
residential dwelling, built within the garden of Oak house Cottage. New single storey, 
single car, oak frame car port (as amended by plans 14 October 2020 to reduce width of 
property and reduce glazing along south elevation) (as amended by plans received 2 
March 2021 to move property further away from trees marginally) (as supported by 
Arboricultural Information received 2021-03-02) (as amplified by information received 
2021-05-19), on Land next to Oak House Cottage, track leading to Box Cottage Common 
Lane, Binfield Heath. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting. 
 
The planning officer reported that this application had been deferred at the 1 September 
meeting, in order to facilitate a site visit by members of the committee. The proposal 
represented an infill application, was considered to preserve the character of the Chilterns 
area of outstanding natural beauty (AONB) and protect and preserve landscape features. 
It was acknowledged that the proposed dwelling was larger and higher than Oak House 
Cottage and could overshadow and dominate it. Windows of the new house would face 
directly into Gosbrook Cottage at first floor level. The dwelling would maintain noticeable 
visual gaps between Gosbrook Cottage and Oak House Cottage, maintaining the spacious 
character of the area. There were no technical objections to the application. In conclusion, 
the planning officer advised the committee that the proposed development would be 
acceptable in principle and would not result in any adverse impacts upon the character 
and appearance of the area, the landscape and scenic beauty of the AONB, the amenity of 
neighbours, the protection and retention of important landscape features and ecology, and 
would not harm the safety of the highway network.   
 
Councillor Elisabeth Ransom, a representative of Binfield Heath Parish Council, spoke 
objecting to the application. A statement by Councillor Ransom, on behalf of Binfield Heath 
Parish Council had been sent to the committee by the democratic services officer some 
days prior to the meeting. 
 
Mr. Roger Murray-Leach, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. 
 
Mr. Christopher Morgan a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. A statement by 
Mr. Morgan had been sent to the committee by the democratic services officer some days 
prior to the meeting. 
 
Mr. Robert Kennedy, the agent, spoke in support of the application. A  

Page 9



 6 

statement by Mr. Kennedy had been sent to the committee by the democratic services 
officer some days prior to the meeting. 
 
In response to a question regarding the status of the track leading to the site, the planning 
officer confirmed that this was a private road and that for the purposes of planning 
consent, an infill proposal did not necessarily have to be on the public highway. In 
response to a question regarding the size of gap possibly being too wide to constitute infill, 
the planning officer reported that infill was defined as the filling of a small gap in an 
otherwise continuous built-up frontage, or on other sites within settlements where the site 
was closely surrounded by buildings.  Council policy H16 did not specify the size of sites to 
be considered as infill, but did state that the scale of infill should be appropriate to its 
location. 
 
The senior planning officer advised the committee that infill was a considered judgement 
taken by officers, who had concluded that this was suitable for such a spacious area. The 
design of the proposed development complied with the AONB design guide and the 
secretary of state’s design guide. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission failed on being put to the 
vote. 
 
The committee concluded that there were no planning reasons to refuse permission and 
that therefore consent should be given. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P20/S1991/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions; 
 
 1. Development to commence within three years of the date of permission.  
 2. Development to be implemented in accordance with approved plans.  
  3. Schedule of all materials to be used in the external construction of the      
 development to be agreed.  
 4. Parking & Manoeuvring Areas retained as shown on plan. 
 5.  Details of landscaping (including hard surfacing and boundary treatment) to be 
 submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA  
 6. Tree Protection details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. 
 7. Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy to be submitted to and 
 approved in writing by the LPA. 
 8. A schedule of all external lighting to be to be submitted to and approved in writing 
 by the LPA. 
 9. Surface water drainage details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
 LPA. 
 10. Foul drainage details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. 
 11. Energy Statement – report to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
 LPA. 
 12. Glass coating for external glazing to be submitted to and approved in writing by 
 the LPA. 
 
Highway informative: 
- It is an offence under Section 151 of the Highways Act 1980 for vehicles leaving the 
development site to carry mud onto the public highway. Facilities should therefore be 

Page 10



 7 

provided and used on the development site for cleaning the wheels of vehicles before they 
leave the site. 
- No vehicles associated with the building operations on the development site shall be 
parked on the public highway so as to cause an obstruction. Any such obstruction is an 
offence under Section 137 of the Highways Act 1980. 
 

200  P21/S2041/HH - 50 Hardings, Chalgrove  
 
The considered planning application P21/S2041/HH for a retrospective planning 
permission for a radio amateur mast, rotator and antenna system at 50 Hardings, 
Chalgrove. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting. 
 
The planning officer advised the committee that planning permission was recommended 
as the principle of the development was acceptable and there was no harm to visual 
amenity, neighbour amenity nor highway safety. Therefore, it was concluded that the 
application complied with the relevant policies of the adopted development plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S2041/HH, subject to the 
following conditions; 
 

1. Approved plans.  
2. Remove and restore when no longer required. 
3. Retract when not in use. 
4. Chalgrove Neighbourhood Plan Policies. 

 
The meeting closed at 8.10 pm 
 
 
 
Chair Date 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Minutes 

OF A MEETING OF THE 
 

 

Planning Committee 

 
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 13 OCTOBER 2021 AT 6.00 PM 
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

 

Present in the meeting room: 
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice Chair), Ken Arlett, Tim 
Bearder, Elizabeth Gillespie, Lorraine Hillier, Axel Macdonald, Jo Robb, Ian Snowdon and 
Alan Thompson 
 
Officers: Paul Bateman and Paula Fox 
 

Remote attendance:  
Officers: Emma Bowerman, Paul Bowers, Kim Gould, Cathie Scotting, Bertie Smith and 
Tom Wyatt  
Guests: Anna Badcock, Sam Casey-Rerhaye and Maggie Filipova-Rivers  
 

201 Chair's announcements  
 
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed at a 
hybrid committee meeting and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements. 
 

202 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor George Levy. 
 

203 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

204  Urgent business  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

205 Proposals for site visits  
 
A proposal, moved and seconded, for a site visit in respect of application P21/S2637/FUL, 
land at 4 Ernest Road, Didcot, was agreed. The committee had concerns regarding the 
effect upon a neighbouring property. The committee considered that a site visit was 
necessary, in order to have a clear understanding of the concerns in the context of the site 
and its surroundings. 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



 2 

RESOLVED: to hold a site visit for application P21/S2637/FUL and defer the consideration 
of the application until the visit had been completed. 
 

206 Public participation  
 
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak had been circulated 
to the committee prior to the meeting. Statements received had all been sent to the 
committee prior to the meeting by the democratic services officer. 
 

207 P20/S3244/FUL - Land to the North West of Stoke Talmage  
 
The committee considered application P20/S3244/FUL for the construction and operation 
of a solar photovoltaic farm and associated infrastructure, including inverters, substation 
compound, security cameras, fencing, access tracks and landscaping on land to the North 
West of Stoke Talmage. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer reported that since the publication of the agenda the neighbour had 
withdrawn their objection. The planning officer referred to paragraph 1.4, of the report, 
stating that the proposed solar panels would not extend to Haseley Brook. The Spartum 
Fen site of special scientific interest site was 700m to the north west of the location and 
the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) was 5km distant. The 
application site did not fall within any areas of special designation. There were two grade II 
listed structures in the area, one at 500m and the other 1km away from the application 
site. The application complied with local plan policy DES9 regarding renewable and low 
carbon energy, as it had no landscape impact as specified under this guidance. A zoning 
plan showing the location of the proposed panels had been shared with the council and 
landscaping proposals had been amended to include a landscape buffer, a double hedge, 
including planting along the footpath, a wildflower meadow and tree planting. It was 
intended that were the committee to grant planning permission, a condition would specify 
the implementation of landscaping. Overall, the landscape impact of the proposed 
development would not be significant, and any adverse outcomes could be dealt with 
through mitigation measures if necessary. The proposal had not received any objections 
from statutory consultees and was recommended for approval. 
 
Mr. James Hartley-Bond, the applicant, spoke in support of the application. 
 
Councillor Anna Badcock, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.  
 
In response to a question from the committee regarding the type of trees which were to be 
planted, the planning officer responded that the developer would be required to inform the 
council of the species which would be planted, to ensure that native varieties of tree were 
fully represented and that some would be mature. 
 
In response to a question from the committee regarding the return of the land to 
agricultural use, and whether the designation would then be brownfield, the planning 
officer confirmed that a proposed condition specified a return to agricultural use after 40 
years. 
 

Page 14



 3 

The committee concluded that the application fitted in well with the council’s work on 
climate change and global warming, was of negligible harm and not within any areas of 
special designation, and therefore should be supported. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P20/S3244/FUL subject to the 
following conditions: 
 
Time limits and approved plans - 
 
1. Commencement within three years.  
2. Development in accordance with approved plans.  
3. Temporary permission for a period of 40 years. 
 
Pre-commencement conditions- 
 
4. Submission of final details of layout, design and scale of equipment to be submitted 

for approval.  
5. Details of hard and soft landscaping to be submitted for approval.  
6. Landscape and Ecological Management Plan to be submitted for approval. 
7. Tree protection to be submitted for approval. 
8. Construction Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity to be submitted for 

approval. 
9. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan to be submitted for approval. 
10. Scheme for provision and management of buffer zone to watercourse to be 

submitted for approval. 
11. Full archaeological field evaluation to be submitted for approval. 
12. Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation to be submitted for approval. 
13. Programme of archaeological mitigation to be submitted for approval. 
14. Construction Traffic Management Plan to be submitted for approval (including 

wheel washing facilities). 
15. Sustainable drainage scheme to be submitted for approval. 
 
Compliance conditions- 
 
16. Development to be carried out in accordance with Flood Risk Assessment. 
17. No lighting to be installed. 
18. Removal of panels if not used continuously for the production of energy for a period 

of six months. 
 
End of development condition- 
 
19. Decommissioning Method Statement to be submitted for approval and 

decommissioning to be carried out within 6 months of the expiry of the 40-year 
planning permission and land returned to agricultural use. 

 
Additional condition to implement landscaping. 
 

208 P21/S1388/FUL - Culham Science Centre, Clifton Hampden  
 

Page 15



 4 

The committee considered application P21/S1388/FUL for the construction of two parking 
hubs (as amplified by drainage strategy received 1 July 2021, Written Scheme of 
Investigation and Archaeological Evaluation dated June 2021 and September 2021 and 
amended by additional drainage information received 9 August 2021 and amplified by 
Ecological Information submitted on the 13 September 2021) at Culham Science Centre 
(CSC), Clifton Hampden. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer reported that the application for the construction of two parking hubs, 
in the form of multi-storey structures, was set in two areas referred in the application as the 
eastern and western sites. The application supported a reserve matters application on this 
site. The proposal would not represent an increase in vehicle movements, as no new trips 
would be generated. 
  
Mr. Steven Sensecall, the agent, spoke in support of the application. 
 
Ms. Caroline Livingstone, the applicant, spoke in support of the application. 
 
Councillor Sam Casey-Rerhaye, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the 
application. 
 
In response to a question regarding the number of electrical vehicle (EV) points to be 
installed, compared with the overall number of car parking spaces, Ms. Livingstone replied 
that the proposals included accommodation for cycles and electric bicycles and that every 
year the situation for these users was improving. The 45 EV points would be located at 
ground level and as the development was built out, more points would be added. The 
intention of Culham Science Centre was to be responsive as demand increased, though a 
modal shift in transportation would take some time to achieve. The installation of EV points 
across the site would be reviewed by the science centre. 
 
In response to a question regarding links between the site and the railway station, the 
agent and applicant responded that the science centre was in discussion with the railway 
company regarding the number of stopping trains at the station servicing the site. 
Additionally, the science centre was considering autonomous bus movements to and from 
the site in the longer term.   
 
The committee noted paragraph 6.15 of the report, which gave a breakdown of the 308 car 
parking spaces in their various locations. The planning officer advised the committee that 
the proposals had received no objection from the Oxfordshire County Council, as 
highways authority, and that CSC’s proposed movement strategy, alongside the site-wide 
travel plan for the science centre, was to promote and encourage employees to use 
alternative travel modes to the CSC. Such alternative travel modes included public 
transport, walking and cycling. In addition, the level of on-site car parking was to be 
consolidated and reduced where possible.  
 
In response to a question from the committee in respect of the mitigation for the loss of 
trees, the planning officer responded that the council’s tree officer was working in the 
interests of retaining many trees and that proposed condition 4, (prior to the 
commencement of the development), concerned tree protection.  
 
The committee considered that on balance the application should be supported.   

Page 16



 5 

 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S1388/FUL subject to the 
following conditions: 
 
Standard conditions – 
 
1 . Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission. 
2 . Approved plans.  
 
Prior to commencement conditions –  
 
3 . Construction Traffic Management.  
4 . Tree protection.  
5 . Surface water drainage details to be approved. 
6 . Biodiversity enhancement management plan to be approved. 
7 . Certificate confirming the agreement of an offsetting provider. 
 
Prior to occupation conditions –  
 
8 . Electrical charging points as per plans. 
9 . External lighting scheme. 
 
Compliance conditions –  
 
10. Materials as on plan. 
11. Wildlife protection as approved. 
 

209 P21/S1805/HH - Vincent House, High Street, Long Wittenham  
 
The committee considered application P21/S1805/HH for the removal of existing garage 
and replacement with oak detailed garage as amended by plans 10A, 11A, 12AB and 13 
A, which reduces the height of the proposed garage, at Vincent House, High Street, Long 
Wittenham. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer reported that this application concerned the removal of an existing 
garage and its replacement with an oak detailed garage. It was confirmed that the site was 
located within the Long Wittenham Conservation Area. The plans for the application had 
been amended during the determination period in response to the conservation officer’s 
comments and objections from neighbours and Long Wittenham Parish Council. 
 
The planning officer advised the committee that the existing structure had an association 
with local artist Robert Gibbings, but had limited architectural or historic value. The Long 
Wittenham History Group objected to the loss of the garage, which was the location of the 
artist’s studio. The conservation officer had no objection to its removal. A hedge would be 
removed as part of the proposal, for which planning permission was not required. The 
planning officer read to the committee a statement which had been received from Long 

Page 17



 6 

Wittenham Parish Council, which declared its support for the preservation of the studio 
and that it should be professionally recorded if planning permission was granted.  
 
Mr. Hugh Lloyd-Jukes, the owner of Vincent House, spoke in support of the application. 
 
Councillor Sam Casey-Rerhaye, the local ward councillor, spoke in support of the 
application. 
 
The committee considered that in view of the local artist’s legacy being preserved in the 
manner proposed by the parish council and there being no objection from the conservation 
officer that permission should be granted. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S1805/HH subject to the 
following conditions: 
 
1 . Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission. 
2 . Approved plans. 
3 . Materials as on plan. 
4 . No garage conversion. 
5 .Tree protection. 
6 . Surface water details. 
 

210  P21/S2385/FUL - Land at Woodcote Road, South Stoke  
 
The committee considered application P21/S2385/FUL for the variation of condition 2 of 
application P19/S2865/RM for the removal of the detached carport to Plots 2 & 3, removal 
of the carport to Plot 1, omission of the bike store to Plot 3, a new window to Plot 3 (east 
elevation) and relocation of 2 parking spaces to Plot 2 (as amplified by tree protection and 
landscape information received 6 August 2021). Application for approval of reserved 
matters relating to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale following application 
P17/S3206/O for residential development (up to 5 dwellings), and associated works, 
including access on land at Woodcote Road, South Stoke. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer reported that this application included changes in site layout, the main 
visual impact being the relocation of two car parking spaces. Planning officers considered 
that the proposal would not represent significant harm to the wider landscape or to the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  
 
Councillor Maggie Filipova-Rivers, the local ward councillor, spoke to the application. In 
response to a question regarding the consultation time afforded to the South Stoke Parish 
Council to comment on planning applications, the senior planning officer replied that 
contact had been made at an early stage with the parish council, who had initially 
objected, to discuss the plans. The parish council no longer objected. 
 
In response to a question from the committee regarding the retention of a bike store, the 
planning officer undertook to discuss this with the applicant. 
 

Page 18



 7 

The committee concluded that changes to the approved development would not result in a 
materially harmful impact to the residential impact of nearby properties or to highway 
safety and that the special landscape character of this part of the AONB would be 
conserved and that therefore permission should be granted.  
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S2385/FUL subject to the 
following conditions: 
 
1 . Time Limit - Variation of Condition. 
2 . Approved plans.  
3 . Schedule of Materials. 
4 . Landscaping implementation. 
5 . External Lighting – General. 
6 . No additional windows, doors or other openings. 
7 . Withdrawal of Permitted Development Rights. 
8 . Wildlife Protection (mitigation as approved). 
9 . Tree protection (implementation as approved). 
10 . Surface water drainage works (details required). 
11 . New vehicular access. 
12 . Vision splay protection. 
13 . Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained. 
14 . Construction Traffic Management (details required). 
15 . No Garage conversion into accommodation. 
 

211  P21/S2637/FUL - Land at 4 Ernest Road, Didcot  
 
Consideration of this application was deferred to allow a site visit to take place. 
 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 7.45 pm 
 
 
 
Chair Date 

 

 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P20/S3245/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 16.9.2020 
 PARISH TETSWORTH 
 WARD MEMBER Caroline Newton 
 APPLICANT Harlesford Solar Farm Limited (owned by Low 

Carbon) 
 SITE Harlesford Farm near Tetsworth, Oxfordshire, OX9 

7BX 
 PROPOSAL The construction and operation of a solar 

photovoltaic farm and associated infrastructure, 
including inverters, substation compound, security 
cameras, fencing, access tracks and landscaping  

 AMENDMENTS As clarified by information received 26 October 
2020, 11 November 2020, 1 February 2021 and 18 
November 2021 and amended by drawings received 
21 December 2020 and 9 February 2021. 

 OFFICER Emma Bowerman 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted.  This report explains how 

officers have reached this conclusion.  
 

1.2 The application is referred to the Planning Committee at the discretion of the 
Development Manager so that the Committee can consider the cumulative impacts of 
solar farm proposals in the District. The whole of the site is located within the Parish of 
Tetsworth, and Tetsworth Parish Council have no objection to the application.   
 

1.3 The 78-hectare application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as 
Appendix A) is located to the southwest of Tetsworth (on the opposite side of the 
M40).  The site consists of several agricultural fields used for grazing.   
 

1.4 The site does not fall within any areas of special designation.  There is a separation of 
around 4.5km to the edge of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB).  Harlesford Farmhouse, which is outside of the application site, is a Grade II 
Listed Building.     
 

1.5 There are hedgerows within the site, breaking up the different fields, and around the 
site boundaries. In terms of its agricultural land classification, most of the site is Grade 
3b land (moderate quality) with a small section of Grade 3a land (good quality).   
 

1.6 The Haseley Brook runs along the southern boundary of the site and the land slopes 
in a southern direction towards the Brook.  Most of the site falls within Flood Zone 1 
(lowest probability of flooding).  There is an area of Flood Zone 2 and 3 around 
Haseley Brook along the southern boundary of the site.     
 

1.7 The site is crossed by several Public Rights of Way including the Oxfordshire Way, 
which crosses the eastern edge of the Site.  A 132-kilovolt overhead electricity line 
crosses the site and there are pylons within the site.  The proposal would connect into 
this existing infrastructure.   
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S3245/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

1.8 The application proposes the construction and operation of a solar photovoltaic farm 
and associated infrastructure.  The panels would generate up to 49.99 megawatts 
(MW), enough to power approximately 15,000 homes.  Based on the scale and nature 
of the proposal, it is Environmental Impact Appraisal (EIA) development, and the 
application is therefore accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES).     
 

1.9 Planning permission is sought to operate the plant for 40 years, at which point it would 
be decommissioned and the land returned to its previous state.  The development 
includes the following equipment: 
 
- Ground mounted rows of solar PV panels running from east to west across the 

site with approximately 3-4m between each row of arrays. 
 

- At the lowest edge the arrays would be approximately 0.9m above ground and up 
to approximately 2.7m at the highest edge.  

 
- Approximately 30 inverters within units similar to shipping containers (12m x 2.5m 

and 3m high).  
 

- A substation compound of up to 50m x 50m consisting of overhead electrical 
busbars and other electrical equipment along with a control building and a switch 
room.  These structures would be up to approximately 12.5m x 5.5m x 6m high.  

 
- Stock-proof perimeter fencing (mesh with wooden posts or similar) to a height of 

approximately 2m along the outer edges of the site.  
 

- A system of CCTV / infra-red cameras on poles up to approximately 3m high, 
spaces at approximately 50m intervals along the security fence.   

 
- Internal access tracks  
 

1.10 The application plans are attached as Appendix B.  The application is supported by 
several technical documents including the ES and an Alternative Site Assessment.  
The application is also accompanied by a Statement of Community Involvement which 
provides details of the pre-application public consultation undertaken with local 
communities.  These documents can be reviewed on the council’s website at the 
following link:  
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&R
EF=P20/S3245/FUL 
 

1.11 The applicant has not been able to fix all of the details of the development at this 
stage because the final technology selection and layout would be determined by an 
appointed contractor.  The applicant has therefore sought to incorporate sufficient 
design flexibility into the application in relation to the dimensions and layout of the 
structures.     
 

1.12 The assessments that form part of the application and EIA have therefore been 
undertaken adopting the principles of the “Rochdale Envelope.”  This approach 
involves assessing the maximum parameters for the elements where flexibility is 
required and provides a worst-case scenario.  For example, the solar panels have 
been assessed for the purposes of landscape and visual impact as being a maximum 
of 2.7m high, when they may be lower at around 2.5m.   
 

1.13 The Rochdale Envelope assessment approach is an acknowledged way of assessing 
a proposed development comprising EIA development where uncertainty exists, and 

Page 22

https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P20/S3245/FUL
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P20/S3245/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

necessary flexibility is sought.  To provide clearly defined parameters, the applicant 
has split the site into 14 Development Zones (attached as Appendix C).  The zones 
define where certain infrastructure would be located within the site, but there is 
flexibility in terms of the layout within each zone.   
 

1.14 The application has been updated on several occasions with additional information 
submitted in relation to heritage, ecology, drainage and archaeology.  This included 
an update to the ES to include a geophysical survey.  The plans have also been 
amended during the application process to address some issues raised by 
consultees.  This included removing a Development Zone and all solar panels to the 
northeast of the site.     
 

1.15 Low Carbon is also funding the development process for another solar farm project in 
the local area to the northwest of Stoke Talmage (P20/S3244/FUL).  Councillors 
considered this scheme at the committee meeting on 13 October 2021 and resolved 
to approve the application.  This site is approximately 400m to the west of the 
application site.   

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 A summary of the latest responses received to the proposal is below.  A full copy of all 

the comments made including those in respect of previous iterations of the proposals 
can be seen online at: 
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&RE
F=P20/S3245/FUL 
 

2.2 Parish Councils, local bodies and residents: 
 

Tetsworth Parish 
Council  
 

No objection  

 The positive changes in the plans as part of the 
consultation feedback are welcome.   

 Does not impact on neighbourhood plan. 
 

Wheatfield Parish 
Council   
 

No comment 

Adwell Parish Meeting  Object 

 Land is beautiful and unspoilt, and development will 
ruin the beautiful biodiverse countryside. 

 Used by walkers and cyclists. 

 An industrial blot on the landscape.  
 

Great Haseley Parish 
Council  
 

Object 

 Concern about cumulative effect on landscape. 

 The effects of the Harlesford site are more harmful 
and the cumulative effects of both sites would be 
highly detrimental.  

 Harmful effect on landscape and historic setting of 
Tetsworth. 

 Sloping ground would make panels widely visible.   

 Loss of amenity due to impact on footpaths. 

 The open nature of the footpaths and the views from 
them would be lost to a corridor of enclosed hedges.   

 
 

Page 23

https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P20/S3245/FUL
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P20/S3245/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

Pyrton Parish Council  
 

No objection  

 Developer should be required to restore the site 
  

South Oxfordshire 
District of CPRE   
 

Object 

 Unacceptable and massive industrialisation of the 
countryside. 

 Inappropriate use of land which would be better 
employed for its proper purpose of efficient 
production of food rather than the production of solar 
energy. 

 Unnecessary and unacceptable landscape harm 
especially on open grassland sites.  

 Significant loss of countryside. 

 Change of views from high points.  

 Intrusion into open views of attractive countryside 
from M40. 

 Adverse effect on historic environment. 

 Adverse impact on residential amenity.   
 

South Oxfordshire 
District of CPRE   
(Rights of Way)  
 

Object 

 Affects 6 public rights of way including the 
Oxfordshire Way.  

 Proposal would completely smother rights of way 
network 

 Deprive residents of Tetsworth of satisfying walking 
opportunities 

  

Neighbour 
Representations  
 

Four received in objection or with concerns: 

 Impact on property values. 

 Substation would be an eyesore and incongruous.  

 Suitable high landscaping should be provided.  

 Development Zone 14 should not contain any 
panels.  

 Watercourses should not be harmed 

 Proposal will ruin unspoilt countryside  

 Cumulative effects will have a disastrous effect on 
countryside. 

 Landscape should not be sacrificed to achieve 
climate goals 

 
Officer note: One of these objections was based on a 
Development Zone to the east of the site, which has 
subsequently been removed through the submission of 
amended plans.   

 
Technical consultees: 
 

Environment Agency 
 
 

No objection  

 Subject to conditions requiring the development to be 
carried out in accordance with the Flood Risk 
Assessment and the provision of buffer zones to 
watercourses.     

 

Page 24



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

Highways England  
 

No objection  

 Subject to a condition to ensure that access is only 
taken from Stoke Talmage Road.   

 Support the new hedgerows and planting which 
should reduce the risk of any solar reflection 
occurring. 
 

Oxfordshire County 
Council Single 
Response  
 

Transport Development Control 
No objection  

 Subject to conditions requiring wheel washing 
facilities and a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan.  

 
Lead Local Flood Authority  
No objection  

 Subject to conditions set out by South and Vale 
drainage team 

 
Archaeology 
No objection  

 Subject to conditions to record and report matters of 
archaeological importance. 

 

Climate Action Lead 
Officer 

Support  

 Solar farms will play an important role in the future 
local renewable energy mix. 

 To meet our Climate Emergency target of net zero by 
2030 we need to reach South Oxfordshire’s full 
potential for renewable energy infrastructure.   

 Strong case for locating energy generation as close 
as possible to demand. 

 Local generation reduces transmission losses. 
 

Landscape Officer 
 

No objection  

 Amended plans an improvement over the original 
submission and acceptable in mitigating the 
anticipated landscape and visual effects of the 
development.   

 The ‘moderate’ cumulative effect and 
‘major/moderate’ effect on landscape character will 
need to be taken into the planning balance.  

 Other amendments to incorporate hedgerow and tree 
planting are positive.  

 

Countryside Officer 
 

No objection  

 Subject to conditions requiring the development to 
take place in accordance with the council’s great 
crested newt licencing scheme, that the agreed great 
crested newt mitigation measures are followed, and 
that a Landscape and Ecology Management Plan, 
Construction Environmental Management Plan for 
Biodiversity and a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan 
are submitted for approval. 

 

Page 25



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

Forestry Officer 
 

No objection  

 Subject to a condition requiring tree protection.  
 

Conservation Officer 
 

Proposal would result in less than substantial harm 

 Impact on the setting of the Grade II listed Harlesford 
Farmhouse. 

 Panels would erode the appreciation of the buildings 
agricultural setting and reduce the extent to which 
the listed building is understood as part of the historic 
open countryside.   

 The amendments removing the extent of the panels 
to the north-east of the site reduces the impact on 
the appreciation of the setting of the farmstead and 
represents and improvement.   

 This harm should be balanced against the public 
benefits of the scheme.   

 

Drainage Officer 
 

No objection  

 Subject to a condition requiring the submission of a 
sustainable drainage scheme.  

 

Contaminated Land 
Officer 
 

No objection 

Environmental 
Protection Officer  
 

No objection 

 
 

 
3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P20/S2334/SCO - Withdrawn (04/08/2020) 

Request for a Screening Opinion for a solar photovoltaic farm and associated 
infrastructure. 
 
P20/S1356/SCR – Environmental Impact Assessment required (21/05/20) 
Solar Photovoltaic Farm and associated infrastructure. 
 
P20/S0848/PEJ – Pre-application response issued (12/06/2020) 
Solar Photovoltaic Farm and associated infrastructure. 

 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 Officers have considered the size and nature of the proposed development, the 

characteristics of the site and cumulative impacts.  Based on the likely environmental 
impacts of the development, the development is considered to be Environmental 
Impact Assessment (EIA) development for the purposes of the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.    
 

4.2 A positive Screening Opinion was issued on 15 May 2020, which confirmed that the 
proposals are EIA development.  An Environmental Statement (ES) has therefore 
been submitted with this planning application.  The specific environmental topics 
scoped into the ES include landscape and visual impact, and cultural heritage.  
Officers have taken the ES into account, including the further information submitted on 
26 October 2021, and representations made on it in determining the application.    

Page 26

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S2333/SCO
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S0847/PEJ


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan 

In the case of South Oxfordshire, the Development Plan is the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2035, which was adopted in December 2020 and any “made” Neighbourhood 
Plans within the relevant geographical area.  Tetsworth has a made Neighbourhood 
Development Plan.    
 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
EMP10  -  Development in Rural Areas 
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside 
ENV2  -  Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
ENV4  -  Watercourses 
ENV5  -  Green Infrastructure in New Developments 
ENV6  -  Historic Environment 
ENV7  -  Listed Buildings 
ENV9  -  Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments 
ENV11 – Pollution – Impact from Existing / Previous Land Uses 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources 
DES9  -  Renewable Energy 
EP4  -  Flood Risk 
TRANS4  -  Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 
Tetsworth Neighbourhood Development Plan (TNDP) 2035 Policies: 
TET1 – Dev within the Tetsworth Village Settlement and Surrounding Countryside 
TET2 – Settlement Character Areas and Design Criteria  
TET3 – Countryside Character Sectors 
TET4 – Key Views  
TET5 – Local Heritage Assets  
TET8 – Biodiversity and the Natural Environment  
 

5.2 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 

5.3 Other Planning Guidance/Documents 
- National Policy Statement for Overarching Energy (EN-1)  
- National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-3)  
- National Policy Statement for Electricity Networks (EN-5) 
- UK Solar PV Strategy Part 1: Roadmap to a Brighter Future  
- UK Solar PV Strategy Part 2: Delivering a Brighter Future  
- Oxfordshire Energy Strategy 
- National Infrastructure Commission - Net Zero - Opportunities for the Power Sector 
- Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) Position Statement for Major Development 

Proposals for Ground-mounted Solar PV Arrays 
- BRE’s Planning Guidance for Large Scale Ground Mounted Solar PV Systems 
- The Solar Trade Association’s Solar Farm 10 Commitments  
 
 
 
 

Page 27



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

5.4 Other Relevant Legislation 
Human Rights Act 1998 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 
 
Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The relevant planning considerations are: 
 

 Principle of the development 

 Loss of agricultural land  

 Landscape and visual impact  

 Cumulative impact  

 Ecology and trees  

 Archaeology and historic environment  

 Residential amenity 

 Access and parking 

 Environmental matters (flooding, drainage and contamination)  
 

 
6.2 

Principle of the development  
National planning policy on renewable energy development is set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance: Renewable and 
Low Carbon Energy (PPG).    
 

6.3 At para.152, the NPPF sets out its support for renewable energy development.  It states 
that “The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a 
changing climate,… It should help to:….support renewable and low carbon energy and 
associated infrastructure.”   
 

6.4 The NPPF continues at para. 158, “When determining applications for renewable and 
low carbon development, local planning authorities should: 

a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low 
carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide a valuable 
contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and 

b) approve the application if the impacts are (or can be made) acceptable.  Once 
suitable areas for renewable or low carbon energy have been identified in plans, 
local planning authorities should expect subsequent applications for commercial 
scale projects outside of these areas to demonstrate that the proposed location 
meets the criteria used in identifying suitable areas.”  
 

6.5 The PPG further explains that: “The National Planning Policy Framework explains that 
all communities have a responsibility to help increase the use and supply of green 
energy, but this does not mean that the need for renewable energy automatically 
overrides environmental protections and the planning concerns of local communities. 
As with other types of development, it is important that the planning concerns of local 
communities are properly heard in matters that directly affect them.” 
 

6.6 The PPG adds that “renewable energy developments should be acceptable for their 
location.” and that “The deployment of large-scale solar farms can have a negative 
impact on the rural environment, particularly in undulating landscapes. However, the 

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

visual impact of a well-planned and well-screened solar farm can be properly 
addressed within the landscape if planned sensitively. 
 

6.7 The PPG also provides a list of particular factors that a Local Planning Authority will 
need to consider in determining applications for large scale solar farms.  These include: 
 

 “encouraging the effective use of land by focussing large scale solar farms on 
previously developed and non agricultural land, provided that it is not of high 
environmental value; 

 where a proposal involves greenfield land, whether (i) the proposed use of any 
agricultural land has been shown to be necessary and poorer quality land has 
been used in preference to higher quality land; and (ii) the proposal allows for 
continued agricultural use where applicable and/or encourages biodiversity 
improvements around arrays. 

 that solar farms are normally temporary structures and planning conditions can 
be used to ensure that the installations are removed when no longer in use and 
the land is restored to its previous use; 

 the proposal’s visual impact, the effect on landscape of glint and glare and on 
neighbouring uses and aircraft safety; 

 the extent to which there may be additional impacts if solar arrays follow the 
daily movement of the sun; 

 the need for, and impact of, security measures such as lights and fencing; 

 great care should be taken to ensure heritage assets are conserved in a manner 
appropriate to their significance, including the impact of proposals on views 
important to their setting. As the significance of a heritage asset derives not only 
from its physical presence, but also from its setting, careful consideration should 
be given to the impact of large scale solar farms on such assets. Depending on 
their scale, design and prominence, a large scale solar farm within the setting of 
a heritage asset may cause substantial harm to the significance of the asset; 

 the potential to mitigate landscape and visual impacts through, for example, 
screening with native hedges; 

 the energy generating potential, which can vary for a number of reasons 
including, latitude and aspect.” 

 
6.8 In terms of local policy, the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP 2035) does not 

identify suitable areas or specific sites for renewable or low carbon energy projects.  
Tetsworth Neighbourhood Development Plan (TNDP) also does not allocate any sites 
for this type of development. 
       

6.9 Policy DES9 of the SOLP 2035 is concerned with renewable and low carbon energy 
and states: “The council encourages schemes for renewable and low carbon energy 
generation and associated infrastructure at all scales including domestic schemes.  It 
also encourages the incorporation of renewable and low carbon energy applications 
within all development.  Planning applications for renewable and low carbon energy 
generation will be supported, provided that they do not cause a significant adverse 
effect to: 

i) landscape, both designated AONB and locally valued, biodiversity, including 
protected habitats and species and Conservation Target Areas;  

ii) the historic environment, both designated and non-designated assets, 
including development within their setting; 

iii) openness of the Green Belt; 
 

Page 29



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

iv) the safe movement of traffic or pedestrians; or 
v) residential amenity.  

 
6.10 And in relation to the TNDP, policy TET1 advises that proposals outside of the village 

settlement will only be supported if they are appropriate to a countryside location and 
are consistent with other SOLP and neighbourhood plan policies.   
 

6.11 Overall, I do not consider that there are any policies in the Development Plan or at a 
national level that would restrict this type of development in this location.  Subject to 
several environmental and amenity considerations, both national and local policies are 
supportive of proposals for renewable energy generation and in my opinion the 
principle of the development is acceptable.  The environmental and amenity impacts 
are assessed in the relevant parts of the report below.   
 

 
6.12 

Loss of agricultural land  
As indicated by the PPG, Government policy is that large scale solar farms should be 
focused on previously developed and non-agricultural land.  However, as 
acknowledged by the OCC Position Statement for Major Development Proposals for 
Ground-mounted Solar PV Arrays “Oxfordshire is the most rural county in the South 
East; and applications may come forward on green field sites; these will need to be 
determined on a case by case basis.”    
 

6.13 The OCC Position Statement continues: “Where large scale solar PV farms are 
proposed on greenfield land, the developer should show that the use of agricultural 
land is necessary. Poorer quality land should be used in preference to higher quality 
land, and the Best and Most Versatile (BMV) agricultural land (grades 1, 2 and 3a) 
should be avoided. Where possible and viable, agricultural activity and other 
environmental/land management services should continue on the site.” 
 

6.14 Policy DES7 of the SOLP 2035 requires new development to make provision for the 
effective use and protection of natural resources through several means including, 
“avoiding the development of the best and most versatile agricultural land, unless it has 
been demonstrated to be the most sustainable choice from reasonable alternatives, by 
first using areas or poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher quality”  
 

6.15 The Agricultural Land Classification system classifies land into five grades numbered 1 
to 5, with grade 3 divided into two subgrades (3a and 3b). The majority of this 78 
hectare site is Grade 3b land (moderate quality), with a small section of Grade 3a land 
(good quality).  The good quality land covers 1 hectare (1.3%) of the site and it 
therefore follows that the land is farmed as a unit of Grade 3b land.  It is noted that the 
majority of the Grade 3a land is not within any of the Development Zones so will not 
have any development on it.   
 

6.16 The proposal will not therefore result in the loss of BMV agricultural land.  The 
application documents also indicate that the agricultural land use of the site would be 
retained as the land can be grazed once the proposed development is in operation.    
 

6.17 It is noted that the applicant has submitted an Alternative Sites Assessment in support 
of their application.  This considers whether there are any suitable alternative sites 
located on previously developed land that could be utilised and whether there are any 
potential alternative sites located on lower grade agricultural land that are in a location 
with good access to the grid.  This assessment adds further weight to the need to 
locate the development on Grade 3b agricultural land.   
   

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

6.18 Furthermore, the agricultural land will not be lost permanently as the applicant has 
sought planning permission for a period of 40 years to cover the lifespan of the 
equipment.  A condition is recommended to require the removal of the panels and 
associated equipment at the end of this period, and this will include a requirement to 
reinstate the land to its previous condition.  Subject to the imposition of this condition, I 
consider that in this case, it is acceptable to locate the proposed solar farm on this site, 
which is predominantly Grade 3b agricultural land.   
 

 
6.19 

Landscape and visual impact  
The application site does not fall within any areas of special landscape designation.  
The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) lies approximately 4.5km to 
the southeast of the site.  The council’s landscape officer is satisfied that the proposal 
would not impact either directly or indirectly on the AONB and there would be no 
adverse effect on its setting as a result of the development.   
 

6.20 Policy ENV1 of the SOLP 2035 is concerned with protecting South Oxfordshire’s 
landscape, countryside and rural areas against harmful developments.  It states that 
“Development will only be permitted where it protects and, where possible enhances, 
features that contribute to the nature and quality of South Oxfordshire’s landscapes”.    
Policy TET3 of the TNDP has similar aims and requires development proposals to 
preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the character sector in which the 
development is located.   
 

6.21 The application site is sizable and consists of several different fields of various shapes 
and sizes.  These fields are crossed by a relatively extensive Public Right of Way 
(PRoW) network that extends into the surrounding host landscape.  Although the site 
itself is mainly undeveloped, the adjacent M40 is an intrusive feature from parts of the 
site and impacts on its tranquillity.  The electricity pylons that extend across the site are 
also a visually intrusive feature.   
 

6.22 The proposal would introduce further man-made features into this generally 
undeveloped rural area.  The development would result in a long-term temporary 
change from open fields to a more industrial land use within the existing pattern of 
hedgerows.   
 

6.23 On reviewing the initial submission, the council’s landscape officer raised concern that 
the proposals would have an unacceptable adverse effect on the application site’s 
character and visual amenity and that this would adversely affect the wider landscape.  
Following these comments, the applicant amended the plans to reduce the landscape 
impact of the proposals.   
 

6.24 The amended plans removed a standalone section of panels to the east of the site and 
rationalised the access arrangements in this area.  The amendments also included the 
addition of a new hedgerow and tree planting around the proposed substation and 
hedgerow planting along the access track leading to Stoke Talmage Road.  The 
council’s landscape officer confirmed that he is “happy that the latest iteration of the 
proposed solar farm is an improvement over the original submission and is acceptable 
in attempting to mitigate the anticipated landscape and visual effects of the proposed 
development”.    
 

6.25 The package of landscape mitigation measures includes the creation of approximately 
4km of new native hedgerow planting, some of which create green corridors along the 
routes of PRoWs.  The enclosure of these sections of PRoWs will provide a different 
quality of landscape experience in those sections but would not significantly detract 
from the users’ overall enjoyment of the countryside.  Existing hedge lines will be 

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

retained and allowed to grow to at least 3m in height, so the height of most of the 
development would be in keeping with the vertical scale of existing features.  Gaps 
within hedge lines will be infilled, historic field boundaries will be reinstated and around 
55 new trees will be planted.   
 

6.26 Although the mitigation planting will be successful in reducing the impacts of the 
proposals, given the scale of the development, the extensive network of footpaths and 
the topography of the land, the proposals will still result in some adverse impacts on the 
character of the site and the surrounding landscape.  The Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment submitted with the application identifies that the proposal will result in a 
major-moderate effect on the immediate landscape character and a slight to negligible 
adverse effect on wider landscape character.   
 

6.27 Overall, the proposal would result in some harm to the landscape and this needs to be 
weighed against the benefits of the proposal.  On balance, I am of the opinion that the 
proposal would not cause “a significant adverse effect to landscape”, in accordance 
with Policy DES9 of the SOLP 2035.    
 

 
6.28 

Cumulative impact  
The ES submitted with the application includes an assessment of the cumulative effects 
of the proposed solar farm and other developments.  The cumulative impact 
assessment examines the potential cumulative effects of the proposal and a series of 
other proposed developments in the study area, on the existing landscape and visual 
baseline.  These developments include the recently permitted solar farm at land 
northwest of Stoke Talmage (P20/S3245/FUL), together with the proposed new 
settlement at Harrington (for which an EIA Scoping Opinion has been submitted but the 
site is not allocated), the allocated mixed-use development at Chalgrove Airfield (SOLP 
STRAT7), residential development of 39 units in Tetsworth (which is now built), and a 
proposed equestrian fitness and rehabilitation centre (formerly an application, refused 
May 2021). 

 
6.29 The council’s landscape officer has commented that “the cumulative impact 

assessment is felt to be superficial and it is not clear as to how the scale of effects on 
the landscape and visual baseline is drawn? In particular, the cumulative visual 
assessment is weak and the evidence for the conclusions is limited. No new 
viewpoints/photomontages are provided, and no systematic cumulative assessment is 
made of the existing representative viewpoints. Overall, the cumulative assessment is 
felt not to assist the findings of the main LVIA.” 

 
6.30 Although lacking in some respects, the submitted assessment does review the 

cumulative impact of the proposed solar farm and the solar farm that is permitted on 
land to the northwest of Stoke Talmage (P20/S3244/FUL), which at its closest point is 
around 400m to the west of the application site.  This accepts that “The introduction of 
two solar farms into a rural area of Oxfordshire will change the rural pastoral/arable 
mixed character of the local area to a partial industrial scale power generation.” But it 
also acknowledges that, once established, the planting mitigation for both sites would 
re-enforce landscape structure and reduce visibility to partial areas of the solar farms 
rather than the full extent of the proposals.    
 

6.31 In terms of landscape character, the assessment considers that the cumulative effect 
would not be significant adverse in the long term.  In terms of visual receptors, it adds 
that there are very few viewpoints where both solar farms would be visible because of 
the undulations in the landscape, the strong vegetation structure, and the proposed 
mitigation planting.   
 

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

6.32 Although not considered under the submitted assessment, I am satisfied that given the 
distance to the existing solar farm at Easington Farm, Chalgrove (3.8km) and the scale 
of this development, that there would be no cumulative impacts between this existing 
solar farm and the current proposal.   
 

 
6.33 

Ecology and trees  
The relevant policies in relation to ecology are ENV2, ENV3 and ENV4 of the SOLP 
2035 and policy TET8 of the TNDP.  Amongst other things, these policies seek to 
protect legally protected species through measures that avoid, mitigate or compensate 
for the adverse effects resulting from a development.  They also seek to ensure that 
existing green and blue infrastructure is preserved and enhanced, including providing 
net gains in biodiversity.   
 

6.34 The habitats on the application site are primarily improved grassland, but there are 
features of increased ecological value, such as ponds, tree lines, hedgerows, ditches, 
woodland and scrub.  Most of the linear habitat features on the site will be retained as 
part of the proposals and extensive hedge planting will also be provided.  The amended 
plans have secured a 20m buffer zone along the Haseley Brook.       

 
6.35 Within the local area there is a known meta-population of great crested newts (GCN), 

which are a protected species.  The site contains habitats that are suitable to support 
GCN and the proposal is likely to adversely impact on GCN.  Following the advice of 
the council’s countryside officer, the development has been entered into the GCN 
district licencing scheme to fund the creation and management of GCN habitat across 
the district.  Subject to conditions to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the council’s GCN licencing scheme, and that specific mitigation 
measures are followed, the development would provide suitable compensation / 
mitigation for the impact on GCN.      
 

6.36 The council’s countryside officer is satisfied that the impacts on other protected 
species, such as breeding birds, bats and badgers can be adequately mitigated through 
the use of sensitive working practices.  And subject to appropriate habitat creation and 
management, the proposal will also achieve a net gain in biodiversity.  These matters 
can be secured through conditions requiring the approval of and Landscape and 
Ecological Management Plan, a Construction Environmental Management Plan for 
Biodiversity and a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan.   
 

6.37 In relation to trees, policy ENV2 of the SOLP 2035 also seeks to protect ancient 
woodland and veteran trees.  And policy ENV1 requires development to protect, and 
where possible enhance features that contribute to the nature and quality of South 
Oxfordshire’s landscapes, including trees, hedgerows and field boundaries.   The 
council’s forestry officer raised concerns with the initial submission as the proposals 
would be within the buffer zone of a protected tree.  The amended plans have 
addressed this issue and, subject to a tree protection condition, the proposals would 
have an acceptable impact on trees.   

 
 
6.38 

Archaeology and historic environment  
Policy ENV9 of the SOLP 2035 advises that applicants will be expected to undertake 
an assessment of appropriate detail to determine whether the development site is 
known to, or is likely to, contain archaeological remains.  To comply with these 
requirements, the applicant has recently submitted the results of an on-going trial 
trench evaluation being conducted on the application site. 
 

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

6.39 The results of the trenched evaluation to date have identified the presence of below 
ground archaeological remains within the application site dating from the Iron Age to 
post-medieval periods, these primarily focused across, but not confined to, 
Development Zones six to nine, representing evidence of occupation and associated 
land use including burial remains.   
 

6.40 The County Council Archaeologist has confirmed that whilst these recorded 
archaeological remains are not considered to be of a significance that would preclude / 
constrain the proposed development, the development would result in impacts upon the 
recorded archaeological features and as such they will require further investigation and 
record in advance of development.  Subject to suitable conditions to secure these 
investigations, I consider that the proposal is in accordance with the above policy.   
 

6.41 In relation to above ground heritage assets, the application site surrounds the Grade II 
Listed Harlesford Farmhouse on three sides.  The TNDP recognises Harlesford House 
as a local heritage asset and the application site also wraps around this property.   
 

6.42 The council’s conservation officer has confirmed that there will be no direct impact on 
the historic fabric of Harlesford Farmhouse.  In relation to the setting of Harlesford 
Farmhouse the conservation officer commented that the extent of the solar 
development around the building will considerably erode the appreciation of the wider 
setting of the listed building being one of open fields.  The amended plans have 
reduced the impact by removing the area of panels to the northeast of the listed 
buildings.    
  

6.43 Although the amended plans have improved the impact on the setting of Harlesford 
Farmhouse, the proposal would still reduce the extent to which the listed building is 
understood as part of the historic open countryside and its former relationship to the 
agricultural character of the area. It is recognised that there will be some remaining 
open space surrounding the farm grouping and as such the impact is considered to 
result in less than substantial harm to the significance of the listed building.  
 

6.44 SOLP policy ENV7 requires development proposals that affect the setting of a listed 
building to respect any features of special interest, which includes its historic curtilage 
or context.  Where development results in less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a listed building, amongst other matters, proposals will be expected to:  

i) minimise harm and avoid adverse impacts, and provide justification for any 
adverse impacts, harm or loss of significance; 

ii) identify any demonstrable public benefits or exceptional circumstances in 
relation to the development proposed;  

 
6.45 As outlined in paragraph 199 of the NPPF, irrespective of whether the harm amounts to 

less than substantial harm, great weight should be given to an asset’s conservation and 
less than substantial harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal.  The delivery of a renewable energy project will have clear public benefits and 
in weighing these against the low level of harm to the setting of Harlesford Farmhouse, 
I am of the opinion that planning permission should be granted.  The removal of a 
section of the panels, and the provision of additional planting also has minimised the 
level of harm, in accordance with policy ENV7 of the SOLP.     
 

6.46 The NPPF, also requires the effect on the significance of non-designated heritage 
assets to be taken into account.  In terms of the impact on the non-designated 
Harlesford House, panels will be located on the parcel of land immediately to the west 
of this property, with equipment on other sides positioned some distance away.  There 
is a substantial landscape buffer between this property and the panels to the west, and 

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

additional planting is proposed.  Given these features, I am satisfied that the proposed 
development would not result in any harm to this local heritage asset, in accordance 
with policy TET5 of the TNDP.       
 
 

 
6.47 

Residential amenity 
Policy DES6 of the SOLP requires that development proposals demonstrate that they 
will not result in any adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses.  Most of the 
land surrounding the site is in agricultural use and the proposal would not result in any 
conflict with this use.   
 

6.48 There are five residential properties adjoining, or near the site.  Given the relationship 
between these neighbouring dwellings and the built development, the separation 
involved and the intervening boundary treatment, I do not consider that the proposals 
would result in any adverse impacts on amenity, in accordance with policy DES6.   
 

6.49 It is noted that the application is also accompanied by a glint and glare assessment.  
This concludes that the effects of glint and glare and their impacts on local receptors 
have been analysed in detail and the impacts are predicted to be “none” and as such, 
there would be “no significant effects.” 
 

 
6.50 

Access and parking 
Policy TRANS5 of the SOLP 2035 is the most relevant transport policy and, amongst 
other matters, this requires developments to provide a safe and convenient access.  
The site would be accessed via the Stoke Talmage Road.  Two accesses were initially 
proposed from this road, but the amended plans have reduced this to a single access. 
The County Council highways officer has reviewed the proposal and is satisfied that 
this access arrangement is suitable for the construction and operational phases of the 
development.        
 

6.51 Most vehicle trips associated with this development will take place during the 
construction phase, expected to take place over 16 weeks.  The County Council 
highways officer has considered the impact of these trips and has concluded that they 
would not result in development HGV traffic causing a severe impact to the local 
highway network.  The effective management of these trips during the limited 
construction phase can be achieved through a Construction Traffic Management Plan 
(CTMP), which is a recommended condition.   
 

6.52 During the operation of the development, the application documents identify that during 
normal circumstances, no more than four cars / vans would visit the site each week and 
only one HGV trip would occur per annum if a new or replacement item of equipment is 
bought to the site.  This number of trips generated when the development is operational 
will therefore be minimal and will have a negligible impact on the highway network.    
 

6.53 The County Council highways officer has not raised any concerns with the layout of the 
site.  The existing PRoWs that cross the site will need to be protected during 
construction, with measures put in place to protect users of the footpaths.  This can be 
included in the CTMP, along with details of wheel washing facilities.  Subject to this 
condition, I am satisfied that the proposal complies with policy TRANS5 of the SOLP 
2035.  
 

 
6.54 

Environmental matters (flooding, drainage and contamination)  
Policy EP4 of the SOLP 2035 considers flood risk and sets out drainage requirements 
for new developments.  Most of the site is within Flood Zone 1 which has the least 
probability of flooding.  There are areas at the south of the site around Haseley Brook 

Page 35



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

that are within Flood Zones 2 and 3 and no development will be located within these 
areas.  The council’s drainage officer and the County Council as Lead Local Flood 
Authority have no objection to the proposal subject to a condition requiring details of a 
sustainable drainage scheme.   
 

6.55 Policy ENV11 of the SOLP 2035 is concerned with contamination.  The council’s 
contaminated land officer has reviewed the scheme and has not raised any concerns.   
Based on the recommendations of the council’s specialist officers’ I consider that the 
proposal is acceptable in terms of flood risk, drainage, and contamination.   
 

 
6.56 

Other material planning considerations 
The UK Government has committed to meeting a legally binding target of net-zero 
carbon emissions by 2050.  The council has also declared a climate emergency with a 
target to be a carbon neutral district by 2030.  The proposed solar farm will help to meet 
national and local objectives for reducing carbon emissions and reducing reliance on 
fossil fuels.   

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 The development is EIA development for the purposes of the Town and Country 

Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.  The council has 
taken into account the Environmental Statement submitted with the application and 
representations made on it in determining the application.    
 

7.2 The environmental and technical reports that form part of the planning application 
submission demonstrate that there would be no unacceptable environmental impacts, 
and there are no technical objections to the proposal.   
 

7.3 There are a number of factors to balance in determining this application.  In terms of 
negative aspects, the proposed solar farm would result in the loss of agricultural land 
and there would be some adverse impacts on local landscape character and the visual 
amenity of the area.  There would also be cumulative impacts with the recently 
permitted solar farm to the west of the site (P20/S3244/FUL).  In addition, the proposal 
would result in less than substantial harm to the setting of a listed building and great 
weight should be attributed to this harm.  In terms of the benefits of the development, 
the proposal would generate renewable energy, contribute towards reducing carbon 
emissions, restore landscape structure, create habitat, and increase biodiversity.    
 

7.4 Having weighed up these factors, I am of the opinion the renewable energy benefits of 
the proposed development are substantial and in combination with the other benefits, 
outweigh the harm.  And when considered against the Development Plan as a whole, 
the proposal represents a sustainable form of development and there are no valid 
reasons to withhold planning permission.   

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 That planning permission for P20/S3245/FUL is granted subject to the following 

conditions: 
 

 Time limits and approved plans 
1. Commencement within three years  

2. Development in accordance with approved plans  

3. Temporary permission for a period of 40 years 

 

 

 

Page 36



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

Pre-commencement conditions 

4. Submission of final details of layout, design, and scale of equipment to be 

submitted for approval  

5. Details of hard and soft landscaping to be submitted for approval  

6. Landscape and Ecological Management Plan to be submitted for approval 

7. Tree protection to be submitted for approval 

8. Construction Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity to be 

submitted for approval 

9. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan to be submitted for approval 

10. Scheme for provision and management of buffer zone to watercourse to 

be submitted for approval 

11. Full archaeological field evaluation to be submitted for approval 

12. Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation to be submitted for 

approval 

13. Programme of archaeological mitigation to be submitted for approval 

14. Construction Traffic Management Plan to be submitted for approval 

(including wheel washing facilities) 

15. Sustainable drainage scheme to be submitted for approval 

 

Compliance conditions 

16. Development to be carried out in accordance with the council’s great 

crested newt licencing scheme 

17. Great crested newt mitigation to be provided 

18. Development to be carried out in accordance with Flood Risk Assessment 

19. No lighting to be installed 

20. Removal of panels if not used continuously for the production of energy 

for a period of six months 

 

End of development condition 

21. Decommissioning Method Statement to be submitted for approval and 

decommissioning to be carried out within 6 months of the expiry of the 40-

year planning permission and land returned to agricultural use 

 

 
Author:  Emma Bowerman 
Contact No: 01235 422600 
Email:  planning@southoxon.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 39

Agenda Item 8P20/S3245/FUL

SAV_EMMBOW
Typewriter
Appendix A



C
LO

SE

House

87.0m

14a

Shelter

32

60

HIGH STREET

Primary School

1

El

GAR
DEN

S

10

17a

Pond

2

15a

14

Skatepark

19

BAC
K

11

Harlesford

14

Th
e 

Cr
of

t

15c

Ignells

9a

3

4

FB

32

SS

3

10

Colum
bine

Sta

Farm

17

1a

Elderflow
er C

ottage

Goldpits

SS

16

26
14

1

Roy
al 

Oak
 C

ott
ag

e

Pond

Th
e O

rch
ard

Track

Drain

94

Def

8

93.9m

17c

VIEW

(Recn Gd)

5

96

Track

13

A 40

50

Pond

22

2b

12

18

7
13

Drain

Pond

25

2

11
2

84.2m

2

Mount Hill

2

20

83.1m

12

24

30

11

Drai
n

Tel Ex

34

54

6

1

SILV
ER

11a

76

10
8

The Green

OAK F
ARM C

LO
SE

Path (um
)

War MemlST
REE

T

2

9

Pavilion

Farm Bungalow

ELM CLOSE

19

Manor Farm

ETL

5

Tk S

20

80

79.3m

VICTORIA GARDENS

9

32

Hall

SS

6

4

7a

1b

84.5m
7

Pond

30

16

PAR
KER

S H
ILL

Def

SW
AN

Haseley Brook

El

11
0

Tr
ac

k

Drain

15

6

99.5m

16

ETL

79.1m

Track

29

JUDD'S LANE

Def

10

Track

17d

Pond

11
0a

Sub

ED Bdy

33

THE

Tetsworth

53

YEW

85.7m

Tk S

15

3

Dr
ai

n

MARSH

Oxhouse Farm

22
a

HIG
H STREET

MOUNT

26

87.3m

11

SS

18

St Giles's Church

21

Pond

Pond

52

6

3

7

12

45

5

95.2m

TR
EE

1

1

10
4

15b

9

Play Area

Sewage

87.8m

5

8

1

Pond

81.0m

Dr
ain

37

STREET

26

Tk
 S

28

2

59

88

19

Li
ttl

e 
Ac

re

SS

(PH)

Harlesford Farm

3

Tk
 S

Mast

11
0b

Dr
ain

11
6

Cottage

96.6m

11
4

MARSH END

9

9

3

TCB

4

66

2

Tk S

LB

12

SS

2

7

17

1

Underpass

30

CYGNET CLOSE

26

15

2

31

14

12

Drain

98.4m

CHILTERN

10

TetsworthSurgery

18

9

31

TH
E

Sub

Track

Red Lion

LB

Def

90.1m

16

42

Ppg Sta

83.4m

58d

Ponds

Pond

FB

12

19

72

6

D
ef

14

82.7m

38
b

9

Sta

ED Bdy

2

11

Ponds

4

78

22

Mount Hill Farm

FB

1

Tk
 S

20

82.3m

4

16

SO
CS

93.7m

12

4

36

1

2

3

Pond

11
8

HIGH STREET

Pump House

Tk S

28

Pond

83.1m

58
a

2a

M 40

17b

SS

LA
U

R
EL

S

M 40

15

22

7

38

M 40

28
a

3

Pond

Tr
ac

k

A 40

Harlesford Cottage

Def

20

7

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2019. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

De
f

76.9m

SS

SS

Def

Pond

Def

Haseley Brook

Tk S

SS

Def

Haseley Brook

Def

75.2m

74.5m

ED Bdy

Tk S

SS

Tk
 S

SS

SS

Tk
 S

Dr
ain

Tk S

SS

Drain

Def

FB

ED Bdy

D
ef

ED Bdy

Tk
 S

SO
CS

Tk S

SS

Def

EL
E

LV
 

EL
E

LV
 

EL
E

LV
 

EL
E

HV

EL
E

HV

ELE

HV

ELE

HV

ELE

HV

ELE

HV

ELE

HV

ELE

HV

ELE

HV

ELE

HV

ELE
HV

ELE
HV

ELE
HV

ELE
HV

ELE
HV

ELE
HV

ELE
HV

ELE
HV

ELE

HV

ELE

HV

ELE
H

V
ELE

H
V

ELE
H

V
ELE

H
V

ELE
H

V
ELE

H
V

ELE
H

V

EL
E

H
V

ELE
H

V
ELE

H
V

ELE
H

V

EL
E

HV

ELE
HV 132kV

ELE
HV 132kV

ELE
HV 132kV

ELE
HV 132kV

ELE
HV 132kV

ELE
HV 132kV

ELE
HV 132kV

ELE
HV 132kV

ELE
HV 132kV

ELE HV 132kV ELE HV 132kV ELE HV 132kV
ELE HV 132kV ELE HV 132kV ELE HV 132kV

ELE
HV 132kV

HV 132kV

3200

25
°

25
°

90
0

90
0

26
97

1052

1052

1052

1052

1052

1052

1052

1052

4253

26
97

4253

Revisions:
Inspected

LEGEND:

This drawing is the copyright of Low Carbon and must not be reproduced in whole or
in part or used in any manner without their written permission.

Scaled dimensions must not be taken from this drawing. All dimensions are to be confirmed on site prior to
commencement of work

A1

Revision Date Revision Notes Drawn

Drawing Number:

PLE-01

Drawn:
PL

Checked:

Revision:

LM 22.11.20
First Issued:

Project Code:

LCS020-
Sheet Size: Scale:

A.NA1

Drawing Title:

13 Berkeley Street, London W1J 8DU
Tel: +44(0)207 4090700

enquiries@lowcarbon.com         www.lowcarbon.com

05

LM01 22.11.20 First Issue PL

Project:

Status:

FOR PLANNING

Scale: 1:4000@A1
HARLESFORD FARM INDICATIVE SITE LAYOUT1

Scale: 1:50@A1
PV DETAIL2

INTERNAL SITE ACCESS

Harlesford Farm,
Thame,

OX9 7BX

EXISTING
VEGETATION

PLANNING APPLICATION BOUNDARY

DNO ACCESS

PERIMETER FENCELINE

CONSTRUCTION AND
MAINTENANCE  ACCESS

VEGETATION:

FOOTPATH

BRIDLEWAY

HV HVELE O/H HV ELEC CABLEELE HV HVELEELE

DNO SUBSTATION

CUSTOMER
SWITCHGEAR

SECURITY GATE

CCTV CAMERA

SOLAR SITE INFRASTRUCTURE:

SOLAR PANEL
MODULES

MEDIUM VOLTAGE
POWER STATION

METER KIOSK
DNO LV SUBSTATION

DNO LV SUBSTATION

LV LVELE O/H LV ELEC CABLEELE LV LVELEELE

Indicative Site Layout Plan
External

A

A BREAK TO BE CREATED IN HEDGE
FOR NEW TRACK

SITE  ACCESS

Scale: 1:500@A1
COMPOUND DETAIL3

EXISTING BREAK IN HEDGE TO BE
RETAINED AND WIDENEDB

B

B

B

B

PROPOSED ELECTRIC POINT
OF CONNECTION

3

INDICATIVE CULVERT
LOCATION

132 / 33 kV
TRANSFORMER
COMPOUND

DNO 132kV SUBSTATION

METER KIOSK

IL02 02.10.20 Updated to suit comments HN
IL03 04.12.20 Updated to suit comments PL
IL04 19.01.21 Updated to suit comments PL
IL05 27.01.21 Updated to suit comments PL

Page 40

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
1:500

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
1:4000

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
80m

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
160

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
240

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
1:50

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
3

SAV_EMMBOW_1
Typewriter
Appendix B 



New hedge to screen
footpath. Managed to
3m height.

New hedges to screen
backs of panels from
bridleway. Managed to
3m height.

Replacement of hedges
to break up panel area.
Managed to 3m height.

Replacement of hedges
to break up panel area.
Managed to 3m height.

Gap up existing hedge.
Managed to 3m height.

Tree planting along
motorway corridor to
increase screening

New hedges to screen
open panel edges and
footpath.  Managed to
3m height.

New hedging to screen
Oxfordshire Way.
Managed at 3m height.

Haseley Brook

Haseley Brook

Haseley Brook

Haseley Brook

New screen planting
along Haseley Brook

6m transformer unit
screened by new
perimeter hedge and tree
planting, and new hedge
along access track.

C
LO

SE

House

87.0m

Shelter

32

60

HIGH STREET

Primary School

1

El

GAR
DEN

S

10

17a

Pond

2

15a

Skatepark

19

BAC
K

11

Harlesford

14

15c

Ignells

9a

3

4

FB

SS

3

10

Colum
bine

Sta

Farm

17

1a

Elderflow
er C

ottage

Goldpits

SS

16

26
14

1

Roy
al 

Oak
 C

ott
ag

e

Pond

Th
e O

rch
ard

Track

94

Def

8

93.9m

17c

VIEW

(Recn Gd)

5

96

Track

A 40

50

Pond

22

2b

12

18

7
13

Drain

Pond

25

2

11
2

84.2m

2

Mount Hill

2

20

12

24

30

11

Drai
n

Tel Ex

34

54

6

1

SILV
ER

11a

76

10
8

The Green

OAK F
ARM C

LO
SE

Path (um
)

War MemlST
REE

T

9

Pavilion

Farm Bungalow

ELM CLOSE

19

Manor Farm

ETL

5

Tk S

20

80

79.3m

VICTORIA GARDENS

9

32

Hall

SS

6

4

7a

1b

84.5m

7

Pond

30

16

PAR
KER

S H
ILL

Def

SW
AN

Haseley Brook

El

11
0

Tr
ac

k

Drain

15

6

99.5m

16

ETL

79.1m

Track

29

Def

10

17d

Pond

11
0a

Sub

ED Bdy

33

THE

Tetsworth

53

YEW

85.7m

Tk S

15

3

D
ra

in

MARSH

Oxhouse Farm

22
a

HIG
H STREET

MOUNT

26

87.3m

11

SS

18

St Giles's Church

Pond

52

6

3

7

12

45

5

95.2m

TR
EE

1

1

10
4

15b

9

Play Area

Sewage

87.8m

5

8

1

Pond

81.0m

Dr
ain

37

STREET

26

Tk
 S

28

2

59

88

19

SS

(PH)

Harlesford Farm

3

Tk
 S

Mast

11
0b

Dr
ain

11
6

Cottage

96.6m

11
4

9

9

3

TCB

66

2

Tk S

LB

12

SS

2

7

17

1

Underpass

30

CYGNET CLOSE

26

15

2

31

14

Drain

98.4m

CHILTERN

10

TetsworthSurgery

18

9

TH
E

Sub

Track

Red Lion

LB

Def

90.1m

16

42

Ppg Sta

83.4m

58d

Ponds

Pond

FB

12

19

72

6

D
ef

14

38
b

9

Sta

ED Bdy

2

11

Ponds

4

78

22

Mount Hill Farm

FB

1

Tk
 S

20

82.3m

4

16

SO
CS

93.7m

12

4

36

1

2

3

Pond

11
8

Pump House

Tk S

28

Pond

83.1m

58
a

2a

M 40

17b

SS

LA
U

R
EL

S

M 40

15

7

38

M 40

28
a

3

Pond

Tr
ac

k

A 40

Harlesford Cottage

Def

20

7

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2019. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

De
f

SS

SS

Def

Def

Haseley Brook

Tk S

SS

Def

Haseley Brook

Def

74.5m

ED Bdy

Tk S

SS

SS

Tk
 S

SS

Tk
 S

Dr
ain

Tk S

SS

Drain

Def

FB

ED Bdy

D
ef

ED Bdy

Tk
 S

SO
CS

Tk S

SS

Def

TITLE: 
PROJECT:

LANDSCAPE SCIENCE CONSULTANCY LTD
The Old Barracks, Sandon Road

Grantham, Lincolnshire
NG31 9AS

01476 569600
e: admin@landscapescienceconsultancy.co.uk

www.landscapescienceconsultancy.com

JOB No Figure No Revision Drawing Size
SCALE: Do Not Scale 

A3
SOURCE: Reproduced under OS Licence AL100014007

Proposed native hedge planting

Proposed wildflower meadow or 
pasture

Existing tree and hedge screening

Solar panels

Proposed native hedge and tree 
planting 

DATE: 29/01/21
D45.19d 6.9 K

LANDSCAPING PROPOSALS
HARLESFORD SOLAR FARM 

SOFTWORKS: Specification Notes
For all drainage, signage and boundary treatments including fencing refer to 
Engineer's drawings. For existing levels refer to site survey and for proposed 
levels refer to Engineer's drawings.

GENERAL
Workmanship:
All landscape soft works are to be carried out in accordance with 
BS4428:1989 'Code of Practice for General Landscape Operations' and BS 
3936:1992 'Recommendations for Cultivations and Planting in the Advanced 
Nursery Stock category'. Works should be carried out at the appropriate 
season and only in appropriate weather conditions.

HEDGES
Planting Nursery Stock 
Carry out weed control as necessary. Where advised remove dead or 
diseased plants in hedge prior to new planting.

New and Gapped-Up Hedge Planting:
All transplants are to be planted in staggered rows every 50cms. Transplants 
inserted in slits. 
Plant each plant upright, carefully replacing backfill and heel well in. Add min 
2kg compost (well-rotted horse manure) to the surface around each shrub. 
Stake transplants with rabbit guards. Water to field capacity. Weed control is 
to be carried out by periodic herbicide spraying at intervals to be agreed with 
the Main Contractor. 

Species Mix:
Hawthorn (Crataegus monogyna)
Spindle (Euonymus europaeus)
Blackthorn (Prunus spinosa)
Field maple (Acer campestre)
Goat willow (Salix caprea)
Dogwood (Cornus sanguinea)

TREES
Planting Nursery Stock:
All stock to be feather standards 2.0 - 2.5m high.

Tree pits to be of dimensions sufficient to contain root ball with 5cm around 
for backfill material. Loosen base and mix excavated material with 2kg of 
manure. Excavate the pit bottoms with a slightly raised centre to spade 
depth. Scarify the pit sides. Place tree with roots spread throughout the pit 
with good side to the front.

Install single vertical stake on the windward side, close to the tree position, 
driven in at least 300mm into bottom of pit. Secure tree firmly but not rigidly 
to the stake within 25mm of the top of the stake with a tie. Prevent the tree 
from touching the stake using spacer blocks or cushions if required. Fasten 
the tie to the stake using galvanised nails to BS1202-1. Water to field 
capacity. Weed control is to be carried out by periodic herbicide spraying at 
intervals to be agreed with the Main Contractor. 

Species Mix:
Field maple (Acer campestre)
Wild cherry (Prunus avium)
Crab apple (Malus sylvestris)
Small-leaved lime (Tilia cordata)
Aspen (Populus tremula) 
Bird cherry (Prunus padus)
Rowan (Sorbus aucuparia)

GRASS AREAS
Grass areas will be developed over the site. 

Minor areas of arable ground prepared as seed beds by harrowing. 
Emorsgate EG27 to be surface sown at supplier recommendation rates and 
then rolled to firm in. Existing areas of pasture between panels to be 
scarified and oversown with Emorsgate EG27 at supplier recommendation 
rates and then rolled to firm in.

Weed suppressants to be used to promote wildflower growth. 

SOFTWORKS: Aftercare
The Biodiversity Management Plan shall include a 12 month maintenance 
period following practical completion. Allow for regular inspection visits, 
establishment and routine site inspection as specified BS 4428. In addition, 
allow for routine litter clearance from all planting areas.

Aftercare: Nursery Stock Planting
Allow for establishment works, to include weed control, attention to 
protection from animals, checking stakes and ties, formative pruning to 
achieve desired form, watering and replacement of failures.

All planting shall be carried out in the first planting season following the 
completion of the development, or in a programme agreed in writing by the 
Planning Authority. If any trees or plants are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased during the lifetime of the development they shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, 
unless the Planning Authority gives written approval to any variation.

P
age 41



P
age 42



P
age 43



P
age 44



P
age 45



P
age 46



P
age 47



C
LO

SE

House

87.0m

14a

Shelter

32

60

HIGH STREET

Primary School

1

El

GAR
DEN

S

10

17a

Pond

2

15a

14

Skatepark

19

BAC
K

11

Harlesford

14

15c

Ignells

9a

3

4

FB

SS

3

10

Colum
bine

Sta

Farm

17

1a

Elderflow
er C

ottage

Goldpits

SS

16

26
14

1

Roy
al 

Oak
 C

ott
ag

e

Pond

The
 O

rch
ard

Track

Drain

94

Def

8

93.9m

17c

VIEW

(Recn Gd)

5

96

Track

13

A 40

50

Pond

22

2b

12

18

7
13

Drain

Pond

25

2

11
2

84.2m

2

Mount Hill

2

20

12

24

30

11

Drai
n

Tel Ex

34

54

6

1

SILV
ER

11a

76

10
8

The Green

OAK F
ARM C

LO
SE

Path (um
)

War MemlST
REE

T

9

Pavilion

Farm Bungalow

ELM CLOSE

19

Manor Farm

ETL

5

Tk S

20

80

79.3m

VICTORIA GARDENS

9

32

Hall

SS

6

4

7a

1b

84.5m

7

Pond

30

16

PAR
KER

S H
ILL

Def

SW
AN

Haseley Brook

El

11
0

Tr
ac

k

Drain

15

6

99.5m

16

ETL

79.1m

Track

29

JUDD'S LANE

Def

10

Track

17d

Pond

11
0a

Sub

ED Bdy

33

THE

Tetsworth

53

YEW

85.7m

Tk S

15

3

D
ra

in

MARSH

Oxhouse Farm

22
a

HIG
H STREET

MOUNT

26

87.3m

11

SS

18

St Giles's Church

21

Pond

52

6

3

7

12

45

5

95.2m

TR
EE

1

1

10
4

15b

9

Play Area

Sewage

87.8m

5

8

1

Pond

81.0m

Dr
ain

37

STREET

26

Tk
 S

28

2

59

88

19

SS

(PH)

Harlesford Farm

3

Tk
 S

Mast

11
0b

Dr
ain

11
6

Cottage

96.6m

11
4

MARSH END

9

9

3

TCB

66

2

Tk S

LB

12

SS

2

7

17

1

Underpass

30

CYGNET CLOSE

26

15

2

31

14

12

Drain

98.4m

CHILTERN

10

TetsworthSurgery

18

9

TH
E

Sub

Track

Red Lion

LB

Def

90.1m

16

42

Ppg Sta

83.4m

58d

Ponds

Pond

FB

12

19

72

6

D
ef

14

82.7m

38
b

9

Sta

ED Bdy

2

11

Ponds

4

78

22

Mount Hill Farm

FB

1

Tk
 S

20

82.3m

4

16

SO
CS

93.7m

12

4

36

1

2

3

Pond

11
8

HIGH STREET

Pump House

Tk S

28

Pond

83.1m

58
a

2a

M 40

17b

SS

LA
U

R
EL

S

M 40

15

7

38

M 40

28
a

3
Pond

Tr
ac

k

A 40

Harlesford Cottage

Def

20

7
Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2019. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

De
f

SS

SS

Def

Haseley Brook

Tk S

SS

Def

Haseley Brook

Def

74.5m

ED Bdy

Tk S

SS

SS

Tk
 S

SS

Tk
 S

Dr
ain

Tk S

SS

Drain

Def

FB

ED Bdy

D
ef

ED Bdy

Tk
 S

SO
CS

Tk S

SS

Def

Revisions:
Inspected

LEGEND:

This drawing is the copyright of Low Carbon and must not be reproduced in whole or
in part or used in any manner without their written permission.

Scaled dimensions must not be taken from this drawing. All dimensions are to be confirmed on site prior to
commencement of work

A1

Revision Date Revision Notes Drawn

Drawing Number:

DZ-01

Drawn:
PL

Checked:

Revision:

IL 21.07.2020
First Issued:

Project Code:

LCS020-
Sheet Size: Scale:

1:3000A1

Drawing Title:

Harlesford Farm Development
Zone Plan

13 Berkeley Street, London W1J 8DU
Tel: +44(0)207 4090700

enquiries@lowcarbon.com         www.lowcarbon.com

08

IL01 21.07.20 First Issue PL

Project:

Status:

PLANNING

Harlesford Farm,
Thame,

OX9 7BX

PLANNING APLICATION BOUNDARY

Scale: 1:3000@A1
HARLESFORD FARM - DEVELOPMENT ZONE PLAN1

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 1

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 2

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 3

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 7

DEVELOPMENT ZONE

IL02 05.08.20 Updated to suit comments HN

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 8

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 6

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 9

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 10

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 11

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 12

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 4

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 5

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 13

IL03 10.08.20 Revised HN
IL04 28.08.20 Revised PL
IL05 02.10.20 Updated to suit comments HN

DEVELOPMENT
ZONE 14

IL06 11.12.20 Updated to suit comments PL
IL07 26.01.21 Updated to suit comments PL
IL08 27.01.21 Updated to suit comments PL

P
age 48

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
1:3000

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
60m

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
180

SAV_EMMBOW_2
Typewriter
Appendix C 



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P20/S4360/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 16.11.2020 
 PARISH NUNEHAM COURTENAY 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Sam Casey-Rerhaye 

Elizabeth Gillespie 
 APPLICANT Mr Simon Wheeler 
 SITE Land to South West of Cowley Substation, 

Nuneham Courtenay, OX44 9PA 
 PROPOSAL Installation of renewable led energy generating 

station comprising ground-mounted photovoltaic 
solar arrays and battery-based electricity storage 
containers together with substation, 
inverter/transformer stations, site accesses, internal 
access tracks, security measures, access gates, 
other ancillary infrastructure, landscaping and 
biodiversity enhancements. 

 OFFICER Nicola Smith 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted. This report explains how 

officers have reached this conclusion.  
 

1.2 The application is referred to the Planning Committee as the officer recommendation 
conflicts with the views of the Parish Councils in which the application site is located.  
The application site extends over three Parishes Nuneham Courtenay, Toot Baldon 
and Marsh Baldon. The application is also being referred so that Planning Committee 
can consider the cumulative impacts of solar farm proposals in the District. 
 

1.3 This 123-hectare site (excluding the grid connection route), which is shown on the OS 
extract attached as Appendix A, is located to the south of the Oxford Science Park 
and to the north of Nuneham Courtenay village. The site consists of 6 arable fields 
which are categorised variously as Grade 2 (very high quality), Grade 3a (high quality) 
and Grade 3b (moderate quality) agricultural land. Most of the land surrounding the 
site is also in agricultural use. 
 

1.4 The site is wholly located within the Oxford Green Belt. 
 

1.5  The site is crossed by two public rights of way, TOOFP14 crosses the site in an east – 
west direction between fields 5 and 6, and TOOFP03, forms part of the Oxford Green 
Belt Way running in a north – south direction along the edge of field 5 and through 
field 4, as shown on the OS extract below. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S4360/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

  
 

1.6 The site is considered to be within the setting of a number of heritage assets, 
including the Registered Park and Garden at Nuneham Courtenay, four Conservation 
Areas, numerous listed buildings and two Scheduled Monuments. Consideration 
should also be given to the City of Oxford’s protected views. 
 

1.7 The application proposes the construction and operation of a solar photovoltaic farm 
with battery storage and associated infrastructure. Cowley substation is located some 
500 metres to the north east of the application site, into which the proposed 
development would connect. The panels would generate up to 45 megawatts (MW) of 
power, enough to power approximately 11,700 homes.  Based on the scale and 
nature of the proposal, it is Environmental Impact Appraisal (EIA) development and 
the application is therefore accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES).     
 

1.8 Planning permission is sought to operate the plant for 40 years, after which it would 
be decommissioned and the land returned to its previous state.  The development 
includes the following equipment: 

- Solar photovoltaic (PV) panels, ground mounted onto a piled tracking sub 
structure; 

- 14 inverter/transformer stations distributed evenly across the solar farm 
- String combiner boxes to combine multiple strings of PV panels; 
- Approximately 20 battery storage containers measuring approximately 12m x 

2.4m and 2.9m in height; 
- Compacted crushed stone internal tracks; 
- 2.2m high security deer type fencing and gates to enclose the parameters of 

the site and allow sheep to graze securely; 
- Security and monitoring CCTV/infra-red cameras mounted on fence posts 

along the perimeter of the site; 
- Substation measuring approximately 12.5m x 5.5m and 4.2m in height 
- Underground and cable tray cabling to connect the panels, inverters and 

battery storage to the proposed on-site substation; 
- Underground cable connecting the on-site sub-station to Cowley Substation; 

 

Page 50



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

The solar panels would be laid out in rows with gaps of approximately 2-6 metres 
between each row, mounted on a tracking structure which is fixed into the ground by 
pile-driven posts, meaning no concrete is used. 
 

1.9 The Site plan showing field numbers, and the proposed, landscape masterplan are 
attached as Appendix A and B respectively. The application is also accompanied by 
several technical documents including the Environmental Statement (ES) and Glint 
and Glare assessment. The application is also accompanied by a Statement of 
Community Involvement which provides details of the pre-application public 
consultation undertaken with local communities. These supporting documents can be 
reviewed on the council’s website at the following link:  
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&R
EF=P20/S4360/FUL 
 

1.10 The application has been updated on several occasions during the planning 
application process, with additional information submitted in relation to heritage, 
ecology, landscape and archaeology. The application plans were also revised during 
the application process to increase the buffers to the public footpaths and to remove 
panels from field 6 due to its status as Grade 2 Agricultural land.     
 

1.11 The proposal uses relatively new tracking technology, which are described by the 
applicant as highly efficient, where the panels, aligned on a north-south row, track the 
movement of the sun throughout that course of the day. The panels would tilt from 
east facing in the morning to west facing in the afternoon, thereby maximising the 
amount of solar radiation they can absorb throughout the day. They are also bifacial, 
meaning they absorb light on both sides. As shown in the diagram below, which is 
taken from the submitted plans: 
  

 
 

1.12 The Design and Access Statement submitted in support of the application states “The 
panel technology also utilises high efficiency monocrystalline cells meaning fewer 
panels are required to be installed on the site to achieve the target capacity. The 
combination of high-efficiency bifacial panels and the tracking system increases the 
production of electricity from the site by 20- 25% compared to static, monofacial 
systems.” 

  
 

 

Page 51

https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P20/S4360/FUL
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P20/S4360/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 A summary of the latest responses received to the proposal is below.  A full copy of all 

the comments made including those in respect of previous iterations of the proposals 
can be seen online at: 
 

2.2 Parish Councils, local residents and interest groups: 
 

 Marsh Baldon and 
Toot Baldon Parish 
Councils 

Object 

 The application is contrary to national policy as the 
harm to the green belt outweighs the benefits 

 The application is contrary to local plan policies 

 The application is contrary to the Baldons 
Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Nuneham 
Courtenay Parish 
Council 

Object 

 Loss of countryside 

 Damage local amenity 

 Compromise the setting of Nuneham Courtenay 

 Unavoidable landscape harm 

 Adversely affect wildlife 

 Dominate the landscape 

 Unacceptable loss of Green Belt 

 Compromise the separation of the proposed Grenoble 
Road development and Nuneham Courtenay 
 

Sandford-on-
Thames Parish 
Council 

Object 

 Loss of open countryside and unacceptable landscape 
harm 

 Damage to local amenity, in particular from public rights 
of way 

 The land should be used for food production 

 Loss of Green Belt  
 

Garsington Parish 
Council 

No objections  

 Support the environmental management plan 
 

Neighbour 
representations 

A total of 50 comments were received in objection to the 
proposed development, 39 comments in relation to the original 
submission and a further 11 in response to the amendments to 
the scheme. The comments on planning matters are 
summarised as follows: 

 Impact on the openness of the Green Belt 

 The application conflicts with the policies in the recently 
adopted South Oxfordshire local plan 2035 for 
protecting the landscape and countryside and the policy 
for safeguarding the Green Belt. 

 Combined with the proposed Grenoble Road 
development this will drastically affect the Green Belt 
south of Oxford. 

 The Proposed Development is not a form of sustainable 
development. 

 It is twice the land size yet would produce the same 
amount of electricity as similar schemes covering half 

Page 52



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

the area currently under consideration by SODC s 
planning department. 

 The siting on the North slope makes this even more 
inefficient and this project will mean the extensive use of 
batteries, which will need replacement and disposal. 

 Adverse impact on biodiversity 

 Significant landscape and visual impact 

 The raised nature of the site will mean the visual 
amenity of the site will have a detrimental impact. 

 Potential noise impact of the tracker panels 

 There are many more suitable locations 

 Impact on the amenity of local residents 

 A wildlife corridor, recreational and visual amenity will 
be replaced by a noisy, sterile eyesore 

 This application is contrary to Green belt policy and will 
create an industrialized appearance whose footpaths 
will be unattractive to walkers.  

 Most energy demand is during the evening and winter 
months, when solar generation is at its lowest. The UK’s 
natural advantages are in wind and wave, not solar. 

 The special landscape character of the Baldons is 
clearly threatened by this proposal. 

 Contrary to the Baldons Neighbourhood Plan 

 Loss of agricultural land, some of the land proposed for 
the farm is of prime agricultural value. 

 The detrimental effects outweigh any environmental 
benefits 

 it is not credible that the site will be returned to its 
former use after decades of operation 

 Harm would be caused to the character and heritage 
assets of the neighbouring villages 

 The proposals do not illustrate the full extent of the 
effects of the solar farm on the views and character of 
the area 

 This proposal represents an industrial development and 
contravenes and conflicts with the policies in the 
recently adopted South Oxfordshire local plan. 

 There are no special circumstances that would justify 
this proposal 

 Nuneham Courtenay cannot cope with the extra traffic 
that this development will generate during and after the 
completion 

 Potential flooding risk 

 The choice of site appears to have been influenced by 
the proximity of the Cowley substation, but this is not 
enough to justify and outweigh the damage to the land, 
the Green Belt, and the environment. 

 The proposal would set a precedent for more 
development 

 There is no indication that the impact on the soil and its 
Carbon capturing capacity has been taken into account. 

 The footpaths would be enclosed by fences 

 Adverse impact on local heritage 

Page 53



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

 The proposed landscaping is unacceptable and 
inadequate 

 
3 comments have been received in support of the proposal; 
their comments are summarised as: 

 The Proposed Development represents a clear form of 
sustainable development, 

 South Oxfordshire District Council, have declared a 
Climate Emergency and this application proposes 
precisely the type of new energy infrastructure needed 
to help counter that very serious threat. 

 The solar farm would provide the equivalent annual 
electrical needs of approximately 13,000 family homes 
and displace circa 23,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide per 
annum. 

 The Proposed Development will provide significant 
biodiversity enhancements 

 This application has carefully designed mitigation 
measures to minimise landscape and visual impact 

 The field where the panels are proposed is screened 
from the road by a hedge; it is unlikely to be a significant 
eyesore. 
 

Oxford 
Preservation Trust 

Object 

 Whilst the principle of renewable led energy is strongly 
supported, this is not an appropriate site for a 
development of this nature 

 It is a prominent slope on the edge of Oxford and one 
which will be highly visible in the landscape surrounding 
the city 

 Loss of Green Belt 

 Impact on the Historic Landscape of Oxford 

 Impact on Residential Amenity 

 Further comments submitted in response to 
amendments re-iterate the above concerns and suggest 
the Council should have a strategy for solar farm 
development. 

 

Baldons Green 
Belt Group 

Object 

 Contrary to national, and local policies regarding 
renewable energy 

 conflicts with the policies in the recently adopted South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 for protecting the 
landscape and countryside and the policy for 
safeguarding the Green Belt. 

 it would have an extremely adverse impact on the 
historic setting of Oxford 

 It would be highly visible and intrusive to drivers on the 
A4074 

 Harm to the openness of the green belt 

 Serious adverse effect on the historic environment 

 Significant adverse effect on the residential amenity of 
the residents of the Baldons and Nuneham Courtenay, 
those that live in the existing Grenoble Road estate, and 

Page 54



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

of those that will, in the future, live in the planned new 
development at Grenoble Road 

 Block any visual openness from the planned new 
settlement [Grenoble Road] towards the villages of 
Nuneham Courtenay, Marsh Baldon and Toot Baldon.  

 It would effectively lead to a coalescence of settlements 
and a continuous swathe of development over Green 
Belt 

 A further response to the amendments re-iterates the 
previous concerns. 

CPRE Rights of 
Way) 

Object 

 Harm to the attractive hilly landscape with wide views, 
through which rights of way pass 

 Renewable energy can be achieved by systematically 
including PV systems in newly-built housing and 
industrial developments 

South Oxfordshire 
District of 
Campaign to 
Protect Rural 
England (CPRE)    

Object 

 CPRE Oxfordshire is opposed to solar farms in the 
countryside for the damage they do to the landscape 

 The proposed solar farm is unacceptable in principle, it 
is contrary to local & national planning policies and 
there are no exceptional circumstances to support its 
approval. 

 The development will result in a significant loss of open 
countryside, loss of amenity value and a visual intrusion 
within the Oxford Green Belt. 

 The development will result in an alien industrial 
intrusion into the presently open views of the attractive 
countryside from the A4074 & the Public Rights of Way 
(PRoWs). 

 The proposed industrial development is inappropriate in 
the countryside, it will have a significantly adverse effect 
on the landscape, is contrary to the first four purposes 
of the Green Belt and takes valuable agricultural land 
out of worthwhile production. 

 The development will increase the visual & actual 
expansion of the built form of Oxford into the Green Belt 
and towards the villages of the Baldons & the historic 
settlement of Nuneham Courtenay on top of the planned 
development of 3,000 houses at Grenoble Road 
 

Oxford Science 
Village  
Partners (Land at 
Grenoble Road) 

Object 

 Further evidence that the solar farm will not prejudice 
the delivery of the adjacent Strategic Allocation is 
required 

 Potential impacts on amenities of the Strategic 
Allocation, including its residents, users of the public 
open spaces that it will provide and also users of the 
public rights of way that will pass through it. 

 Further comments submitted in respect of the 
amendments re-iterate previous concerns and 
comments that: it does not adequately identify and 
assess the potential effects on the future development 
that will take place within the strategic allocation; the 

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

mitigation proposed by the addendum is undeliverable 
as it relies on land outside of the applicant’s control; and 
the proposed mitigation is not adequate to address the 
significant effects on the Strategic Allocation. 

Gardens Trust Object 

 the proposal will have a significant effect on the setting 
of the Grade I registered park. 

 

Georgian Group Object 

 adverse harm to the Registered Park and Garden, 
conservation area, several designated heritage assets 
and views to Oxford City. 

 
 

 
2.3 

 
Technical Consultees: 
 

Insight & Policy 
(Climate Action 
Lead Officer) 

Support 

 Achieving the national net zero carbon target will require 
the removal of virtually all fossil fuels from the energy 
mix. 

 It will become increasingly important that electricity is 
supplied from low and zero carbon sources including 
solar and wind energy. 

 There is a strong case for locating energy generation as 
close as possible to demand 

 To meet our Climate Emergency target of zero carbon 
by 2030 we need to reach South Oxfordshire s full 
potential for renewable energy infrastructure. 

Conservation 
Officer 

There would be a low level of harm to the significance of 
various heritage assets of high significance. Officers must be 
satisfied that the public benefits of the scheme clearly and 
demonstrably outweigh the harm to the heritage assets 
 

Historic England No objection 

 The development would cause minor losses of 
significance to some designated heritage assets. 
 

Countryside Officer No objection  

 subject to a condition requiring the submission of a 
Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP)  

 

Drainage Officer No objection  

 subject to a condition requiring the submission of a 
detailed sustainable drainage scheme 

 
 
 

Forestry Officer No objection  

 subject to a condition ensuring trees are protected 
during development 

 

Contaminated 
Land 

No objection 

Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

Landscape 
Architect 

No objection 

 Subject to conditions securing the landscape mitigation 
as proposed. 
 

Natural England No objection 

 Natural England considers that the proposed 
development will not have significant adverse impacts 
on protected landscapes or designated sites and has no 
objection. 

 

Environment 
Agency 

No objection  

 subject to condition requiring that development is 
carried out in accordance with the Flood Risk 
Assessment and the mitigation measures it details 

 

Oxford City 
Council (Planning) 

Objection 

 Concerns about the scale and location of the proposal 
in the Oxford Green Belt summarised as follows: 

 Impact of the proposal on the Green Belt 

 Size and scale of the proposal 

 Landscape impact 
 

Oxfordshire 
County Council 
Single Response  

Transport Development Control 
No objection 

 Subject to conditions requiring improvements to the 
access, visibility splay details and a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan (CTMP) 

 
Lead Local Flood Authority 
No objection 

 Subject to conditions set by the South and Vale 
Drainage team.  

 
Archaeology 
No objection 

 Subject to conditions requiring an archaeological 
watching brief and written scheme of investigation, and 
that no development is carried out in the mitigation area. 
 

 

  
3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P19/S3264/PEJ - Other Outcome (19/05/2020) 

The proposed development will comprise the following; construction and operation of a 
grid connected solar PV farm, with battery storage and other associated infrastructure. 
 
P20/S0562/FUL - Approved (13/05/2020) 
Installation of 33kV Underground Cable (as amended by plans received on 20 April 
2020) 
 
P20/S0002/PEJ - Other Outcome (12/02/2020) 
Proposed Temporary Installation of a Battery Storage and Peaking Gas Development 
 
 
 

Page 57

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S3264/PEJ
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S0562/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S0002/PEJ


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

P19/S0623/FUL - Approved (19/07/2019) 
Construction and operation of a 49.9MW battery storage facility, access road and hard 
surfacing; and a habitat management area on land to the South of the existing Cowley 
substation. As clarified by Applicant's email dated 3 April 2019 and as further clarified 
and amended by Botanical Report, Habitat Management Plan, Updated Net Gain 
Assessment accompanying Agent's letter dated 29 May 2019 and Agent's letter dated 
15 July 2019. 
 
P17/S4225/PEM - Other Outcome (08/01/2018) 
Installation of a battery-based energy storage facility (with maximum charge and 
discharge rate of up to 49.99mw) together with transformer, parking area, CCTC, 
landscaping, security fencing and associated infrastructure and equipment. 
 
P93/W0548/OH - Approved (17/11/1993) 
Erection of 33kV overhead electricity line 
 
P93/W0327/OH - Approved (18/08/1993) 
Erection of 33kv overhead line 
 
P62/M1209/OH - Other Outcome (12/04/1965) 
COWLEY - OXFORD 132 KV LINE 
 
P63/M0502 - Approved (22/08/1963) 
400/132 KV ELECTRICITY SUB-STATION WITH ACCESS 
 
P63/M0183 - Approved (15/05/1963) 
ESTABLISHMENT OF A 400/132 KV ELECTRICITY SUB-STATION AND 
CONSTRUCTION OF ACCESS  ROAD. 
 
P60/R1573/OH - Other Outcome (04/02/1960) 
OVERHEAD LINES IN THE PARISHES OF WARBOROUGH, DORCHESTER, 
DRAYTON ST.LEONARD, TOOT BALDON, STADHAMPTON, GARSINGTON, OXON 
AND BRIGHTWELL-CUM-SOTWELL AND MUNICIPAL BOROUGH OF 
WALLINGFORD. VOLTAGE 33,000 A.C. 
 
P59/M0426/OH - Other Outcome (04/02/1960) 
OVERHEAD LINES WARBOROUGH, DORCHESTER, DRAYTON ST. LEONARD, 
TOOT BALDON, STADHAMPTON, GARSINGTON, OXON AND BRIGHTWELL-CUM-
SOTWELL AND MUNICIPAL BOROUG H OF WALLINGFORD. VOLTAGE 33,000 A.C. 
 
P58/M0449/OH - Other Outcome (11/08/1958) 
OVERHEAD LINES SANDFORD-ON-THAMES VOLTAGE 11,000 A.C., AND 415/240 
A.C. 
 
P55/M0064/OH - Other Outcome (25/05/1955) 
OVERHEAD LINES IN THE PARISHES OF LITTLEMORE AND SANDFORD-ON-
THAMES. VOLTAGE 11, 000 A.C. AND 415/240 A.C. 
 
P53/M0060/OH - Other Outcome (08/05/1953) 
OVERHEAD LINES IN THE PARISH OF SANDFORD-ON-THAMES VOLTAGE 11,000 
A.C. AND 415/2 40 A.C. 
 
P52/M0072/OH - Other Outcome (15/01/1953) 
OVERHEAD LINES IN THE PARISHES OF GARSINGTON, DENTON AND LITTLE 
MILTON 

Page 58

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0623/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S4225/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P93/W0548/OH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P93/W0327/OH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P62/M1209/OH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P63/M0502
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P63/M0183
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P60/R1573/OH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P59/M0426/OH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P58/M0449/OH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P55/M0064/OH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P53/M0060/OH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P52/M0072/OH


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 Officers have considered the size and nature of the proposed development, the 

characteristics of the site and cumulative impacts.  Based on the likely environmental 
impacts of the development, the development is considered to be Environmental 
Impact Assessment (EIA) development for the purposes of the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.    
 

4.2 A positive Screening Opinion was issued on 29 July 2020, which confirmed that the 
proposals are EIA development.  An Environmental Statement (ES) has therefore 
been submitted with this planning application. The specific environmental topics 
scoped into the ES include landscape and visual impact, and cultural heritage.  
Officers have taken the ES into account.    

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

 In the case of South Oxfordshire, the Development Plan is the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2035, which was adopted in December 2020 and any “made” Neighbourhood 
Plans within the relevant geographical area. The Baldons has a made Neighbourhood 
Development Plan, the development is partially within the designated are of the made 
Neighbourhood Plan. Nuneham Courtenay does not have a made Neighbourhood Plan. 

  
5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
STRAT6 - Green Belt 
STRAT11 - Land south of Grenoble Road 
EMP10  -  Development in Rural Areas 
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside 
ENV2  -  Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
ENV4  -  Watercourses 
ENV5  -  Green Infrastructure in New Developments 
ENV6  -  Historic Environment 
ENV7  -  Listed Buildings 
ENV8 - Conservation Areas 
ENV9  -  Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments 
ENV10 - Historic Battlefields, Registered Parks and Gardens and Historic Landscapes 
ENV11 – Pollution – Impact from Existing / Previous Land Uses 
ENV12 - Pollution - Impact of Development on human health, the natural environment 
and/or local amenity 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources 
DES9  -  Renewable Energy 
TRANS4  -  Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan 
 Baldons Neighbourhood Plan 

Policy 1 - General principles 
Policy 3 - Local Gaps 
 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 

 Developer Contributions SPD  

Page 59



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 

5.5 Other Planning Guidance/Documents 
- National Policy Statement for Overarching Energy (EN-1)  
- National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-3)  
- National Policy Statement for Electricity Networks (EN-5) 
- UK Solar PV Strategy Part 1: Roadmap to a Brighter Future  
- UK Solar PV Strategy Part 2: Delivering a Brighter Future  
- Oxfordshire Energy Strategy 
- National Infrastructure Commission - Net Zero - Opportunities for the Power Sector 
- Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) Position Statement for Major Development 

Proposals for Ground-mounted Solar PV Arrays 
- BRE’s Planning Guidance for Large Scale Ground Mounted Solar PV Systems 
- The Solar Trade Association’s Solar Farm 10 Commitments  
 

5.6 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 

 Principle of development  

 Green Belt - very special circumstances 

 Landscape and visual impact  

 Impact on heritage assets  

 Ecology and trees  

 Loss of agricultural land  

 Residential amenity 

 Access and Transport 

 Environmental matters (flooding, drainage)  

 Cumulative impacts 

 Other material planning considerations 
 

 
6.2 

Principle of Development 
There is a strong national and international agenda to reduce CO2 emissions through 
the generation of energy from renewable sources. National planning policy on 
renewable energy development is set out in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) at paragraphs 152 - 158 and Planning Practice Guidance: Renewable and Low 
Carbon Energy (PPG). National guidance on proposals affecting the Green Belt is set 
out in the NPPF at paragraphs 147-151 and Planning Practice Guidance: Green Belt 
 

6.3 In respect of renewable energy the NPPF, at paragraph 152, sets out its support for 
renewable energy development.  It states that “The planning system should support the 
transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate,… It should help to:….support 
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.”   
 

6.4 The NPPF continues at para. 158, “When determining applications for renewable and 
low carbon development, local planning authorities should: 

Page 60



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low 
carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide a valuable 
contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and 

b) approve the application if the impacts are (or can be made) acceptable.  Once 
suitable areas for renewable or low carbon energy have been identified in plans, 
local planning authorities should expect subsequent applications for commercial 
scale projects outside of these areas to demonstrate that the proposed location 
meets the criteria used in identifying suitable areas.”  

 
6.5 The PPG explains that: “The National Planning Policy Framework explains that all 

communities have a responsibility to help increase the use and supply of green energy, 
but this does not mean that the need for renewable energy automatically overrides 
environmental protections and the planning concerns of local communities. As with 
other types of development, it is important that the planning concerns of local 
communities are properly heard in matters that directly affect them.” 
 

6.6 The PPG adds that “renewable energy developments should be acceptable for their 
location.” and that “The deployment of large-scale solar farms can have a negative 
impact on the rural environment, particularly in undulating landscapes. However, the 
visual impact of a well-planned and well-screened solar farm can be properly 
addressed within the landscape if planned sensitively. 
 

6.7 Recently, national policy has been updated by the Government in 'The Ten Point Plan 
for a Green Industrial Revolution' (November 2020), and in the 'National Infrastructure 
Strategy' (November 2020), and in the Energy White Paper (December 2020). Most 
recently, on 19th October 2021, the Government published its policy paper Net Zero 
Strategy: Building Back Greener, which addresses power generation in chapter 3i, 
specifically mentioning solar power as a priority in the second of its points under the title 
“Our Key Commitment.” 
 

6.8 In short national guidance provides positive encouragement for renewable energy 
projects, stating that the planning system should support the transition to a low carbon 
future and should support renewable and low carbon energy and associated 
infrastructure. When determining applications for renewable and low carbon 
development local planning authorities should approve such applications if its impacts 
are or can be made acceptable. In principle, therefore, there is policy support for 
development of this nature. However, the overall acceptability of development is 
dependent on other material considerations, including the principle of the development 
in the Green Belt. 
 

6.9 In respect of Green Belt, the NPPF states at paragraph 137 “The government attaches 
great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to 
prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics 
of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence.” Paragraph 138 of the NPPF 
sets out the five purposes of the Green Belt:  
 
(a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
 
(b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 
 
(c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
 
(d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
 

Page 61



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

(e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 
urban land. 
 

6.10 The NPPF addresses the appropriateness of locating renewable energy developments 
in the Green Belt at paragraph 151, which states: “When located in the Green Belt, 
elements of many renewable energy projects will comprise inappropriate development. 
In such cases developers will need to demonstrate very special circumstances if 
projects are to proceed. Such very special circumstances may include the wider 
environmental benefits associated with increased production of energy from renewable 
sources.” 
 

6.11 In terms of local policy, the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP 2035) does not 
identify suitable areas or specific sites for renewable or low carbon energy projects.  
Policy DES9 of the SOLP 2035 is concerned with renewable and low carbon energy 
and states: “The council encourages schemes for renewable and low carbon energy 
generation and associated infrastructure at all scales including domestic schemes.  It 
also encourages the incorporation of renewable and low carbon energy applications 
within all development.  Planning applications for renewable and low carbon energy 
generation will be supported, provided that they do not cause a significant adverse 
effect to: 

i) landscape, both designated AONB and locally valued, biodiversity, including 
protected habitats and species and Conservation Target Areas;  

ii) the historic environment, both designated and non-designated assets, 
including development within their setting; 

iii) openness of the Green Belt; 
iv) the safe movement of traffic or pedestrians; or 
v) residential amenity.  

 
6.12 Policy STRAT6 of the SOLP 2035 follows national policy in relation to Green Belt, 

stating: “To ensure the Green Belt continues to serve its key functions, it will be 
protected from harmful development. Within its boundaries, development will be 
restricted to those limited types of development which are deemed appropriate by the 
NPPF, unless very special circumstances can be demonstrated. Very special 
circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations.” 
 

 
6.13 

Green Belt - very special circumstances 
Due to the size and nature of the development officers consider that the proposal is 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. National and local policy is clear, 
therefore, that for this application to be successful, there must exist very special 
circumstances to justify the use of Green Belt land for this proposal. In particular SOLP 
2035 Policy DES9 supports proposals which do not cause significant adverse effects to 
the openness of the Green Belt.    
 

6.14 The NPPF states at paragraph 148 “When considering any planning application, local 
planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the 
Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the 
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the 
proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.” Very special circumstances is 
therefore the outcome of the planning balance exercise where the harms are clearly 
outweighed by the benefits.  
 

6.15 In the case of solar farm development and other renewable energy proposals, the 
NPPF guides Local Planning Authorities by the statement in paragraph 151 “Such very 

Page 62



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

special circumstances may include the wider environmental benefits associated with 
increased production of energy from renewable sources”.  It is therefore necessary to 
look at the openness of the Green Belt and establish if there would be harm arising 
from the proposal, and then balance that against the wider environmental benefits, 
thereby concluding if very special circumstances exist or not. Further impacts of the 
development are explored in subsequent sections.  
 

 
6.16 

Openness of the Green Belt 
The concept of openness is related to the underlying aim of Green Belt policy “to 
prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open...”  and to the purposes of the 
Green Belt, particularly (a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; (b) 
to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; and (c) to assist in 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;. It is not necessarily a statement 
about the visual qualities of the land, although that may also be considered, it is also 
not necessarily reliant on the site being visible from public vantage points as 
development on an enclosed site could also be considered to harm openness. 
 

6.17 At present the site consists of six arable fields as part of a functioning farm landscape, 
aside from the Nineveh Farm complex (central to the site but outside the application 
site area) there are no buildings that currently exist on the site. The site is not located 
adjacent to any residential properties, except the main Nineveh farmhouse and two 
cottages. The tree line at the highest part of the site separates fields 5 and 6 from fields 
1-4 to the north, the site is generally enclosed from wider views. At present the site is 
considered to be open and contributing to the aims of the Green Belt.   
 

6.18 The National Planning Policy Guidance includes guidance on what factors can be taken 
into account when considering the potential impact of development on the openness of 
the Green Belt: “Assessing the impact of a proposal on the openness of the Green Belt, 
where it is relevant to do so, requires a judgment based on the circumstances of the 
case. By way of example, the courts have identified a number of matters which may 
need to be taken into account in making this assessment. These include, but are not 
limited to:  
-  openness is capable of having both spatial and visual aspects – in other words, 

the visual impact of the proposal may be relevant, as could its volume;  
- the duration of the development, and its remediability – taking into account any 

provisions to return land to its original state or to an equivalent (or improved) state 
of openness; and  

- the degree of activity likely to be generated, such as traffic generation.” 
 

6.19 With regard to visual impacts, these are explored in detail in paragraphs 6.28-6.34 
below, however, the site’s visual connection to the wider landscape is limited by the 
extensive tree planning on the boundaries, which is proposed to be retained and 
enhanced by the scheme. In particular, the rising ground in the centre of the site (where 
no panels are proposed), and the established woodland that is situated on the ridgeline 
provide a degree of visual containment. However, two rights of way pass through the 
development site, including a National Trail (Oxford Green Belt Way), and the proposal 
would have a significant visual impact from these public vantage points. As set out in 
paragraph 6.15 above, a site does not have to be visible from a public vantage point for 
development to have an impact on openness. 
 

6.20 With regard to the second point of the PPG guidance in paragraph 6.16 above, the 
application is for a 40 year operational period and the proposal is to revert the land 
back to agricultural use after that time. A condition can secure this, and some weight is 
given to this factor. 
 

Page 63



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

6.21 The third point of the PPG guidance quoted above factors in the degree of activity 
resulting from the proposed development. A solar farm, once constructed, requires little 
maintenance and the traffic and activity generated during the operational phase is 
minimal.  
 

6.22 In relation to the purposes of the Green Belt, paragraph 137 of the NPPF states that 
the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open and that the most important attribute of Green Belts is their 
openness and permanence. Whilst the proposal here is low to the ground within a well 
screened and visually contained site officers consider that this built development would 
have an impact upon the openness of the Oxford Green Belt albeit for a long term 
temporary period.  
 

6.23 The connection of a proposed electricity generation plant to the electricity network is an 
important consideration for applicants wanting to construct or extend generation plant. 
In terms of site selection, Officers accept that a difficult balance has to be struck 
between finding sites of sufficient size with good grid connection, with acceptable 
landscape, residential amenity, ecology, hydrology or heritage impacts. The point of 
connection is a significant a driver for site selection and contributing towards very 
special circumstances discussed below. Paragraph 006 of the NPPG advises that 
‘Examples of considerations for particular renewable energy technologies that can 
affect their siting include proximity of grid connection infrastructure and site size.’  
 

6.24 The site has been chosen following a selection procedure undertaken by the applicant. 
It is accepted that proximity to the grid/power lines is critical and that there is capacity at 
the nearby Cowley Substation. In South Oxfordshire much of the opportunity for 
renewable energy in proximity to the Cowley Substation lies within the Green Belt.  
 

6.25 Wider environmental benefits 
In 2019 the UK Parliament declared a national climate emergency as did several local 
authorities including South Oxfordshire (in February 2019). By producing enough power 
to supply the demand of 13,000 family homes and offset the production of 23,000 
tonnes of CO2 per annum, this proposal would clearly play a part in achieving emission 
targets at a local and national level. The benefits of this to the environment and the 
contribution this will make to the reduction of emission is clear. This is given 
considerable positive weight by Officers as a “very special circumstance”. 
 

6.26 Solar farms are one of the most established renewable electricity technologies in the 
UK and the cheapest form of electricity generation worldwide. Solar farms can be built 
quickly and, coupled with consistent reductions in the cost of materials and 
improvements in the efficiency of panels. The government has committed to sustained 
growth in solar capacity to ensure that the UK is on a pathway that allows us to meet 
net zero emissions. As such solar is a key part of the government’s strategy for low-
cost decarbonisation of the energy sector (as set out in Draft National Policy statement 
EN-3). 
 

6.27 The use of the battery storage facility is considered to reinforce the power generation 
capacity of the solar farm. Energy will be stored at times of low demand and released 
when there is higher demand or when there is less power being produced in cloudy 
conditions. The tracker, bifacial panels also produce 20-25% more energy than 
standard panels. This is given some weight. 
 

 
6.28 

Landscape and Visual Impact 
The proposed site is located within the Nuneham Courtney Ridge landscape character 
(LCA) area and within the Open Farmland Hills and Valley landscape character type 

Page 64



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

(LCT). Although overhead transmission lines are present, the site and surrounding 
landscape are primarily rural and agricultural in nature and have a value for recreational 
activities as demonstrated by the presence of several public rights of way. 
 

6.29 The application is supported by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) as 
part of the larger ES. The LVIA acknowledges that within the site there would be a 
potentially significant effect from those public rights of way passing through the site. 
The LVIA assesses that there would be no significant visual effects outside the 
boundaries of the site. This conclusion is not challenged by the Council’s Landscape 
Officer. With the exception of field 4, the site is well screened from the surrounding area 
and views from surrounding public vantage points are limited to glimpses.  
 

6.30 As described above, the site is crossed by two public rights of way. Footpath NUNFP07 
originates at the A4074 and passes along the edge of the site at field 1, adjacent to the 
proposed skylark mitigation area, which is shown as tussocky grassland, in this location 
there is approximately 62 metres between the footpath and the fence line surrounding 
panels. This footpath continues through the Nineveh Farm complex, outside the site 
area. Where this footpath becomes TOOF14 it passes to the north of the retained 
farmland (field 6) and to the south of field 5, containing panels. The panels are 
proposed on the north side of the field boundary, thereby providing an offset from the 
footpath to the panels, varying from 21 metres to over 100 metres. The experience of 
travelling this footpath will be altered by the proposed development, but not 
detrimentally so due to the large landscape offset areas between the footpath and 
panel areas. 
 

6.31 Footpath TOOF03 forms part of the Oxford Greenbelt Way National Trail and enters the 
site at the south close to the junction with footpath TOOF14 continuing northwards 
along the edge of field 5, with panels on one side, up to the wooded ridge and 
descending into field 4, passing through panels on either side. A corridor of 25-30 
metres, described on the application plans as “Toot Baldon wildflower avenue” passes 
between panels on either side of the footpath.  
 

6.32 At present the field is very flat and open with clear views in a northerly direction to 
Cowley substation and the southern edge of Oxford. Clearly the development of the 
field as a solar farm will change the experience of travelling along this footpath, 
however, the applicant has carefully considered how to create a suitable corridor for 
this national trail through the panels and has proposed a variety of planting including 
native species and wildflowers to the satisfaction of the Landscape Officer. The details 
of planting species and density throughout the site are secured by condition. 
 

6.33 Concerns were raised by the Landscape Officer regarding the massing of the solar 
panels and further planting was requested along the field boundaries to break up the 
massing of the panels. Throughout the application process various revisions were 
submitted to overcome the concerns of the Landscape Officer these included: 
- the widening of the green corridor containing the Oxford Greenbelt Way within 

fields 5 and 6; 
- increasing the offset from the watercourse between fields 2 and 3, and increasing 

planting along this corridor; 
- increasing the planting along the northern boundary; 
- providing more information about planting proposals. 
The Landscape Officer has confirmed that the revisions and additional information 
submitted as part of the application are acceptable subject to conditions 
 

6.34 The landscape proposals are shown on the plan at Appendix B. The proposals for 
landscape enhancement largely consist of field boundary hedgerow enhancements, 

Page 65



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

particularly on the northern, eastern and western edges of the site, as well as tree belt 
planting alongside the watercourses and habitat creation within the site. Native species 
are proposed with reference to the local area. This landscape screening will further 
reduce the long-distance views of the solar farm. 

  
 
6.35 

Impact on Heritage Assets 
As set out in the introductory paragraphs above, the site is surrounded by a large 
number of heritage assets, including the following: 
- Nuneham Park Registered park and garden 
- Conservation areas at Garsington, Toot Baldon, Marsh Baldon and the Nuneham 

Courtenay Estate 
- Scheduled Monuments at Lower Farm, and the Carfax Conduit (within Nuneham 

Park) 
- Listed buildings including 1 x Grade I, 5 x Grade II* and the village of Nuneham 

Courtenay 
 
The relationship of the site (shaded blue) to these assets is shown on the plan below, 
where the conservation areas are hatched red, Nuneham Park in green, scheduled 
monuments in purple and listed buildings in yellow: 
 

  

  
6.36 NPPF Paragraph 198 states that when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 

6.37 Both the applicant and the Conservation Officer agree that the significance of the 
heritage assets affected in this instance are high and therefore the LPA must give an 
accordingly high level of weight to protecting the heritage assets from harm in their 
decision-making process. Following a site visit, the Conservation Officer has agreed 

Page 66



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

that there would be no impact on views from Carfax Conduit, Nuneham House (Grade 
II*) or the Temple of Flora (Grade II) due to the topography and tree screening. 
 

6.38 It is agreed that part of Field 2 of the proposed development would be visible from Old 
Saints Church (within Nuneham Park) which is a grade II* listed building. This building 
has a north facing portico from which there are designed views across the parkland, 
pastoral landscape and distant Oxford. The view is expansive and contains modern 
infrastructure such as tall electricity pylons already, the proposed development would 
be seen in a very small area of this overall view, but like the pylons, would represent a 
further modern intrusion into what is otherwise an unspoilt pastoral scene. There would 
be a very low level of harm to the significance of the grade II* listed Old Saints Church  
 

6.39  In terms of the Conservation Areas, the effects on the Garsington, Toot Baldon and 
Marsh Baldon Conservation Areas would be minor, affecting views from footpaths 
within the Toot and Marsh Baldon Conservation Areas only to a minor extent.  
 

6.40 The Gardens Trust has raised concerns over the effect on the approach from Oxford to 
the village of Nuneham Courtenay. It is currently unspoilt open countryside from which 
built form and modern intrusions are not appreciable, which would be altered by the 
proposed development. It is considered that there would be a negative impact on the 
setting and significance of the conservation area. However, the Conservation Officer 
considers that this is a lesser part of the significance of the conservation area of 
Nuneham Courtenay village and therefore the harm would sit at the lower level of the 
scale of less than substantial harm to significance. Historic England, however, state in 
their response that “the concealed position of the village, not seen from Oxford, would 
not be undermined. The rural setting of the village would also largely remain intact and 
the appreciation of its rurality and separation from Oxford would remain appreciable.” 
 

6.41 Nuneham Park is a Grade I registered park and garden and is a historic designed 
landscape by a variety of garden designers including Lancelot ‘Capability’ Brown. The 
Park contains Nuneham House (Grade II* listed) as well as a variety of other listed 
structures and buildings. The buildings within the park, and the parkland landscape 
itself, are experienced only within the park with the exception of the gates to the 
Arboretum. Views out from the park contribute to its significance as it was designed to 
take advantage of its elevated position to enjoy views west over the River Thames and 
the countryside beyond as well as north towards Oxford. Both the Gardens Trust and 
the Georgian Group have objected to the application on the basis that the proposal 
would adversely affect the setting of the Park and the listed structures, expressing the 
opinion that the proposal would cause a high level of harm to the park and its setting as 
well as the setting of Nuneham House and the Carfax Conduit. However, the Council’s 
Conservation Officer and Historic England take a different view, that there would be a 
very low level of harm to the significance of the park 
 

6.42 In terms of Archaeology, the site is located in and area of considerable archaeological 
interest. During the application process an archaeological investigation was undertaken 
and the results submitted to the County Archaeologist. The archaeological evaluation 
further clarified the date, extent and significance of a focus of Roman settlement and 
associated occupation activity that was recorded by prior geophysical survey within the 
central area of the application site. Beyond this settlement the evaluation has revealed 
little further archaeological activity, other than relating to earlier cultivation, across much 
of the remaining areas of the site. The County Archaeologist is content that the area 
identified as archaeological mitigation is sufficient to preserve the archaeological 
interest on the site and recommends three conditions. 
 

Page 67



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

6.43 Concerns have been raised by some objectors that the Historic core of Oxford would be 
adversely affected by the proposals. The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
included in the ES confirms that the Proposed Development is not visible from the 
Historic Core. The Historic Core is located outside of the 1 km range of the Glint and 
Glare assessment and no glint or glare impacts on the Historic Core are predicted. 
 

6.44 Overall, and considering all the heritage assets that may be affected by the proposal, 
the Conservation Officer concludes that there would be a low level of harm to the 
significance of various heritage assets of high significance. Paragraph 202 of the NPPF 
therefore applies “where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm 
to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against 
the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 
viable use.” 
 

6.45 The public benefits of the scheme are examined in paragraphs 6.25-6.27 of this report 
and the Planning Balance section at 6.70-6.73 weighs those benefits against the less 
than substantial harm identified. 
 

 
6.46 

Ecology and Trees 
The predominant habitat on the application site at present is arable land, which is 
subject to regular cultivation and consequently of a lower ecological value. Habitats of 
greater ecological value are mostly retained, and the proposed development includes 
significant areas of habitat creation. No trees are proposed to be felled, however 
approximately 40 metres of hedgerow is shown as being removed. Compensatory 
hedgerow planting is proposed within the site. 
 

6.47 Ecological surveys and assessment have concluded that the proposed development 
will likely have impacts on badger, skylark and yellowhammer which require some 
degree of mitigation or compensation as detailed in the submitted Landscape and 
Ecological Management Plan. 
 

6.48 The relevant SOLP 2035 policies in relation to ecology are ENV2 and ENV3 these 
policies seek to protect legally protected species through measures that avoid, mitigate 
or compensate for the adverse effects resulting from a development.  They also seek to 
conserve, restore and enhance biodiversity and to provide new biodiversity features. 
The submitted biodiversity information indicates that a net gain of biodiversity (38.99%) 
will be achieved as a result of the proposed development. Officers are content that the 
requirements of the above policies are met. 
 

6.49 In relation to trees, policy ENV2 of the SOLP 2035 also seeks to protect ancient 
woodland and veteran trees.  And ENV1 requires development to protect, and where 
possible enhance policy features that contribute to the nature and quality of South 
Oxfordshire’s landscapes, including trees, hedgerows and field boundaries.  There are 
no trees on site that are subject to a Tree Preservation Order. The council’s forestry 
officer has no objection to the development.  As such, subject to a condition to secure 
appropriate tree protection during construction, Officers are satisfied that the proposal 
accords with the relevant policies.   
 

 
6.50 

Loss of agricultural land 
As indicated by the PPG, Government policy is that large scale solar farms should be 
focused on previously developed and non-agricultural land. However, as acknowledged 
by the OCC Position Statement for Major Development Proposals for Ground-mounted 
Solar PV Arrays “Oxfordshire is the most rural county in the South East; and 
applications may come forward on green field sites; these will need to be determined on 
a case by case basis.”    

Page 68



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

6.51 The OCC Position Statement continues: “Where large scale solar PV farms are 
proposed on greenfield land, the developer should show that the use of agricultural 
land is necessary. Poorer quality land should be used in preference to higher quality 
land, and the Best and Most Versatile (BMV) agricultural land (grades 1, 2 and 3a) 
should be avoided. Where possible and viable, agricultural activity and other 
environmental/land management services should continue on the site.” 
 

6.52 Policy DES7 of the SOLP 2035 requires new development to make provision for the 
effective use and protection of natural resources through several means including, 
“avoiding the development of the best and most versatile agricultural land, unless it has 
been demonstrated to be the most sustainable choice from reasonable alternatives, by 
first using areas or poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher quality”  
 

6.53 The application site is part of a wider farm estate comprising a total of 808 hectares 
over three holdings. The estate predominantly produces cereals, leguminous crops and 
oilseeds in rotation. The estate also manages a herd of approximately 350 red deer. 
The application site represents approximately 51% of the holding at Nineveh Farm and 
15% of the whole estate. 
 

6.54 The Agricultural Land Classification system classifies land into five grades numbered 1 
to 5, with grade 3 divided into two subgrades (3a and 3b). Best and most versatile 
(BMV) agricultural land is considered to be land in grades 1, 2 and 3a. The proposed 
solar farm is located on land that is variously classified as Grade 2, Grade 3a and 
Grade 3b agricultural land. The Planning Statement and Chapter 9 of the 
Environmental Statement (ES) for the application identifies that the site is comprised of 
16% Grade 2 land (19.7ha) 8% Grade 3a (10.3ha) and 70% Grade 3b (85.8ha). During 
the application process revised plans were submitted to remove panels from field 6, 
which is identified as being Grade 2 land. This reduces the amount of Grade 2 land 
covered by panels to 0.6 ha, contained as part of field 5.  
 

6.55 The following map shows the ALC grades of the whole site: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The majority of the Grade 2 land has been removed from the area covered by panels. 
The small amount of grade 2 land remaining within the site to be covered by panels is 
considered acceptable as it forms part of a wider field and comprises a very small 
amount of BMV land. In total therefore, the development would utilise 10.9 ha of BMV 
agricultural land.  

  

Page 69



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

6.56 The proposed development would involve taking arable land out of intensive 
agricultural production and replanting the land with grassland for grazing sheep during 
the construction and operational phase, i.e for a period of 40 years. After the 
operational phase the land would be cultivated and returned to agricultural production 
by the estate. Whilst removing land from agricultural use could be a concern for food 
security reasons it should also be noted that soil can be degraded through intensive 
farming, and the proposal would allow a fallow period in which to recover, also allowing 
for a greater biodiversity on the site. Moreover the removal of the land from production 
is temporary, albeit 40 years, and reversable at the end of that time. 
 

6.57 Latest advice from the Government, (National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy 
Infrastructure (EN-3) 2021) reiterates that “ground mounted solar PV projects should 
utilise previously developed land, brownfield land, contaminated land, industrial land, or 
agricultural land preferably of classification 3b, 4, and 5 (avoiding the use of “Best and 
Most Versatile” cropland where possible) However, land type should not be a  
predominating factor in determining the suitability of the site location.” The use of a 
small area of BMV is factored into the planning balance as described in paragraphs 
6.70-6.73. 
 

 
6.58 

Residential Amenity 
Policy DES6 of the SOLP requires that development proposals demonstrate that they 
will not result in any adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses. In the case 
of this application, most of the land surrounding the site is in agricultural use and the 
proposal would not result in any conflict with this use. The Nineveh Farm complex is 
located close to the application site but is well screened and separated from fields with 
panels in and would not be adversely affected by the proposals. Other nearby 
properties are located at New Farm and Baldon Row, some 400+ metres from the site 
edge to the east.  
 

6.59 The land immediately to the north of the application site is allocated in the SOLP as a 
strategic housing allocation known as Land at Grenoble Road and covered by policy 
STRAT11 of the SOLP. The concept plan below is taken from the SOLP, and is 
intended to guide development at this site. 

 

Page 70



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

It is noted that the promoters of this site have objected to the development, principally 
on the grounds that the supporting documentation does not adequately identify and 
assess the potential effects on the future development that will take place within the 
strategic allocation, that the proposed mitigation is not adequate to address the 
significant effects on the strategic allocation. As this strategic site is in the early stages 
of development no more detailed plans exist to indicate the location of housing or other 
development at the site, therefore the assessment is based on the concept plan as 
included in the Local Plan policy (above). 

  
6.60 With regard to noise, a Noise Impact Assessment has been produced to accompany 

the planning application, which considers the potential noise generation from the plant 
associated with the panels. The assessment identifies that the proposal will give rise to 
noise levels that are typically below the measured day and night time background 
sound levels in the area, at the closest assessed residential receptors, including the 
closest point of housing identified in the above plan of the Grenoble Road site. The 
amenity of surrounding residential properties would therefore not be adversely affected 
in terms of noise. 
 

6.61 A Glint and Glare assessment has also been submitted with the application with 
particular reference to the users of the A4074, as well as the Grenoble Road site and 
other surreounding residents. Significant impacts on road users of the A4074 are not 
predicted due to a number of factors including chosen technology, the topography of 
the site and surrounding area, the design and layout of the development including new 
and enhanced hedgerow planting. Likewise, no significant impacts are predicted on 
existing residential properties, or those proposed at Grenoble Road. 
  

 
6.62 

Access and Transport 
Access for the construction vehicles will be taken from an existing agricultural access 
on the A4074 serving Nineveh Farm. The A4074 has a 50mph speed limit in this 
location and acceptable visibility splays would be achievable.  
 

6.63 Construction traffic will arrive and depart from the north, meaning that it will travel along 
Oxford’s Eastern Bypass Road and along the A4074 itself. The construction period is 
estimated to generate 16 two-way HGV movements per day and is estimated to last 
approximately 30 weeks. 
 

6.64 Drawing 2002-069/SK01/C contained within the Construction Traffic Management Plan 
shows the proposed access alterations, including required visibility splays and widening 
of the access to accommodate the turning movements of an HGV. There are no 
concerns over the access to the site from a Highway safety perspective. Post 
construction, there is little need for access to the solar farm for maintenance purposes 
and the trips generated by the post-construction access is not considered significant. 
 

 
6.65 

Environmental matters (flooding, drainage and contamination)  
Policy EP4 of the SOLP 2035 considers flood risk and sets out drainage requirements 
for new developments. The main site is located in Flood Zone 1 and therefore 
considered at low risk of fluvial flooding. Flooding from other forms has been 
considered in sufficient detail within the report. There are several ordinary watercourses 
running through or along the boundary of the site. Buffer zones of 10 metres in 
accordance with SOLP policy ENV 4 are provided. The council’s drainage officer and 
the County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority have no objection to the proposal 
subject to a condition requiring details of a sustainable drainage scheme.   
 

6.66 Policy ENV11 of the SOLP 2035 is concerned with contamination. The council’s 
contaminated land officer has reviewed the scheme and has not raised any concerns.   

Page 71



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

Based on the recommendations of the council’s specialist officers’ I consider that the 
proposal is acceptable in terms of flood risk, drainage, and contamination.   
 

 
6.67 

Cumulative Impacts 
The ES submitted with the application includes an assessment of the cumulative effects 
of the proposed solar farm and other developments. In this case only the consented 
scheme for Proposed Battery Storage Development at Cowley Substation (Application 
Ref: P19/S0623/FUL) has been considered. However, it is also identified that three 
strategic allocated sites lie within the extent of the ES study area, with corresponding 
policies set out in the SOLP as follows:  

 Policy STRAT 11 – Land south of Grenoble Road  

 Policy STRAT 12 – Land at Northfield  

 Policy TRANS3 – Safeguarding of land for Strategic Transport Schemes 
 

The cumulative impact from these schemes has not been assessed as part of the 
Environmental Statement as they do not have planning approval. 

  
6.68 Councillors will be aware that there are other schemes proposed and recently approved 

for solar farms within the district. Although not considered under the submitted 
assessment, Officers are satisfied that given the distance to the permitted site at Land 
to the North West of Stoke Talmage (P20/S3244/FUL) and the proposed Harlesford 
Farm, near Tetsworth (P20/S3245/FUL) together with the scale of this development, 
that there would be no cumulative impacts of the application proposal with the other 
proposed and permitted solar farms.  
 

 
6.69 

Other material planning considerations 
The UK Government has committed to meeting a legally binding target of net-zero 
carbon emissions by 2050. The council has also declared a climate emergency with a 
target to be a carbon neutral district by 2030. The proposed solar farm will help to meet 
national and local objectives for reducing carbon emissions and reducing reliance on 
fossil fuels.   
 

 
6.70 

Planning Balance 
Officers attach significant weight to the fact that the development is inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt. Further weight is attached to the harm caused by the 
development to the openness because of the presence of structures on land that is 
currently agricultural and free from obstruction. The harms identified to heritage assets 
as set out in paragraphs 6.35-6.45 above are also taken into account, and some weight 
is attributed to that harm. Limited weight is given to the loss of agricultural land due to 
the temporary nature of the proposal. The impact on the footpaths is also given some 
weight, however, this has been suitably mitigated by the proposals as described above. 
 

6.71 In favour of the development, significant weight is attributed to the need to provide 
additional energy from renewable sources and the considerable wider environmental 
benefits associated with increased production from renewable sources as set out in 
detail above. Some limited weight is given to the time limited and non-permanent nature 
of the installation, however, the suggested lifespan of 40 years is a significant period. 
The decommissioning of the infrastructure would allow a return to farmland. Some 
moderate weight is also given to the ecological enhancements proposed. 
 

6.72 Very special circumstances - conclusion 
As described in paragraphs 6.13 -6.15 above, in order to outweigh the harm to the 
openness of the Green Belt, there must be very special circumstances for allowing the 
proposal. There are a number of examples of Local Planning Authorities and Planning 

Page 72



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

Inspectors around the country as well as within the Oxford Green Belt finding that very 
special circumstances exist for solar development citing a variety of factors including: 
- the contribution a solar farm would make towards renewable energy targets 
- the well screened nature of the site 
- limited harm to the surrounding landscape 
- the harm is temporary  
- visual impact could be mitigated by planting 
- the proximity to a substation with capacity 
- the benefits of the production of renewable energy along with the temporary 
nature of the development outweighed the harm to the Green Belt 
 

6.73 All of these factors also apply to this application site. It is the Officer’s opinion that the 
very special circumstances that weigh in favour of the development in this case are:  
- the proximity to a substation that has capacity,  
- its temporary nature, 
- that the site is well screened from wider views 
- proposed planting will further screen the site 
- the contribution to low carbon energy generation 
-          the net gain in biodiversity 
On balance, officers consider that the harm caused by this proposal by reason of 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt is outweighed by the very special 
circumstances as set out above.  
 

 
6.74 

Pre-commencement conditions 
The applicant has confirmed that they agree to the suggested pre-commencement 
conditions as detailed below. 

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 The proposed solar farm would generate 45MW of renewable electricity which would be 

supplied to the National Grid, and the proposed battery stores would allow the export of 
energy to be evened out across the peaks and troughs of generation and demand. This 
would be a significant contribution towards addressing the Climate Emergency that the 
Council has declared, and towards meeting local and national policy on reducing 
carbon emissions and addressing climate change. 
 

7.2 The proposal would also deliver a biodiversity net gain of 38.99% through habitat 
improvements and new habitats created. 
 

7.3 Paragraph 151 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) states that very 
special circumstances that might justify an inappropriate development such as this in 
the Green Belt may include the wider environmental benefits associated with increased 
production of energy from renewable sources.  
 

7.4 As set out above, it is the Officer’s opinion that, on balance, very special circumstances 
do exist to enable the justification of this proposal and that the harms identified in this 
report and listed at paragraph 6.70 above are outweighed by the public benefits the 
proposal would bring, particularly the contribution to energy generation. 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions: 

 
1.    Time Limit for commencement 
2.    Approved Plans 
3.    Temporary permission 
 

Page 73



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

Pre-commencement 
 
4.    Landscaping details 
5.    Landscape Management Plan 
6.    Vehicular access improvements 
7.    Construction Traffic Management Plan 
8.    Archaeological watching Brief 
9.    Implementation of Archaeological works 
10.  Construction Environmental Management Plan 
11.  Tree Protection 
12.  Visibility Splay Details 
 
Prior to first use 
 
13.  Sustainable Drainage Scheme 
 
Compliance 
 
14.  Archaeology protection 
15.  Flood risk 
16.  Wildlife Protection measures 
17.  External lighting 
18.  Removal of unused panels 
 
End of the temporary period 
 
19.  Decommissioning method statement 

  

Author:         Nicola Smith 

Contact No:  01235 422600 

Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



Station Easting Northing Level
5      454756.897      201053.985       64.472
6      454756.901      201053.983       64.472
AL01      454192.689      200906.347       62.474
AL02      454310.782      200949.674       67.781
AL03      454363.625      200858.087       68.875
AL04      454525.727      201005.509       66.472
AL05      454651.029      201026.514       64.639
AL06      454756.897      201053.983       64.468
AL07      454844.406      201008.520       64.626
AL08      454843.723      200886.312       65.884
AL09      455984.755      200148.224       86.486
AL10      455914.583      200150.006       86.671
AL11      455982.043      200258.443       87.393
AL12      455977.278      200394.071       91.682
AL13      455946.823      200487.295       94.663
AL14      455920.568      200569.735       92.633
AL15      455892.143      200663.629       87.867
AL16      455838.458      200738.988       90.317
AL17      455766.261      200799.725       86.444
AL18      455662.763      200679.853       94.359
AL19      455526.256      200639.686       95.528
AL20      455399.118      200558.162       96.356
AL21      455420.387      200449.424       98.312
AL22      455532.130      200466.135       97.259
AL23      455588.608      200300.050       94.896
AL24      455617.369      200187.904       90.552
AL25      455624.299      199999.492       86.914
AL26      455789.903      200050.976       84.470
AL27      454861.461      200780.401       68.088
AL28      454720.678      200747.387       69.936
AL29      454583.564      200796.697       70.695
AL30      454486.300      200724.901       66.648
AL31      454406.582      200558.425       61.287
AL32      454511.610      200534.583       64.647
AL33      454667.144      200560.258       71.620
AL34      454791.874      200622.872       72.463
AL35      454876.102      200702.374       70.213
AL36      455056.789      200710.917       72.303
AL37      455200.568      200712.441       71.699
AL38      455315.535      200704.333       74.549
AL39      455466.817      200742.150       79.354
AL40      455605.529      200804.553       77.256
AL41      455682.157      200847.925       76.111
AL42      455758.455      200889.630       73.681
AL43      455727.007      201000.507       69.916
AL45      455685.546      201148.090       68.637
AL46      455559.417      201220.158       67.943
AL47      455434.766      201186.929       66.749
AL48      455387.397      201139.440       66.083
AL50      455224.908      201151.089       64.975
AL51      455082.192      201116.750       64.597
AL52      454921.075      201081.648       64.475
AL01A      454222.498      200918.367       62.998
AL02A      454352.229      200964.199       69.020
AL16A      455814.161      200786.121       85.854
OX01      454342.625      200672.915       61.011
OX02      454264.213      200782.384       61.488
OX03      454193.485      200888.829       62.118
OX04      454246.553      200927.994       64.056
OX05      454330.104      200940.356       67.832
OX06      454449.255      200978.782       68.070
OX07      454565.146      201001.463       65.797
OX08      454671.844      201014.924       64.951
OX09      454773.407      201039.797       64.546
OX10      454828.718      200934.755       65.162
OX11      454839.893      200819.486       66.881
RD01      454358.178      200625.352       60.943
RS1      455677.485      200752.879       90.660

150 mm Pipe

300 mm Pipe

150 mm Pipe

Wooden
Foot Bridge

Damaged
IC

300 mm Pipe

300 mm Pipe

500mm Pipe

300mm Pipe

100mm
Pipe

Field
1

Field
2

Field
3

Field
4

Field
5

Field
6

Station Easting Northing Level
5      454756.897      201053.985       64.472
6      454756.901      201053.983       64.472
AL01      454192.689      200906.347       62.474
AL02      454310.782      200949.674       67.781
AL03      454363.625      200858.087       68.875
AL04      454525.727      201005.509       66.472
AL05      454651.029      201026.514       64.639
AL06      454756.897      201053.983       64.468
AL07      454844.406      201008.520       64.626
AL08      454843.723      200886.312       65.884
AL09      455984.755      200148.224       86.486
AL10      455914.583      200150.006       86.671
AL11      455982.043      200258.443       87.393
AL12      455977.278      200394.071       91.682
AL13      455946.823      200487.295       94.663
AL14      455920.568      200569.735       92.633
AL15      455892.143      200663.629       87.867
AL16      455838.458      200738.988       90.317
AL17      455766.261      200799.725       86.444
AL18      455662.763      200679.853       94.359
AL19      455526.256      200639.686       95.528
AL20      455399.118      200558.162       96.356
AL21      455420.387      200449.424       98.312
AL22      455532.130      200466.135       97.259
AL23      455588.608      200300.050       94.896
AL24      455617.369      200187.904       90.552
AL25      455624.299      199999.492       86.914
AL26      455789.903      200050.976       84.470
AL27      454861.461      200780.401       68.088
AL28      454720.678      200747.387       69.936
AL29      454583.564      200796.697       70.695
AL30      454486.300      200724.901       66.648
AL31      454406.582      200558.425       61.287
AL32      454511.610      200534.583       64.647
AL33      454667.144      200560.258       71.620
AL34      454791.874      200622.872       72.463
AL35      454876.102      200702.374       70.213
AL36      455056.789      200710.917       72.303
AL37      455200.568      200712.441       71.699
AL38      455315.535      200704.333       74.549
AL39      455466.817      200742.150       79.354
AL40      455605.529      200804.553       77.256
AL41      455682.157      200847.925       76.111
AL42      455758.455      200889.630       73.681
AL43      455727.007      201000.507       69.916
AL45      455685.546      201148.090       68.637
AL46      455559.417      201220.158       67.943
AL47      455434.766      201186.929       66.749
AL48      455387.397      201139.440       66.083
AL50      455224.908      201151.089       64.975
AL51      455082.192      201116.750       64.597
AL52      454921.075      201081.648       64.475
AL01A      454222.498      200918.367       62.998
AL02A      454352.229      200964.199       69.020
AL16A      455814.161      200786.121       85.854
OX01      454342.625      200672.915       61.011
OX02      454264.213      200782.384       61.488
OX03      454193.485      200888.829       62.118
OX04      454246.553      200927.994       64.056
OX05      454330.104      200940.356       67.832
OX06      454449.255      200978.782       68.070
OX07      454565.146      201001.463       65.797
OX08      454671.844      201014.924       64.951
OX09      454773.407      201039.797       64.546
OX10      454828.718      200934.755       65.162
OX11      454839.893      200819.486       66.881
RD01      454358.178      200625.352       60.943
RS1      455677.485      200752.879       90.660

150 mm Pipe

300 mm Pipe

150 mm Pipe

Wooden
Foot Bridge

Damaged
IC

300 mm Pipe

300 mm Pipe

500mm Pipe

300mm Pipe

100mm
Pipe

Field
1

Field
2

Field
3

Field
4

Field
5

Field
6

Aardvark EM Limited
Higher Ford   Wiveliscombe
Taunton   Somerset   TA4 2RL

Tel: 01984 624989
Fax: 01984 623912

environment@aardvarkem.co.uk
www.aardvarkem.co.uk

File:\Z:\Data 2020\2013 Enso Green Holdings - Cowley\Data & Drawings\CAD\SO1-Cowley Baldon
Solar Farm-v.i.dwg

* This document is exclusive property of Aardvark EM Limited. Copying, reproduction or disclosure to third parties is
prohibited without written permission of Aardvark EM Limited and in case of infringement, Aardvark EM Limited seek
damages for breach of statutory or contractual obligations.

PROJECT NAME:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWING No: REVISION:

SCALE: FORMAT: DATE:

Drawn By: Checked By:

v.i

02 Nov 2020

RN

Site Location Plan A

SO1.A

A01:2500

DP

South Oxfordshire Solar Farm
Application Boundary

Scale 1:12,000

Site Access

Appendix A

Page 75

Agenda Item 9P20/S4360/FUL

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
REV.

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
DSGD

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
MODIFICATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
General Notes

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
Key



P2

P1

P3
RS

RS

RS

P

P

PS

FIELD 1

FIELD 2

FIELD 3

FIELD 4

FIELD 5

FIELD 6

Proposed Skylark
Mitigation Area

(39375 SQ M)

Proposed native scrub planting

Eastern Woodland
Connectivity  Area

Proposed native
 scrub planting

Tussocky Grassland with Wildflowers

Tussocky Grassland with
Wildflowers

Tussocky Grassland with
Wildflowers

Tussocky Grassland with
Wildflowers

"Wildflower Avenue"

Interpretation Board

Archaeological Mitigation Area

Substation and battery
storage compound

All internal hedgerows retained
with access using existing field

gateways

Interpretation
Board

Proposed native scrub planting

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (2,334  m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence line
- (171,543 m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence line
- (146,882 m2)

Neutral Grassland (within
solar fence line - (61,383 m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence line
- (59,652 m2)

Neutral grassland
(within solar fence line
- (16,756 m2)

Grazed grassland (within
archaeology mitigation
area - (76,615 m2)

Neutral grassland (within solar
fence line - (31,209 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 1 (36,031 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 1 (37,731 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 1 (42,713 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 1 (42,713 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 1 (5,572 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 1 (15,140m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 1 (16,321 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 1 (15,980 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 1 (15,980 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 1 (15,980 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 1 (15,140 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 2 (Toot Baldon Wildflower
Avenue - 19,431 m2)

Tussocky grassland -
Mix 2 (Toot Baldon Wildflower Avenue
- 19,431 m2)

Tree belt and
woodland
scrub - (1,159 m2)

Existing grassy
margin

Existing grassy
margin

Existing grassy
margin

Existing grassy
margin

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (774 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement
planting - (53 m2)

Existing grassy
margin

Existing grassy
margin

Existing grassy
margin

Native scrub planting
- (525 m2)

Native scrub planting
- (2,691 m2)

Native scrub planting
 - (2,691 m2)

Native scrub planting
- (594 m2)

Native scrub planting
 - (320 m2)

Native scrub planting
- (882 m2)

Native scrub planting
- (909 m2)

Existing hedgerow
managed to grow out

Existing hedgerow
managed to grow out

Native scrub planting
- (2,388 m2)

Native scrub planting
- (1,436 m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence line
- (61,383 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (459 m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence line
- (60,125 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (459 m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence line
- (146,882 m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence line
- (44,756 m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence line
- (44,756 m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence line
- (92,907 m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence line
- (92,907 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement
planting - (17 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (107 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting - (504m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting - (237 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (2,334  m2)

Boundary hedgerow enhancement
planting - (2,334  m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence line
- (44,217 m2)

Grazed grassland (within
archaeology mitigation
area - (1,159 m2)

1 No. Ps

Neutral grassland (within solar
fence line - (31,209 m2)

Neutral Grassland
(within solar fence
line - (171,543 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (2,561 m2)

2 No. Qr

1 No. Pa

1 No. Ac

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (1,341m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (1004 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (1,756 m2)

2 No. Qr

2 No. Qr

1 No. Ps

2 No. Qr

2 No. Pa

1 No. Ac

2 No. Ac

1 No. Qr

2 No. Qr

1 No. Pa

1 No. Pa

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (589m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (70 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (855m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (197 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (273 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (171 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (628 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (98 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (73 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (347m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (862 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (234 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (57 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (60 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (67 m2)

Tree belt and woodland
scrub - (334 m2)

Boundary hedgerow
enhancement planting
- (74 m2)

Tree belt and woodland
scrub - (457 m2)

Tree belt and woodland
scrub - (660 m2)

Tree belt and woodland
scrub - (362 m2)

1 No. Pa

1 No. Qr

2 No. Ps

2 No. Qr

1 No. Pa

1 No. Pa

Western Woodland
Connectivity Area

Tree belt and woodland
scrub - (459 m2)

Tree belt and woodland
scrub - (1,159 m2)

Neutral Grassland (within
solar fence line - (44,756 m2)

2 No. Ac

1 No. Qr

1 No. Ps

1 No. Qr

1 No. Ac

Proposed trees belt / woodland planting
(allowing 10m un-planted offset
either side of ditch)

Agricultural Field Retained

New Hedgerow Planting and Boundary
Hedgerow Enhancement (Total 15,879 sq.m)

Native Scrub Planting
(Total 8,315 sq.m)

'Toot Baldon Wildflower Avenue'- Emorsgate
EM7 Meadow mixture for sandy soils  or similar
approved (19,431 sq.m)

Tussocky Grassland with Wildflowers (Total
area - mix as labeled - 150,720 sq.m)

Neutral Grassland - Emorsgate EM2
Standard general purpose meadow mixture
or similar approved (Total 728,155 sq.m)

Skylark Mitigation Area - Emorsgate Tussock
Mixture EM10 or similar approved (36,031 sq.m)

Archaeological Mitigation Area - Emorsgate
EG26 Standard old fashioned grazing mixture
or similar approved (Total 77,774 sq.m)

Fence

Pond

Site boundary

Access Gates

Solar Panels

Access Roads

Watercourse

Field Ditches

P1

Proposed Landscape and Ecological Features

Proposed Solar Farm Features

Native Tree Belt and Woodland Scrub
Planting (Total 3,432 sq.m)

Gas Pipeline and Easement

Existing Tree/Hedgerow
Vegetation

Interpretation Board -
Indicative Location

Existing Public Right of Way

Existing Grassy Margin

Proposed Individual Tree Planting
(Total 36 No.)

Final

N
or

th

0 100m

1:2,500

LE GEN D

ISSUED BY

DWG. NO

DATE
SCALE@A0
STATUS

DRAWN
CHECKED
APPROVED

This drawing is not suitable for construction purposes.
No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing.
All dimensions are to be checked on site.
Area measurements for indicative purposes only.

This drawing may contain: Ordnance Survey material by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2019. All rights reserved. Reference number
OS Open data / © Natural England / © DEFRA / © DECC / © English Heritage. Aerial Photography -

© LDA Design Consulting Ltd.  Quality Assured to BS EN ISO 9001 : 2015

Sources

X:
\J

O
BS

\7
42

7_
C

O
W

LE
Y_

SO
LA

R
_F

AR
M

\7
C

AD
\D

R
AW

IN
G

S\
SO

FT
W

O
R

KS
 P

LA
N

S\
74

27
_S

K_
01

6_
SO

FT
W

O
R

KS
 P

LA
N

S_
FI

N
AL

_N
O

V2
1.

D
W

G

PROJECT TITLE

REV. DESCRIPTION APP. DATE

DRAWING TITLE

SOUTH OXFORDSHIRE SOLAR FARM

Detailed Soft Landscape Plan:
Overview Plan

September 2021 GE
BC
BC

7472_SK_016

Ordnance Survey

0100031673.
ESRI, DigitalGlobe, GEOEye, i-cubed, USDA FSA,USGD, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN,IGP,swisstopo, the GIS User Community

01865 887 050Oxford T:

SITE LOCATION PLAN
Note: The cable grid connection route to Cowley Substation will utilise existing
highways land. Management of this land falls under the responsibility of the
relevant highways authority

A Individual trees and area measurements added BC 19/09/21

B Planting amends to boundary herdgerows and trees BC 19/10/21

C Removal of proposals from Field 6 BC 08/11/21

Appendix B

P
age 76

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
Substation

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
Battery Storage

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
Substation

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
Battery Storage

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
Substation

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
Battery Storage



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

  

 
 APPLICATION NO. P16/S3852/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 19.12.2016 
 PARISH CROWMARSH GIFFORD 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Sue Cooper 

Andrea Powell 
 APPLICANT Avant Homes Ltd 
 SITE Land to the south of Newnham Manor, Crowmarsh 

Gifford 
 PROPOSAL Hybrid planning application for the erection of 100 

new residential dwellings including new access road 
off the A4074, public open space (full application) and 
the provision of school land (outline application) at 
Newnham Manor, Crowmarsh Gifford (as amended 
by plans submitted 26 November 2019, 18 December 
2019, 14 January 2020 and 18 May 2020 and revised 
Arboricultural Assessment received 5 May 2020 and 
as amended by plans and information received 30 
April 2021). 
 

 OFFICER Amanda Rendell 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND TO PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application has been referred back to Planning Committee at the discretion of the 

Development Manager due to amendments and material changes to policy since 16 
January 2018 when the Planning Committee previously resolved to approve subject to 
conditions and completion of a s106 legal agreement. The permission and s106 legal 
agreement were not progressed due to further consideration of the proposed highways 
works arising from the s278 process which altered the planning application details.   
 

1.2 Since that resolution and further to discussions with the Highways Authority, the 
scheme has been amended to address highway concerns relating to the proposed 
means of access and there have been several changes which are material to the 
consideration of the application which are detailed below and will be addressed in more 
detail in the relevant sections of the report.  
 

1.3 The report will also provide an update on various matters in light of the adopted South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035, including consideration of policies DES10, EMP3 and 
EMP13 and will review the exceptional circumstances case for development in the 
AONB. 
 

1.4 This is a hybrid planning application seeking full planning permission for the 
development of 100 residential dwellings, with associated infrastructure and outline 
planning permission for school land to incorporate a school car park and outdoor play 
and sports facilities.  

 
2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION AND CONTEXT 
2.1 The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1. The site 

is located on the edge of Crowmarsh Gifford within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB). It measures approximately 8.3ha in area and is largely flat. The 
site can be divided into two sections according to its character.  

Page 77

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3852/FUL


 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

2.2 The western section of the site contains 56 caravan pitches covering approximately 
2.1ha, which comprises Newnham Manor Caravan Park (30 pitches), Newnham Murren 
Caravan Park (16 pitches), Newnham Manor Caravan Club (5 pitches) and Newnham 
Manor Caravan Camping Club (5 pitches). At the west accessed from the Old Reading 
Road, the site also comprises a number of small commercial business units at the 
Pheasantry which is divided into two sections: MS Truck Ltd who occupy the 
commercial buildings on a temporary commercial occupational lease; and an open 
storage area with two buildings which are currently vacant and have planning 
permission for residential development over the entire site. Both commercial areas 
cover approximately 0.52ha.  
 

2.3 This part of the site is made up of several ‘compartments’ created by hedgerows and 
tree belts some of which are protected by Tree Preservation Orders (though the trees 
to the east are not within the site boundary). There are other protected trees dotted 
around the site.  
 

2.4 The Old Reading Road which runs along the western boundary of the site, is residential 
in character at its northern end where it serves several dwellings and the Crowmarsh 
Gifford Church of England Primary School. Further down the lane there is a close 
boarded fence with tall tree and hedgerow behind bordering the site.  
 

2.5 The eastern section of the site is much more open in character and is used for 
agricultural purposes. There is a belt of conifer trees separating this section into two. 
 

2.6 To the north west of the site is Meadow Lane, a short, narrow line just beyond the 
boundary vegetation.  Residential development, including Newnham House, a Grade II 
listed manor house, and its associated garden lies to the north of the site and this 
boundary is marked by trees and hedgerows. These dwellings are set back from The 
Street, the main road running through Crowmarsh Gifford towards Wallingford. To the 
east of the site is Port Way A4074, the main by-pass road around Wallingford. It is a 
wide single-carriageway road which changes from a 40mph speed limit to 30mph speed 
limit alongside the site boundary. On the opposite side of the road is Cox’s Lane, which 
serves around 100 dwellings. The boundary between the site and the A4074 is a high 
hedgerow. The only break in this hedgerow is for site access to Lister Wilder and then 
another small commercial estate to the south. 
 

2.7 Crowmarsh Gifford Church of England School to the west of the site was opened in 
1969 and was built to provide primary school education for 100 children, however as 
of September 2019, there were 202 pupils on the school roll (its total capacity is 210). 
It employs 28 full-time (teaching) staff and eight part-time (non-teaching) staff. 
 

2.8 The catchment area includes Crowmarsh Gifford and North Stoke but the school 
admits pupils from Wallingford and the surrounding area. A school bus service serves 
the surrounding area and includes a twice daily service to/from North Stoke and 
Mongewell.  
 

2.9 The school site also comprises Crowmarsh pre-school which has a capacity of 23 
children. The Pre-School operates a Forest School, and this is located within the 
allotments located off Thames Mead (in Crowmarsh Gifford); this is on land donated 
by Owen and Emery Charity. Forest School is accessed on-foot (via public footpaths) 
with staff guiding children through Thames Mead housing estate; this takes 
approximately 15-minutes. 
 

2.10 There are no heritage designations within the application site, however it forms part of 
the wider curtilage of Newnham Murren, a grade II Listed C18 manor house. The main 

Page 78



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

entrance elevation looks to the west with the garden elevation facing south over the 
existing garden and application site. 

 
3.0 PROPOSAL AND REVISIONS TO THE SCHEME SINCE SUBMISSION 
3.1 This application seeks full planning permission for 100 new dwellings with associated 

access road and open space, and outline planning permission for land for use by 
Crowmarsh Gifford C of E Primary School, full details of which are set out under 
paragraph 3.6 below. The proposed layout is shown in figure 1 below and attached at 
Appendix 2: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Figure 1: Proposed Site Layout 
  

3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The development proposes 60 market and 40 affordable homes comprising a mix of 2, 
3 and 4 bed terraced, semi-detached and detached houses with supported 
infrastructure, individual private gardens, and on-plot parking spaces. The following 
housing mix is proposed:  
 

 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + Total  

Market 
Homes 

0 9 18 33 60 

Affordable 
Homes 

4 24 12 0 40 

Total 4 33 30 33 100 

 
 
 
 

Page 79



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Of the affordable units, the following tenure split is proposed: 
 

 1 bed/2p flat 2 bed/4p 
flat 

2 bed/4p 
house 

3 bed/5p 
house 

Affordable rented 
 

4 4 16 6 

Shared Ownership 
 

0 0 6 4 

Total 
 

4 4 22 10 

 

3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A new access to the site will be created off the A4074 Port Way, which involves 
remodelling the Port Way itself and proposes: 
 

 Left turn only out of the development site into the A4074 Portway 

 Proposed staggered ‘traffic light-controlled’ toucan crossing away from the 
development site/Cox’s Lane staggered junction on the A4074 Portway 

 Extension of the existing central reservation south of Portway roundabout on the 
A4074 Portway 

 Existing bus stop and associated cage on the A4074 Portway relocated further 
south on the southbound carriageway 

 Existing ghost island length on the A4074 Portway reduced in length as a 
consequence of the extension of the 30mph limit; and 

 Provision of a gateway feature at the point of speed limit change. 
 
Appendix 3 and Appendix 4 show further detail. A footpath and cycleway will also be 
provided through the site onto The Street via the Old Stables residential development.  
 

3.5 This application also proposes the gift of 0.39 hectares of land to Crowmarsh Gifford 
Church of England Primary school. This land is located off the Old Reading Road and 
currently forms part of the grounds of Newnham Manor, comprising a collection of 
rural buildings known as ‘The Pheasantry’ and an agricultural field. This area is 
considered brownfield/previously developed land with access off the Old Reading 
Road. The field is laid to grass and includes a mix of mature trees/hedges along 
boundaries.  
 

3.6 The gifted school land has the support of the head teacher and governors at the 
school and are as a result of discussions going back to 2012. It will allow the school to 
meet Oxfordshire Education Authority’s adopted site area standards for a one form 
entry school and also provide: 
 

 Increased outdoor play and sports facilities for the school, pre-school, and 
local community 

 Forest School 

 A new staff car park and parental drop off area to relieve pressure on the main 
school site and improve safety of Old Reading Road. The car park will create 
18 staff and visitor parking spaces including separate in/out entrance off the 
Old Reading Road 

 
Appendix 5 indicates how the gifted school land could be arranged. 
 

3.7 The development would provide a large area of landscaped open space to the south 
with a play area, a second play area to the west of the development adjacent to 

Page 80



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

school car park, and a LAP (Local Area of Play) on the eastern side of the 
development. 
 

3.8 The application is accompanied by several technical assessments, some of which 
have been revised/amended during the application following consultation with 
statutory and non-statutory consultees, as follows: 

 Landscape and Visual Assessment (LVIA) Addendum  

 Revised Landscaping Details 

 Supplementary Biodiversity Information 

 Revised Drainage Information  

 Road Traffic Noise Assessment 

 Revised Layout 

 Supporting Statement from School 

 Revised Access Plans 

 Environmental Noise and Impact Assessment 

 Updated Air Quality Assessment  
 

3.9 All plans and representations can be viewed on the Council’s website 
www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.  
 

 
4.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
4.1 This provides a summary of the techical comments on the most recent iteration of the 

plans and supporting information. Comments from the public and town/parish Councils 
summarise all comments made throughout the course of the application.  
 

Consultee Comments on latest plans submitted 

Crowmarsh Parish 
Council 

No objections. The Parish Council originally objected to 
the application raising concern over the number of 
homes proposed for the village; access concerns; and 
pressure on infrastructure and services. However, as a 
result of the submission of amended plans, they remain 
supportive of the development which has been improved 
significantly over the years through discussions with 
SODC, OCC, the Chilterns Conservation Board and 
others. They stress the need for a traffic-light controlled 
toucan crossing to connect the two parts of the village 
that are divided by the A4074. This is a prime benefit of 
this application. The footpath and cycleway through the 
site into The Street via the Old Stables and footpath link 
to Old Reading Road is welcomed, which are essential 
for community connectivity. The changes to the layout 
and redistribution of affordable around the site are also 
welcomed. The submission of an energy statement 
proposing energy saving measures is supported. Finally, 
the Parish Council would like to explore the ownership 
and management of the landscaped area to the south of 
the development.   

Wallingford Town 
Council 

Object. WTC have consistently objected to this 
application. Original objections centred on: site within an 
AONB; concerns over traffic generation; concern that 
sufficient infrastructure was not in place; development 
was not sustainable and the impact on Wallingford’s Air 
Quality Management Area. Further to submission of 

Page 81

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

revised plans, concerns were raised over the impact of 
the new highway layout on traffic, local residents, 
national cycle route and pedestrians; poor design layout. 
Revisions to the scheme are not considered to have 
addressed these concerns.      

Chilterns Conservation 
Board (CCB) 

No objection. In respect of the highways alterations the 
simplification of the junction on the A4074 Portway looks 
like an improvement in terms of conserving and 
enhancing the AONB. Additional landscape details are 
welcome.  

Conservation Officer No objection subject to conditions regarding additional 
landscaping and lighting details. Less than substantial 
harm. 

Countryside Officer No objection subject to conditions regarding ecological 
mitigation and Biodiversity Enhancement Plan. 

Forestry Officer No objection subject to imposition of planning condition 
covering detailed tree protection measures. 

Health & Housing (Air 
Quality) 

No objection subject to condition regarding EV Charging 
points, sustainable travel packs, gas fired boilers to be 
meet a minimum standard, and cycle storage provision. 

Health & Housing 
(Contaminated Land)  
 

No objection subject to the imposition of a contaminated 
land conditions regarding phased risk assessment and 
remediation strategy. 

Health & Housing (Env 
Protection) 

No objections. Happy with the results of the noise report 
undertaken in July 2021 and previous noise surveys 
relating to both road traffic and aircraft noise from RAF 
Benson. Despite the BS 8233 mentioning that a 5dB 
reduction can be made in certain 
scenarios, I believe that it will be necessary to install 
glazing with a higher acoustic 
performance in the windows facing east on plot numbers 
1,2,25,26,27,31,32 and 34. 
I would be happy for this criteria to be covered by way of 
condition.   

Drainage  No objection subject to conditions regarding SUD’s and 
a foul drainage scheme. 
 

Environment Agency No objection. The planning application is for 
development that they do not wish to be consulted on. 
 

Thames Water 
Development Control 

No objection. Request that a Grampian style planning 
condition be imposed requiring confirmation of all 
sewage works upgrades required to accommodate the 
additional flows from the development have been 
completed; or a development and infrastructure phasing 
plan has been agreed with the Local Authority in 
consultation with Thames Water to allow development to 
be occupied.  
 

Waste Management 
officer 

No objection. Current tracking documentation and bin 
collection points are acceptable. 

Oxfordshire County 
Council - Highways 
 

No objection. Subject to conditions and S106 
agreement. 

Page 82



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

Oxfordshire County 
Council-Education 

No objection. The Council supports the offer of 
additional school land. 

Oxfordshire County 
Council-Lead Local 
Flood Authority 

Object-although the LLFA previously indicated that they 
that no comments to make on the application, they have 
now expressed queries regarding infiltration values. 

SGN Plant Protection 
Team 

No objection. Information is provided on plant networks 
in the area. 

Urban Design Officer No objection. Overall happy with the changes submitted 
as part of this amendment.   

Natural England No objection. The proposed amendments are unlikely to 
have significantly different impacts on the natural 
environment than the original proposal. 

Landscape Architect 
 

No objections subject to conditions regarding: all 
planting details and services, open space details, hedge 
and tree planting, boundary treatment, SUD’s details, 
details of ply areas, maintenance of planting area, etc. 

Crime Prevention 
Officer 

No objections. Advice is provided in respect of crime 
prevention/community safety and recommend that a 
condition be imposed regarding secure by design 
accreditation.   

Crowmarsh Gifford 
School 

No objections. The school have previously indicated 
their support of the land gift to the school for the following 
reasons a) it would meet the Education Authorities’ 
adopted site area standards for a one form entry school 
and b) it would provide increased outdoor play and sport 
facilities for the school, pre-school and local community, 
and c) it would provide a new staff car park and parental 
drop off which will relieve pressure on the school and 
improve safety on Old Reading Road. They neither 
support nor object the proposal for housing. 

Oxfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

No objection subject to developer contributions of 
£395,640.00 towards primary care infrastructure funding. 

Energy Saving 
Consultant 

No objection. 

Economic 
Development 

Comment that there is insufficient evidence presented 
for the development to comply with policies EMP3 and 
EMP13 of the SOLP.  

 
Sixty-Seven letters of objection have been received for this application since it was first 
submitted raising the following issues: 
 

 Road speeds along The Port Way are already dangerous.  

 It will be unsafe for pedestrians to cross the road. 

 It is already difficult to pull out safely from Cox Lane, particuarly at peak times 

 Additional traffic will create further delays on The Port Way and an increase in 
noise and air pollution. 

 The road should be resurfaced so that it is quieter. 

 Impact on Wallingford Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)   

 Proposed junction is unworkable, a roundabout would be better and it would 
slow traffic down 

 Have the traffic calculations taken into account the new developmen at CABI 
and Carmel College? 

Page 83



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

 Loss of tree screening along The Port Way, which provides some sound 
proofing. There is a lack of detailed information about this and no mitigation 
proposed. 

 Proposals show the road moving closer to Robert Sparrow Gardens, which will 
increase road noise impact. The road should move into the site rather than 
towards Robert Sparrow Gardens. 

 The strip between Sheringham House and the A4074 is over a metre narrower 
than shown in the scheme, which is significant given the strip is 7-10m wide. 

 Houses shouldn’t be built in the AONB. Why isn’t the old Council site being 
developed instead? 

 Impact on wildlife on the site 

 Services and facilities couldn’t cope with the increase in population, particularly 
drains, sewers, the school, doctors’ surgery 

 Recognise that we need houses by why here and why this many? 

 Development would contravene the Protection of Military Remains Act 1986. 

 Expansion of the school will create more traffic. 

 School expansion should occur before the end of the development 

 Impact on 3 Grade II listed buildings nearby. 

 Fibre optic broadband cable should be available for the new residents and those 
along Cox Lane.  

 The site to the south of the Primary School should be developed instead 
 
Chandlers Farm Equipment (Formerly Lister Wilder)- Express concern regarding the 
proximity of houses to their boundary, particularly the properties adjacent to the rear of 
their premises, and the potential for noise complaints arising from activities at the 
premises.  
 
Crowmarsh Residents Action Group- Object. No response received to the latest 
revisions. Original objections raised concern regarding: Impact on capacity at 
Crowmarsh School; Traffic and impact on Wallingford Bridge; Access to Doctors 
Surgery’s; Access to retain facilities; Lack of job opportunities for newcomers to the 
village; Impact on Utilities and sustainability of the development. 
 
Pegasus Group-Object to the application on the grounds of sustainability and future 
growth of Crowmarsh Gifford and the strategy for primary school places against the 
background of 250 dwellings.  

 
5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
5.1 P16/S3868/SCR – EIA not required (12/12/2016) 

P16/S1409/PEJ - (01/06/2016) Further pre-application advice to P15/S3171/PEJ 
(application for up to 100 dwellings). This site has a long planning history, in the main 
relating to the stationing of caravans on the site. The full planning history can be found 
on the Council’s website.  

 

6.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
6.1 This proposal does not exceed 150 dwellings, but the site area is over 5ha.  

Consequently, the proposal exceeds the thresholds set in Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011.  The site is 
also within a ‘sensitive area’ as defined by the EIA regulations and was therefore 
screened under reference P16/S3868/SCR.  The decision, issued 12 December 2016, 
was that an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required as the majority of issues 
are considered to be of local significance only and can be examined through the normal 
planning process.    
  

Page 84

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1409/PEJ


 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

6.2 Given the fact that the environmental impacts have not materially changed over the 
past 3 years, it is not considered that a further screening opinion is required. 

 

7.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
7.1 Development Plan Policies 

 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
STRAT2  -  South Oxfordshire Housing and Employment Requirements 
STRAT5  -  Residential Densities 
H1  -  Delivering New Homes 
H4  -  Housing in the Larger Villages 
H9  -  Affordable Housing 
H11  -  Housing Mix 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES3  -  Design and Access Statements 
DES4  -  Masterplans for Allocated Sites and Major Development 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources 
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
DES10  -  Carbon Reduction 
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
ENV4  -  Watercourses 
ENV5  -  Green Infrastructure in New Developments 
ENV6  -  Historic Environment 
ENV7  -  Listed Buildings 
ENV8  -  Conservation Areas 
ENV9  -  Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments 
ENV11-Pollution- Potential Receptors of Pollution 
ENV12 -  Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural Environment 
and/or Local Amenity (Potential Sources of Pollution) 
EP1  -  Air Quality 
EP3  -  Waste collection and Recycling 
INF1  -  Infrastructure Provision 
INF4  -  Water Resources 
TRANS2  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
TRANS4  -  Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

7.2 Neighbourhood Plan 
 Crowmarsh Gifford Neighbourhood Area was formally designated on 1 June 2017 and 

following a referendum on 2 September 2021, residents voted for the adoption of the 
Crowmarsh Parish Neighbourhood Plan (CPNP). On 7 October 2021, Cabinet 
member’s recommendations to adopt the Crowmarsh Neighbourhood Plan was 
approved. The Crowmarsh Parish Neighbourhood Plan  is now made and will continue 
to form part of the development plan.  
 

7.3 The CPNP does not make any housing allocations and instead, sets out village 
boundaries and infill development under policy CRP1 within which, proposals for infill 
development will be supported, relative to their specific settlement hierarchy 
classifications and requirements, provided they accord with the design and 
development management policies of the development plan and other policies of the 
Neighbourhood Plan.  

Page 85



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

7.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 

 Developer Contributions SPD 
  

7.5 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 

7.6 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 
 

7.7 Other Material planning considerations 
 • Chilterns AONB Management Plan 2019-2024  

• Chilterns AONB Design Guidance  
• Landscape Character Assessment for the Local Plan 2033 November 
 2017  
• Oxfordshire Wildlife and Landscape Study (Oxfordshire County Council, 
 2004)  

 
8.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
8.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 The principle of the development, including  
-     Current policy position 
-     Housing land supply  
-     AONB 

 Matters of details/technical issues, including: 
- landscape impact 
- highways 
- design and layout  
- density, mix and affordable housing 
- heritage impact 
- trees and landscaping 
- noise impact 
- air quality 
- ecology 
- flood risk and surface / foul drainage, 
- neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents, 

 Infrastructure requirements, including: 
- on-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,  
- contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy.  

 
 Principle of development. 
8.2 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority 
shall have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the 
application, and to any other material considerations. In the case of South Oxfordshire, 
this is the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2035 and the Crowmarsh 
Neighbourhood Plan.  Development which is not in accordance with an up-to date 

Page 86



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

development plan should be refused unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 
 

 Current Policy Position. 
8.3 Policy H1 of the SOLP states that residential development will be permitted on sites 

allocated by the Local Plan or allocated by Neighbourhood Development Plans. 
Development on sites not allocated in the development plan would only be permitted 
provided it is development within the existing built-up area of larger villages; provided 
an important open space of public, environmental, historical or ecological value is not 
lost, nor an important public view harmed. Residential development of previously 
developed land will be permitted within and adjacent to the existing built-up areas of 
Larger Villages. Crowmarsh Gifford is classed as a larger village.  

8.4 Between the committee’s resolution to approve the proposed development on 16 
January 2018 and the present time, the Crowmarsh Neighbourhood Plan (CNP) has 
been produced and is now made, forming part of the Development Plan.  
 

8.5 The SOLP in Section 4 on Larger Villages confirms (table 4f) that the housing 
requirement figure for the Parish has been met through existing completions and 
commitments at Carmel College (166), CABI (91), Benson Lane (150) and Newnham 
Manor (100). These sites along with other developments of single houses, infill and 
change of use to existing buildings take the total up to 571, which exceeds the planned 
growth target for Crowmarsh Gifford (312). On this basis the Neighbourhood Plan does 
not make any housing site allocations.   
 

8.6 Policy CRP1 of the Crowmarsh Neighbourhood Plan defines village boundaries and 
infill development for the area. It states that  
 
“Proposals for infill development within the village boundaries will be supported, 
relative to their specific settlement hierarchy classifications and requirements, 
provided they accord with the design and development management policies of the 
development plan and other policies of the Neighbourhood Plan. Proposals for 
development outside the boundaries will only be supported if they are appropriate to a 
countryside location and they are consistent with development plan policies”.  
 

8.7 The CNP does recognise that this application site at Newnham Manor was the 
preferred site for development, compared to other sites, due to it being seen as the 
“logical infill development between the existing built-up area of Crowmarsh Gifford and 
a new employment use site to the south”….”In addition, the Newnham Manor site is 
part brownfield”…   
 

8.8 The application site is within this settlement boundary (see Figure 2 below) and has a 
resolution to grant planning permission in 2018. Paragraph 5.11 of the CNP indicates 
that acceptable development for this site shall include low density housing, 
landscaping at the edge of the AONB, Toucan crossing of the A4074, safe route to 
school, mixed development with 40% affordable dwellings and land to be made 
available for the primary school on Old Reading Road. 
 

Page 87



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

 

 
Figure 2: Crowmarsh Neighbourhood Plan Submission Policies Map showing 
Settlement Boundary. 
 

 Housing Land Supply. 
8.9 In June 2021, the Council issued its latest assessment of the District’s five-year 

housing land supply position for South Oxfordshire as of 1 April 2021 covering the 
period until 31 March 2026. Based on a year by year and site by site trajectory of the 
expected housing supply in the District between this period, the Council can 
demonstrate a 5.33 year’s supply of housing land. This development would make a 
small but valuable contribution to the Council’s housing land supply.  
 

 AONB Policy. 
8.10 The site is located wholly within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(AONB) which are part of a broad belt of chalk upland running across England in an 
arc from Dorset to Yorkshire.   
 

8.11 Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CRoW Act) states that a 
relevant authority in exercising or performing any functions in relation to, or so as to 

Page 88



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

affect land in an area of outstanding natural beauty, shall have regard to the purpose 
of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area of outstanding natural 
beauty.  This section of the report sets out the planning assessment made in relation 
to conserving and enhancing the AONB having regard to CRoW Act and the NPPF 
and development plan policies.  
 

8.12 Paragraph 176 of the NPPF requires that great weight should be given to conserving 
and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty of AONB’s. Paragraph 177 goes on to 
say that: 
 
“when considering applications for development within AONB’s, permission should be 
refused for major development other than in exceptional circumstances and where it 
can be demonstrated that the development is in the public interest. Consideration of 
such applications should include an assessment of: 
 
(a) the need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations, 
and the impact of permitting it, or refusing it, upon the local economy; 

 
(b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or meeting the 
need for it in some other way; and 
 
(c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational 
opportunities, and the extent to which that could be moderated”. 
 

8.13 NPPF Tests – (a) Need for development. 
 
Policy STRAT1 of the SOLP indicates that proposals for new development should be 
consistent with the overall strategy of the following relevant criteria: 

 supporting and enhancing the roles of the Larger Villages of Crowmarsh 
Gifford; and  

 protecting and enhancing the countryside and particularly those areas within 
the two AONB’s by ensuring that outside the towns and villages and change 
relates to the very specific needs such as those of the agricultural industry or 
enhancement of the environment. 
  

8.14 Policy ENV1 of the SOLP requires the Chilterns AONB to have the highest level of 
protection, and development would only be permitted in an AONB where it conserves, 
and where possible enhances the character and natural beauty of the AONB. Major 
development will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances and where it can be 
demonstrated to be in the public interest. 
 

8.15 Policy ENV1 reflects NPPF guidance in providing high priority to the conservation and 
enhancement of the AONBs. Proposals which support the economies and social 
wellbeing of the AONBs will be encouraged provided they do not conflict with the aims 
of conservation and enhancement.  

8.16 This is not the type of development that would ordinarily be allowed in the AONB. 
Whilst objections have been raised to the application on grounds of landscape impact 
and its position within the AONB, consultation with the community as part of the 
Neighbourhood Plan process showed a preference (62%) for allocating land for 
housing at Newnham Manor rather than land to the east of Benson Lane. The land at 
Newnham Manor was seen as logical infill development between the existing built-up 
area of Crowmarsh Gifford and the new employment use to the south. The site is also 
part brownfield with 32% of the site being previously developed land. 

Page 89



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

8.17 The minutes from Planning Committee on 16 January 2018 where a resolution to grant 
permission was made also state the local preference for this proposed site over others 
in Crowmarsh and the benefits of land being offered for the local primary school. 
  

8.18 Exceptional Circumstances.  
The catchment area for Crowmarsh School includes Crowmarsh Gifford and North 
Stoke but the school also attracts significant numbers of non-catchment children who, 
in due course, could be displaced by in-catchment pupil generation; future non-
catchment children who might otherwise have attended Crowmarsh Gifford CE 
Primary School would be accommodated as a result of the additional school capacity 
being provided elsewhere in the Wallingford area. It is therefore not proposed at this 
time to expand Crowmarsh Gifford CE Primary School beyond its current capacity of 
a 1 form entry school. 
 

8.19 However, the adopted County Council’s standard for a 1 form entry school requires a 
1.34ha site. The school site is currently only about 0.95ha, which leaves the school 
constrained for outdoor space. The additional land would bring the school up to the 
County Council’s adopted site area standard for a 1 form entry school. Should the 
school ever expand beyond 1 form entry, the additional land would also help support 
that, with any additional land sought. 
 

8.20 Although the school is not currently proposed for expansion, the additional land will be 
of significant benefit to the school and local community. It would allow for increasing 
outdoor play and sport facilities. The full details of the layout would be provided by 
reserved matters application but is capable of providing 0.13ha of sports pitches 
(rounders/’kwik’ cricket), 0.08ha for Forest School, and a car park for staff and parent 
drop off.  
 

8.21 The CNP identifies that the school is situated on a “small and confined site with no 
room for further expansion. Parking is a problem during the morning and afternoon 
arrival and departure of children accompanied by parents”. Current arrangements to 
park at The Bell Public House have been stopped due to closure of the pub. Therefore, 
additional pressure is being put on Reading Road, just outside the school.  A new car 
park would be connected to the main school via a pedestrian crossing, across the Old 
Reading Road.  Lighting would need be considerate to the AONB location. Once the 
new car park is opened the current school car park would be used as a children’s hard 
surface play area. Within the longer term this area could be used to extend the school. 
 

8.22 The County Council as Education Authority have confirmed that whilst there are no 
plans to expand Crowmarsh Gifford CE Primary School beyond its current capacity of 
1 form entry school, the additional land would bring the school up to the County 
Councils adopted site area standard from 0.95ha to 1.34ha.. It would allow for 
increasing outdoor plan and sport facilities. It would also support a staff car park area 
and parental drop-off loop to relieve pressure on the main school site and improve 
safety on the road when children are arriving and leaving.  
 

8.23 The amended application also includes relocation of the footpath to Old Reading Road 
to the south of the gifted school land, which was previously shown to transect through 
the school land. This is considered necessary for the security and management of the 
Crowmarsh Gifford CE Primary School. 
 

8.24 The transfer of the land to the Oxfordshire Diocesan Board of Education  (ODBE) at 
nil cost prior to the occupation of any houses in the development is supported by the 
County Council and will be secured by S106 agreement. The land should be laid out 
to the specification agreed with the ODBE and governors of Crowmarsh Gifford CE 

Page 90



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

Primary School prior to transfer and conditions will cover the stages of provision and 
precise details of layout and landscaping.  
 

8.25 NPPF Tests- (b) Alternative Sites. 
Notwithstanding the inclusion of this site within the housing requirement for 
Crowmarsh, in terms of assessing alternative sites for housing development, it is 
important to acknowledge the local constraints. Crowmarsh Gifford is covered by the 
Chilterns AONB which abuts the North Wessex Downs AONB to the west. To the west 
lies the flood plain associated with the River Thames. Planning permission was 
granted on appeal for the development of 150 houses to the north of the village at 
Benson Lane, under appeal on 29 May 2018 (P16/S3608/O), but no other sites or 
areas have been identified as  suitable in the CNP.   
  

8.26 Alternative sites outside of the AONB are not located in a suitable location to allow for 
the expansion of the primary school. Representations have suggested that land to the 
south may be more appropriate however an earlier planning application for housing 
development on the site to the south of the school was refused planning permission 
due to the harmful impact to the AONB (application reference P16/S3665/O).   
 

 NPPF Tests-(c) Impact on environment and mitigation. 
 

8.27 Figure 3 below shows the amount of previously developed land that would be included 
within the redevelopment of the site. The development would involve the removal of 
the caravan sites, which occupy approximately 2.1ha and employment areas which 
occupy approximately 0.52ha. It is considered that the caravan parks detract from the 
AONB (as acknowledged in the Landscape evidence for the Core Strategy). The 
proposals would incorporate  2.1 ha, of new parkland incorporating wildflower meadow 
grass, paths and two areas of play which for the residents and wider community which 
creates landscape, heritage and biodiversity and recreational improvements. The 
Parish Council have indicated their interest in managing this space in the long term 
which can be secured in the s106 agreement. 
  

Page 91



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

 

 
 
Figure 3-Previously developed land identified in hatching. 
 

8.28 The existing village is divided by the A4047, with a pocket of housing to the east of this 
busy road somewhat separated from the main core of the village.  By extending the 
built development up to the western side of the A4074, the development has the 
potential to better integrate this pocket of housing into the village to the benefit of the 
overall social cohesion of the settlement. This would be facilitated by the provision of 
the proposed staggered toucan crossing which would connect the site to the wider 
community and provide a safe crossing point.   
 

8.29 The applicants have worked closely with the Chilterns Conservation Board (CCB) in 
drawing up proposals for the site, and the CCB now raise no objections to the proposed 
scheme (as amended) and acknowledge that this is a reasonable site for development, 
mainly because of its brownfield status, its visual containment and its location opposite 
the primary school and near the functional centre of the village. They acknowledge 
that there is a reasonable case to be made that the detrimental effects could be 
moderated and that there could be some enhancement of the site, providing benefit to 
the wider AONB designation through the improvement of a degraded landscape and 
through the removal of inappropriate landscape planting. It would also provide some 
reconnection of Newnham Manor with its historic parkland setting through the 
provision of the parkland to the south of the site. 
 

8.30 The CCB supported the layout of the scheme that was presented to Planning 
Committee in 2018, commenting that the scheme was greatly improved and a 
landscape-led approach has now been taken. Re-shaping the layout, landscaping and 
materials reduced the impact on views from the higher AONB footpaths to the east. 

Page 92



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

The substantial area of green infrastructure which references the historic parkland of 
the past was welcomed. Through the submission of additional photomontages from 
the key viewpoints, they were satisfied that these demonstrate that the development, 
as amended, is not unduly harmful in terms of impact on AONB views. Whilst further 
amendments have been made to the layout of the scheme, the CCB have not raised 
any objections to these changes and welcome the revised landscape plans.   
 

8.31 This site is the most appropriate for delivering the expansion of the school owing to its 
proximity and its limited landscape harm. The development of the site will also provide 
some benefit to the wider AONB designation through the improvement of a degraded 
landscape and through the removal of inappropriate landscape planting. It would also 
provide some reconnection of Newnham Manor with its historic parkland setting 
through the provision of the parkland to the south of the site. This parkland will be 
available for the public and is a significant benefit.  
 

 Landscape Impact 
8.32 A key consideration in terms of the environment is the landscape impact. The site is 

located in the AONB and therefore great weight should be given to conserving its 
landscape and scenic beauty. The site was included in the Council’s Landscape 
Capacity Assessment: Sites on the Edge of the Larger Villages of South Oxfordshire 
2015. It was assessed as CRO6, which comprises the caravan park, commercial 
elements and hardstanding, and CRO7, which comprises the remainder of the site in 
agricultural use. This assessment found that CRO6 has a medium/high capacity for 
development from a landscape perspective. CRO7 was further split into two sections 
with the western part having a medium capacity to accommodate development and 
the eastern part closest to the A4074 having a medium/low capacity to accommodate 
development with a suggestion that development be contained in the northern part of 
the parcel and open space to the south.  
 

8.33 The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) submitted with the planning 
application explains that the site does not meet the ‘special qualities’ of the AONB as 
defined in the AONB Management Plan. This is due to the use of the site for caravan 
park and commercial purposes as well as some incongruous landscape planting such 
as a conifer belt associated with the former Lister Wilder site. It found that the site has 
quite a high level of visual enclosure and there is very limited visual relationship with 
the AONB. The principle views into the development would be from the east and south, 
particularly one viewpoint from the Ridgeway, with limited visibility from the north and 
west. The Landscape Consultant engaged by the Council to review the LVIA didn’t 
identify any fundamental omissions with the assessment.  
 

8.34 Minor queries raised have been addressed through the submission of additional 
information, and further details/revisions can be dealt with via planning condition.   
 

8.35 In terms of mitigation, the proposed development will be set back from the southern 
boundary, so that it largely follows the suggested development area in the Landscape 
Capacity Assessment. The development on the edge of the built-up area will be of a 
lower density to soften the built edge of the village as it gradually moves into open 
countryside. Existing vegetation along the site boundaries will be retained and 
supplemented by new planting. The coniferous tree belts will be removed and replaced 
with more native species.   
 

8.36 I am satisfied that the amended scheme has reduced the impact on the special 
qualities of the AONB to those already affected by adjacent built form. The 
development itself brings benefits in terms of: provision of additional land for the school 
for outdoor activities and safer, purpose built car parking; provision of open access 

Page 93



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

amenity space comprising parkland and play areas that could be used by the wider 
community; and the provision of the toucan crossing which integrates the development 
with the wider area and makes these areas available to the local community.   
 

 Highways  
8.37 Since the application was previously presented to Planning Committee, the main 

access serving the development site off the A4074 Portway has been revisited due to 
concerns by the Highway Authority regarding conflicting movements between vehicles 
and pedestrians. As a result, amended access details have been developed and 
agreed setting out the details as described in paragraph 3.4 above.  As a result of 
these changes, the County Highways Authority have confirmed that they have no 
objections to the revised scheme subject to appropriate legal agreements, planning 
conditions and informatives. 
 

8.38 The number and size of dwellings proposed would not significantly increase the 
potential for trip generation. 
 

8.39 The Highways Authority have confirmed that they are content with the proposed layout 
of the car park and welcome it as a feature. 
 

8.40 Conditions are recommended to be imposed regarding: new vehicular access; vision 
splay dimensions; estate accesses, driveways and turning areas; cycle parking 
facilities; construction arrangements and traffic management; wheel washing facilities; 
green travel plans; restrictions on garage conversions; drainage; and off-site highways 
works. 
 

 Design and Layout 
8.41 Since the application was last presented to planning committee, some changes have 

been made to the proposed layout. Where possible, parking courts have been 
removed and areas opened up where possible to reduce the opportunity for anti-social 
behaviour. Following the creation of the footpath link from the development to the 
north, the layout has been altered to create a further footpath link/landscaped area 
through the middle of the site. The Councils Urban Design Officer has been involved 
in these discussions and has confirmed that the changes are acceptable.   
 

8.42 Policy DES1 of the SOLP sets out a number of criteria in order to achieve high quality 
development, such as using land efficiently whilst respecting the existing landscape 
character, providing a clear and permeable hierarchy of streets, routes and spaces to 
create convenient ease of movement by all users, ensure that streets and spaces have 
positive relationships with their surroundings, and provide a wide range of housing 
type and tenures. Policy DES2 requires development proposals to take into account 
local context, including local character and existing features.  
 

8.43 The same principles apply to the design of the scheme and the layout is still driven by 
the need to locate the higher density development in the northern part of the site, 
closest to the existing village, and lower density in the southern part, to soften the 
village edge. 
 

8.44 The slightly revised scheme still proposes a substantial parkland located to the south 
of the site that will contain two play areas, formal footpaths, infiltration basins and 
landscape planting. The purpose of the parkland is to provide some green space for 
the development, to recreate the historic parkland of Newnham Manor and to provide 
a buffer between the edge of the village and the AONB. This exceeds the amount of 
open space required for a development of this size. 
 

Page 94



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

8.45 There is an area of green space proposed on the western side of the development 
adjacent to the land to be gifted to the school. This will incorporate existing landscaping 
on the site and will include a play area, which is suitable adjacent to the school. The 
landscape buffer along the northern boundary with Newnham Manor is an important 
feature of the development, helping to mitigate the impact of the development on the 
Manor.  
 

8.46 Appropriate provision has been made for bin storage and for refuse collection. 
  

8.47 In terms of the detailed appearance of the houses, this has been carefully considered 
with input from the AONB Board. The dwellings will all be two storey and of vernacular 
appearance. Corner dwellings generally turn the corner with windows on front and side 
elevations. Boundaries facing onto public areas are to be brick rather than close 
boarded fence, which will vastly improve the street scene and create more consistency 
in the built form. Construction materials will generally consist of facing brick (to be 
confirmed), dark stained horizontal timber cladding on garages and some facades, and 
knapped flint set within lime mortar bed. Roof tiles are likely to be grey slate or red-
brown clay tiles. The proposed materials plan is attached as Appendix 6. 
 

8.48 With regard to density and policy STRAT5 of the SOLP and policy CRP1 and the CNP, 
the development is relatively low density with 12 dwellings per hectare. Whilst this 
demonstrates a low-density development, it takes into consideration the position of the 
site within the AONB. It is considered that the development can accommodate and 
sustain an appropriate amount of development, with high quality design that respects 
local character, taking into account local circumstances and site constraints. 
 

8.49 I am satisfied that the dwellings are of an appropriate density and appearance and that 
the proposed materials are suitable to the AONB location. 
 

 Housing Mix  
8.50 Policy H11 of the SOLP states that “a mix of dwelling types and sizes to meet the 

needs of current and future households will be sought on all new residential 
developments” and that the “mix of housing should have regard to the Council’s latest 
evidence and Neighbourhood Development Plan evidence for the relevant area”. This 
evidence comprises the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) for 
Oxfordshire (April 2014), the Annual Monitoring Report and Crowmarsh 
Neighbourhood Plan policy CRP2-Housing Mix and Tenure. 
 

8.51 Policy CRP2 of the CNP refers to the Housing needs Assessment carried out as part 
of the Plan. This concluded that there was an inadequate provision of starter homes 
in two-bedroom accommodation. The policy therefore requires that new infill homes 
provided for by Policy CRP1 include a majority of 2 bed and 2 bed apartment style 
homes. 
 

8.52 The mix of affordable and market units are presented in paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3 above. 
As demonstrated in table 1 below, the mix of market units is concentrated towards 
larger units. There are however a higher number of smaller units within the affordable 
housing mix. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

Table 1: SHMA and proposed market housing mix  
8.53 
 
 
 
 
 
 

No. of beds. SHMA 
(market) 

SHMA 
required # 

Application Proposal 
 

1 bed 5.7% 3 0 

2 bed 26.7% 16 9 

3 bed 43.4% 26 18 

4+ bed 24.2% 15 33 

    

Total 100% 60 60 
 

8.54 The applicant has explained the reason for the higher proportion of large market 
dwellings in this particular scheme, citing that due to the AONB location of the site, the 
development has been designed to be ‘landscape-led’, to ensure the impact on the 
AONB is minimised. The higher density development has been kept to the north, close 
to the existing village and to the previously developed part of the site. The remainder 
of the site to the south has a lower density as it meets the open space/wildflower 
meadow area, which has necessitated the provision of larger detached units. A denser 
layout here would result in a different appearance from the AONB. 
  

8.55 With regard to meeting housing need, the Authority Monitoring Report 2019/20, dated 
February 2021 (previously known as the Annual Monitoring Report) showed that for 
the permissions granted 2019/2020, more 2 bed units were permitted than required by 
the SHMA target percentage and the amount of 1 bed units was exactly on the SHMA 
target. For market housing, well over double the amount of SHMA recommended 1 
bed units were permitted (16% permitted against the 6% SHMA target percentage), 
slightly more 2 bed units permitted and slightly less 3 bed units were permitted 
compared to the SHMA target percentage. Given the recent delivery of smaller units 
and the sensitive landscape-led nature of the site, in this case I do not consider the 
mix of market dwellings in this specific case to constitute a reason for refusal of 
planning permission. 
 

 Affordable Mix 
8.56 In accordance with Policy H9 of the SOLP 2035, the development proposes  40% 

affordable units. For 100 units, this equates to 40 affordable homes of which 75% (30) 
should be for rent and 25% should be for shared ownership. The proposed affordable 
housing mix is considered acceptable and is mainly distributed evenly across the site. 
Whilst policy H9 now requires a slightly revised tenure mix in view of the previous 
resolution in January 2018, the housing officer is satisfied with the agreed mix being 
retained.  
 

 Heritage Impact 
8.57 Policy CRP4 of the CNP provides for the conservation and enhancement of the natural 

beauty of the countryside and local historic environment.  
 

8.58 The site is adjacent to Newnham Manor, a Grade II listed building. The Manor House 
itself is located approximately 50m to the north of the site. The site was historically part 
of the grounds of Newnham Manor as part of its wider parkland setting. Gradually the 
estate lands have altered from the once open parkland to agricultural land and a 
caravan park, albeit this is located outside of the main view cone experienced from the 
listed building.  
 

8.59 With regard to paragraph 201 of the NPPF, overall, there will be some harm to the 
listed building as a result of development within its historic open rural setting which will 
compromise the relationship of the manor house to its wider lands. As the manor house 
was designed to take in the views to the south, there will be some loss of significance 

Page 96



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

here, in particular as a row of housing aligns with the existing break in mature planting 
of Newnham Murren garden. However, with regard to paragraph 202 of the NPPF this 
is considered to be less than substantial harm. With more detail as to the proposed 
landscaping proposed between the garden and application site, this could soften the 
impact of the proposed development.  
 

8.60 The effects of street lighting at night and in the winter months also needs to be 
considered in terms of its impact on the relationship of the listed building to its rural 
setting and how its experienced. Therefore, conditions will be imposed to require a 
detailed lighting scheme to be submitted for approval by the Council to ensure lighting 
is at a minimum level in order to mitigate the impact of a listed building.  
 

 Trees and Landscaping. 
8.61 The majority of trees within the site are protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 

and the site is located within the AONB, therefore tree cover is important to the 
character and visual amenity of the site. The TPO trees are concentrated in the 
northern part of the site and surround the caravan park. A good many of the TPO trees 
are on the site boundary, though there is a belt running through the north western 
section of the site and a small number of singular trees within the site. A revised 
Arboricultural Assessment supports this application which proposes the majority of 
trees on and around the site retained although nine individual trees are proposed to 
be removed, along with 9 groups of trees and four hedgerows. All tree loss will be 
mitigated by additional planting. 
 

 Noise Impact 
8.62 Further to the application originally brought to planning committee in January 2018, 

and observations from the Councils Environmental Health Officer, an updated road 
traffic noise and impact assessment was undertaken for the site in July 2021 which 
assessed noise from both the road and RAF Benson. The Council is satisfied with the 
results of this noise assessment and the previous noise surveys relating to road traffic 
and aircraft noise from RAF Benson. However, it is recommended that additional 
mitigation be secured under condition to ensure that the windows of certain dwellings 
(1, 2, 25, 26, 27,31,33 and 34) are installed with glazing to a higher acoustic 
performance, in accordance with policies DES6 and ENV11 of the SOLP.  
 

8.63 Concerns have also been expressed from Chandlers Farm Equipment (Formerly Lister 
Wilder) to the south of the application site, regarding the proximity of houses to their 
boundary and the potential for noise complaints arising from activities at the premises. 
The nearest proposed residential property to the existing commercial unit is 
approximately 100m away.   The presence of the commercial unit was acknowledged 
in the noise assessment and it was considered that operational noise was not 
significant.  
 

 Air Quality 
8.64 An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted as additional information as part of 

the planning application. The Assessment specifically considers the suitability of the 
site for residential development and assesses the impact of the construction and 
operation of the development itself on air quality in the surrounding area. It also 
assesses the impact of the changes to the A4074 on air quality. The report finds that 
the impact of development on local air quality is not considered to be significant.  
 

8.65 Based on the increased traffic associated with the development, which may 
contribute to pollution within the area and will cause new impacts on current 
NO2 levels on a moderate level and taking into account the size and location of the 
proposed development nearby Wallingford's Air Quality Management Area, it is 

Page 97



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

recommended that a planning condition is imposed which requires the submission of 
mitigation measures in relation to construction. Electric charging points for vehicles 
will also be required for each dwelling.  
 

 Ecology 
8.66 The application site does not contain any statutory or non-statutory nature 

conservation designations. The impact of the proposed development on local ecology 
has been assessed and with regard to policies ENV3 of the SOLP and CRP5 of the 
CNP, the proposals would not have any significant impacts on important habitats or 
species. The proposed layout has the potential to ensure that the site can deliver a net 
gain for biodiversity i.e. through the planting of native hedgerows and creation of 
wildflower meadow. In order to secure appropriate biodiversity enhancements and to 
ensure that appropriate mitigation is in place to protect the small grass snake 
population, conditions regarding a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy will be imposed. 
The development would also be required to be carried out in accordance with the 
reptile mitigation and enhancement strategy and ecological mitigation submitted with 
the application.   
 

 Flood Risk and surface/foul water drainage. 
8.67 The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (least probability of flooding) and as such, 

there are no objections to the development in relation to flood risk.   
 

8.68 The application does not intend to discharge surface water into the public network. As 
is now standard practice, a detailed scheme for the site would need to incorporate a 
Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS) compliant strategy to ensure that all surface 
water run-off is accommodated within the confines of the site and discharged in a 
controlled manner.  As required by the Council’s drainage consultant, the details of 
this could be secured by condition along with a requirement for a foul water drainage 
scheme to be submitted.  
 

8.69 With regard to foul drainage, Thames Water recognise that this catchment is subject 
to high infiltration flows during certain groundwater conditions. The scale of the 
proposed development doesn’t materially affect the sewer network and such no 
objections are raised; however they do advise that care needs to be taken when 
designing new networks to ensure that they don’t surcharge and cause flooding. In 
the longer term, Thames Water are working along with other partners on a strategy 
to reduce groundwater entering the sewer networks. It is recommended that a 
condition be imposed requiring a development and infrastructure phasing plan to be 
agreed with Thames Water and the LPA to addressing all sewage works upgrades 
and before development can be occupied.  
 

8.70 The Council is satisfied with the drainage strategy proposed for this development 
subject to conditions regarding: the submission of a detailed sustainable drainage 
scheme; a SUD’s compliance report to be prepared by a suitable qualified engineer; 
approval of a detailed adoptable foul water drainage scheme. In response to the new 
objection raised by the Lead Local Flood Authority, the Council is of the view that 
additional infiltration/ permeability tests and detailed strategy can be covered under a 
pre-commencement planning condition.   
 

 Neighbour Amenity and Amenity of future residents 
8.71 The proposed development will not directly affect the amenity of nearby dwellings as 

there are not many dwellings around the periphery of the site. The three dwellings in 
the north western corner of the site (Langfield House, No, 112 The Street and Walled 
Garden) will be bordered by land gifted to the school (which is covered by outline 
planning permission) and by open space. Plot 95 is 13m to the south east of Walled 

Page 98



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

Garden. The dwellings do not directly line up and the only window at first floor will be 
a landing window. Therefore, there will be no issues with overlooking or loss of privacy 
as part of this application.  
 

8.72 Newnham Manor itself is located around 60m from the nearest dwelling. In addition to 
this, there will be significant landscape planting along the boundary.  
 

8.73 The residents of Meadow Cottage and No. 9 Meadow Lane will be separated from the 
development by Meadow Lane and the existing, dense landscape planting with the 
nearest dwelling over 20m from the former and nearly 30m from the latter.  
 

8.74 Hatchery Cottage on Old Reading Road currently backs onto the employment units in 
the Pheasantry, however as a result of this development, will be surrounded mainly by 
open space and to the south, by plot 68 which has been repositioned to address the 
street more within the site. The new dwelling at plot 68 will be situated broadly on the 
footprint of the current employment unit occupied by MS Truck, and will be 
approximately 6.3m to the south east of Hatchery Cottage but backing mainly onto the 
garden rather than property. There is also a substantial row of evergreen trees along 
the boundary, therefore I do not consider there will be any issues regarding loss of 
privacy or loss of light. 
 

 Open Space/Amenity Space. 
8.75 Policy CF3 of the SOLP supports the provision of recreation facilities where they are 

co-located with other community facilities and are well related to the settlements that 
they serve, being sited within or adjacent to settlements. Policy CF5 also requires new 
residential development to provide or contribute towards inclusive and accessible open 
space and play space having regard to the most up to date standards including 
amenity greenspace, allotments and equipped children’s play areas. 
 

8.76 The development provides a mix of public and private spaces. To the south of the main 
built development an area of wildflower grass meadow (known as the Parkland) will 
provide 2.1ha of amenity space. This would include cut vegetation to create informal 
paths for residents. The Parkland would also provide two Local Areas of Natural Plan 
for younger children). Another area of informal open space known as The Green 
(0.38ha) is located at the north of the site which would accommodate a Local Equipped 
Area of Play (LEAP) for older children.  
 

8.77 Revisions to the layout have also focused on the garden sizes and where possible, 
these have been amended to ensure that every property has a good size and shape 
garden which is proportional to the size of the dwelling in accordance with policy DES5 
of the SOLP. Appendix 7, attached shows the dimensions of garden sizes for each 
dwelling. 
 

 Contaminated Land 
8.78 The application is accompanied by a Phase 2 Desk Study Report which identified a 

number of potential sources for contaminated land, making recommendations for 
intrusive investigations. To ensure that any land contamination is addressed during 
any development, it is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to 
conditions regarding a phase risk assessment, remediation strategy and informative 
regarding the identification of contamination.  
 

 Archaeology 
8.79 The site is located in an area of archaeological potential as identified from the desk-

based assessment, a geophysical survey and a trenched evaluation undertaken for 
the site. The evaluation recorded a small number of archaeological features across 

Page 99



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

parts of the site and a staged programme of archaeological investigation will need to 
be undertaken ahead of any development. This will be secured via planning condition.  
  

 Loss of tourist facility  
8.80 Policy EMP13 emphasises the importance of existing visitor accommodation in the 

District and indicates that development resulting in the loss of sites or premises used 
as visitor accommodation will only be considered acceptable where is can be 
adequately demonstrated that the business is no longer viable and has no reasonable 
prospect of continuing and alternative visitor accommodation businesses have been 
fully explored. 
 

8.81 The application would have previously been assessed under policy H16 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011, which stated that planning permission would only be 
granted for the redevelopment of residential caravan or mobile home sites for 
permanent residential development if such development would comply with policies in 
that plan.  
 

8.82 As explained above, the application site is comprised of four parcels of land using as 
touring caravan facilities which provide a total of 56 touring caravan pitches. The 
Council’s Economic Development Team would normally require more evidence to 
demonstrate that a business is no longer viable, in the form of business activity for the 
part 3 years, or that the site had been actively marketed to test potential purchasers 
of the business. Whilst the application is not accompanied by a viability report, the 
agent has stated that these current facilities are outdated and there has been a 
shortage of enquiries to the Newnham Manor site for short term holiday pitch 
occupiers. The agent has informed us that passing trade is relatively low (about 5 
visitors per week) and this is due to the proximity of the more popular Bridge Villa 
Caravan site is situated approximately 600 metres away to the west, next to the river 
Thames. Bridge Villa larger, more modern and is licensed for 111 touring caravans for 
holiday and recreational use for 11 months of the year.  
 

8.83 The loss of tourist facilities with regard to policy EMP13 is regrettable, and in the 
absence of any detailed viability regarding the success of the business, the decision 
to grant planning permission resulting in the loss of a tourist facility is finely balanced 
and needs to be weighed against the fact that the site has not been utilised at its full 
capacity and that there are alternative facilities situated very close by.  
 

 Loss of employment units.  
8.84 Policy EMP3 of the SOLP provides for the protection of existing employment land. 

Proposals for the redevelopment or change of use of employment land to non-
employment uses will only be permitted if the applicants can demonstrate that any 
employment use is no longer viable and it is evidenced that there is no market interest 
in the site following one year of active and effective marketing, or the development 
would bring about significant improvements to the living conditions of nearby residents, 
or to the environment. In assessing this, the Council will consider whether there is a 
realistic prospect of mitigating the detrimental effects of continuing employment use. 

8.85 The White Store and adjacent building have been vacant for over 5 years and both 
sites have planning permission for residential use under P12/S2541/EX and 
P12/S2542/EX, therefore assessing its use for employment is compromised due to 
this change of use to residential already having been granted.  
  

8.86 The remaining unit is a farm type barn from the 1950’s with asbestos roofs which is 
nearly at the end of its useful life in term of commercial occupancy and not suitable for 
modern commercial use. This a factor in consideration of its continued suitability as an 
employment use. It is currently let on a short-term commercial lease, however it is 

Page 100



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

understood that if planning permission is granted for this development the current 
occupier will vacate the premises on 3 months’ notice as their business model is no 
longer productive for the owner. The remaining employment unit is currently 
surrounded by a tourist facility to the north and east and residential (Hatchery Cottage) 
to the west. Whilst the loss of this employment unit is regrettable, it is considered that 
given the small, limited nature of the facility, the poor/dated condition of the building 
and their location within a mainly residential area, it’s retention as an employment use 
would be hard to justify given the housing benefits, community facilities created and 
landscape improvements to previously developed land.     
 

 Energy Efficiency/Sustainability.  
 

8.87 In accordance with policies DES8 and DES10 of the SOLP the application is 
accompanied by an Energy Statement which meets the requirements of this policy. 
This mainly proposes the use of air source heat pumps in this development as this fits 
with the agenda of phasing out fossil fuel boilers and it better for bigger houses with 
larger space heating requirements. Whilst photovoltaics could be included in the 
project this would need to be assessed in landscape terms.  A compliance condition 
will be imposed which requires the development to be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.  
 

8.88 Infrastructure  
On-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement 

 On-site infrastructure is to be secured through a legal agreement under S106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). Specific items to be included in 
the S106 are (all contributions are to be indexed linked from the date the costs were 
prepared): 
 

 Affordable Housing, as specified in the report 

 The laying out and landscaping of the school land following approval of 
reserved matters, the design of which to be agreed by the District and County 
Council and Oxfordshire Diocesan Board of Education. 

 The transfer of the school land to the Oxfordshire Diocesan Board of Education 
for use by the school. 

 Provision of open space and play areas for use by the public  

 Future management and maintenance of open space 

 Street naming and numbering - £ 2,900 

 Provision of recycling bins - £18,600 

 Provision and maintenance of Public Art – £30,600 

 Monitoring fees - £5,309 
 

8.89 As advised by the County Highways Officer, the following site-specific highways 
contributions would also need to be secured under a S106: 
- Public transport services contributions towards enhancing the Oxford-Reading 

bus service - £103,700 
- Public Transport infrastructure-£18,887 
- Traffic Regulation Order-£5,000 
- Travel Plan monitoring fee - £1,426 
- S278 off-site works and Traffic Regulation Orders 
- Monitoring fee for County Contributions 
 

8.90 The Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (OCCG) have requested a contribution 
towards surgery alterations or capital projects to support patient services. The 
development will be liable for CIL and for this type of development the Council do not 

Page 101



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

seek S106 contributions for health. In accordance with the Council’s CIL Spending 
Strategy, healthcare infrastructure is secured under the community infrastructure levy. 
 

 Off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

8.91 The Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1 April 2016.  New 
dwellings are CIL liable at a rate of £150 per sq. metre (index linked from 2016).  The 
money collected can be pooled with contributions from other development sites to fund 
a wide range of off-site infrastructure to support growth, including schools, transport, 
community, leisure and health facilities.     
 
If the application were to be approved, under the CIL regulations, the Parish Council 
would receive a proportion of the CIL money.  This could be spent on infrastructure 
projects that are priorities for the community or could contribute towards strategic 
infrastructure.   
 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION AND PLANNING BALANCE 
9.1 The report describes the proposals in full and assesses the proposals against the 

relevant material planning considerations which have changed since the resolution to 
grant planning permission in January 2018. Since the adoption of the SOLP and CNP, 
the site is now included within the settlement boundary for Crowmarsh Gifford and is 
therefore in accordance with the development plan.  
 

9.2 The proposed development remains the locally preferred choice of site to meet the 
housing needs of the area, as stated in the neighbourhood plan. In terms of AONB 
policy, the site is major development within the AONB and new housing would not 
normally be permitted unless there are exceptional circumstances. The exceptional 
circumstances are the provision of the school land which could not be provided by 
another development located elsewhere. It would also offer significant benefits to the 
local community in the form of the parkland and through the provision of the toucan 
crossing, sustainably connecting up the parts of Crowmarsh Gifford that are currently 
divided by the A4074. The employment/tourist areas are not utilised to capacity and 
offer opportunities for landscape improvement which complement the AONB. 
 

9.3 In assessing the application, I have had regard to paragraph 176 of the NPPF which 
requires great weight to be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in 
AONBs. As set out in the report, the proposal would cause localised permanent 
moderate adverse harm to the AONB landscape and great weight is given to this 
harm. The detrimental effects on the landscape can be moderated by the retention 
and enhancement of boundary vegetation.   
 

9.4 I have also had regard to paragraphs 38 and 105 of the NPPF which requires Local 
Planning Authorities to approach decision-taking in a positive way to foster the 
delivery of sustainable development where possible.  The three strands of sustainable 
development are set out at paragraph 8 of the NPPF as economic, social and 
environmental.  All these have been considered throughout the report and my 
conclusions against each of the strands is summarised below. 
 

9.5 In social and economic terms, the development will result in the loss of caravan 
pitches and a building used for employment. However, the proposed housing would 
provide construction jobs and some local investment during construction, as well as 
longer term expenditure in the local economy. The proposal would contribute towards 
the objective to significantly boost the supply of housing, consistent with paragraph 

Page 102



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

20 of the NPPF, by providing 100 houses in a high-quality environment, including 40% 
affordable units.  
 

9.6 I have given weight to the less than substantial harm to the setting of the of the nearby 
grade 2 listed manor house and to the loss of trees, including those protected by a 
Tree Preservation Order. However, I consider that sufficient mitigation can be put in 
place and that this harm is justified in the public interest. 
 
Other aspects I consider can be mitigated so that they have a neutral benefit/harm 
include air quality, noise impact, ecology, flooding, and highway impact. 
 

9.7 Paragraph 177 of the NPPF provides that major development within the AONB 
should be refused planning permission except in exceptional circumstances. 
However, I have given weight to the exceptional circumstances of this particular 
application. I consider the harm to the environment and landscape to be moderate 
but outweighed by the benefits of the development.  
 

9.8 Overall, placing all of the relevant material considerations in the balance, but 
particularly the exceptional circumstances of enabling the expansion of the school, 
the provision of parkland and the improved connectivity to the eastern side of 
Crowmarsh Gifford planning permission should be granted. 
 

9.9 The approval of this site would make a small but important contribution to the Council’s 
5-year supply of housing land as the applicant has indicated that all 100 homes will be 
delivered within the next five years. The NPPF recognises at paragraph 69 that small and 
medium sized sites can make an important contribution to meeting the housing 
requirement of an area and are often built-out relatively quickly. 
 

 
 RECOMMENDATION 
 Delegate to the Head of Planning to grant planning permission subject to 

completion of a Section 106 agreement to cover the matters set out in the report  
and the following conditions: 
 

 1. Commencement of development – full permission 
2. Commencement of development – outline  
3. Submission of reserved matters application for the school land 
4. Approved plans  
5. Sample materials (All) 
6. Removal of permitted development rights for extensions  
7. Removal of permitted development rights for outbuildings  
8. No conversion of garage accommodation  
9. Submission of details of landscaping including hard surfacing and 

boundary treatment 
10. Landscape Management Plan 
11. Detailed tree protection 
12. Hours of operation for construction 
13. Construction Traffic onto A4074 only 
14. Wheel washing facilities 
15. Construction Traffic Management Plan 
16. Travel Plan 
17. Construction Method Statement 
18. Off-site Highway Works 
19. Noise-Acoustic Glazing 
20. External Lighting 

Page 103



 
South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 15 December 2021 

21. Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
22. Efficient Gas Boilers 
23. Ecological Mitigation 
24. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan (BEP) 
25. Contamination phased risk assessment  
26. Contamination remediation strategy 
27. Foul drainage works (details required)  
28. SUD’s compliance report 
29. Sustainable drainage scheme 
30. Adoptable foul drainage scheme 
31. Thames Water Infrastructure and phasing plan 
32. New vehicular access onto A4094 Portway 
33. Vision Splay Dimensions at Access 
34. Vision Splay Dimensions at Internal junctions 
35. Estate Accesses, driveways and turning areas 
36. Cycle Parking Facilities 
37. Off-site highway works (implementation as approved) 
38. Archaeological written scheme of investigation  
39. Programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation  

 
  
  

Author:  Amanda Rendell 
Contact No: 01235 422600 
Email:  planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Page 104



Page 105

Agenda Item 10P16/S3852/FUL

SAV_RendellA
Textbox
Appendix1- Location Plan. 



Page 106

SAV_RendellA_1
Textbox
Appendix 2-Proposed Site Layout



ACCESS TO TIE
INTO AVANT

HOMES MASTERPLAN.

3.0m RAISED TABLE
PEDESTRIAN AND

CYCLE CROSSING.

EXISTING PUBLIC RIGHT
OF WAY TIED INTO

PROPOSED FOOTWAY.

EXISTING BOLLARDS TO
BE RETAINED. PROPOSED STAGGERED

TOUCAN CROSSING.

REDUCTION OF GHOST ISLAND RIGHT INLINE
WITH CHANGE TO SPEED LIMIT.

PROPOSED SPLITTER ISLAND.

EXISTING PEDESTRIAN AND CYCLE CROSSING AND
REFUGE ISLAND REMOVED AS PART OF PROPOSALS.
CROSSING POINT IS RE-PROVIDED IN THE FORM OF
TOUCAN CROSSING TO THE NORTH.

DEPARTURE FROM STANDARD FOR
GHOST ISLAND DIMENSIONS AGREED WITH
OXFORD COUNTY COUNCIL.

PHYSICAL ISLAND TO
PREVENT RIGHT TURNERS.

EXTENSION OF EXISTING
REFUGE ISLAND.

GRASS VERGE TO
BE REINSTATED.

BUS STOP TO BE RELOCATED
SOUTH OF TOUCAN CROSSING.
KESSEL KERBS TO BE INSTATED.

DROP KERBS, GUARD RAILING AND
PEDESTRIAN CROSSING FACILITIES

TO BE REMOVED. FULL HEIGHT
KERBS TO INSTALLED.

Checked

Drawing Issue Status

Date of 1st Issue

Drawing Number

Designed

Revision

DrawnMark Revision ChkdDate

File Location: \\pba\cbh\projects\35876 newnham manor, crowmarsh gifford\transport\drawings, pdfs, gis, photos and video\cad\dwgs\35876_5501_004, 005 & 006.dwg

UTILITIES NOTE: The position of any existing public or private sewers, utility services, plant or apparatus shown on this
drawing is believed to be correct, but no warranty to this is expressed or implied.  Other such plant or apparatus may also
be present but not shown.  The Contractor is therefore advised to undertake their own investigation where the presence
of any existing sewers, services, plant or apparatus may affect their operations.

SCALING NOTE:  Do not scale from this drawing.  If in doubt, ask.

Reproduced from/based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey 
on behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office. Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Licence No.                         Year of Publication           Owner/Purchaser of Mapping

user name: charlie eadle

Offices throughout
the UK and Europe

  Peter Brett Associates LLP

www.peterbrett.com

READING
Tel:  01189 500 761

Approved

Appd

Drawn

NEWNHAM MANOR, CROWMARSH
PROPOSED ACCESS DESIGN

AVANT 
HOMES

FOR INFORMATION

35876/5501/004 D

25/09/2018

1:500

BH / CE CE

DT -

A SITE BOUNDARY ADDED 26.09.18 JHC DT DT

B REVISED JUNCTION DESIGN FOLLOWING OCC MEETING 04.10.18 BH DT DT

C MINOR AMENDMENTS TO JUNCTION DESIGN FOLLOWING OCC COMMENTS 08.10.18 BH DT DT

PBA LLP0100031673 2018

Client

A2 Scale

NOTES:

1. PROPOSED JUNCTION AND DESIGNATED RIGHT TURN FACILITY (GHOST
ISLAND) HAS BEEN DESIGNED IN LINE WITH DMRB 30MPH STANDARDS

2. DIVERSION TO NATIONAL CYCLE ROUTE 5 (NCN 5) IS PROPOSED THROUGH
THE TOUCAN CROSSING ACROSS PORT WAY (A4074)

PROPOSED CHANGE OF SPEED /
GATEWAY FEATURE.

PROPOSED ACCESS AND
AMENDMENTS TO COX'S LANE
JUNCTION.

A4074 PORT WAY PROPOSED
AMENDMENTS IN CONTEXT.

VIEWPORT AT 1:2000 SCALE

KEY:

EXISTING HIGHWAY OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

SITE BOUNDARY

PROPOSED HIGHWAY WORKS

EWFWF
D AMENDMENTS TO DESIGN FOLLOWING STAGE 1 RSA 11.10.18 BH DT DT

Page 107

SAV_RendellA_2
Textbox
Appendix 3-Proposed Access Design



Page 108

SAV_RendellA_3
Textbox
Appendix 4-Proposed Junction Landscape Design



Page 109

SAV_RendellA_4
Textbox
Appendix 5-Indicative School Land Layout



D
 
 
 
   
 A
dd
iti
on
al
 S
la
te
 ro
of
s 
ad
de
d 
po
st
  
 
10
/0
5/
17

 
 
 
 
VV
M
 R
ev
ie
w

E 
 
 
 
D
ou
bl
e 
G
ar
ag
e 
ad
de
d 
to
 p
lo
t 1
4 
 
 
12
/0
5/
17

F 
 
 
 
 
 

24
/1
1/
17
  
 
 
 

Am
en
dm
en
ts
 m
ad
e 
in
 re
sp
on
se
 to
 p
la
nn
er
s 

co
m
m
en
ts
 d
at
ed
 1
6.
11
.1
7

Pl
ot
s 
57
 &
 5
8 
re
po
sit
io
ne
d 
to
 p
ro
vid
e 
a 
gr
ea
te
r 

di
st
an
ce
 b
et
we
en
 g
ab
le
 
wi
nd
ow
s.
Pl
ot
 6
3 
ha
s 

be
en
 h
an
de
d 
to
 a
vo
id
 c
la
sh
in
g 
of
 g
ab
le
 w
in
do
ws
 

wi
th
 p
lo
t 6
2.
 B
ric
k 
wa
ll a
dd
ed
 a
dj
ac
en
t t
o 
pl
ot
 6
3 

to
 th
e 
re
ar
 g
ar
de
ns
 o
f p
lo
ts
 5
7,
 5
8,
 5
9 
& 
63
.

to
 th
e 
re
ar
 g
ar
de
ns
 o
f p
lo
ts
 5
7,
 5
8,
 5
9 
& 
63
.

Pl
ot
 5
8 
ha
nd
ed
 to
 a
vo
id
 c
la
sh
in
g 
of
 g
ab
le
 w
in
do
ws
.

Pl
ot
 3
6 
ha
nd
ed
 to
 a
vo
id
 c
la
sh
in
g 
of
 g
ab
le
 w
in
do
ws
.

Pl
ot
 3
6,
 4
4 
& 
59
 g
ab
le
 w
in
do
w 
ex
clu
de
d 
to
 p
re
ve
nt
 

cla
sh
in
g.

Pl
ot
 2
8 
ga
bl
e 
wi
nd
ow
 e
xc
lu
de
d 
to
 p
re
ve
nt
 c
la
sh
in
g 

wi
th
 p
lo
t 2
9.

Pl
ot
s 
40
 &
 4
1 
ha
nd
ed
 to
 p
re
ve
nt
 g
ab
le
 w
in
do
ws
 

Pl
ot
s 
40
 &
 4
1 
ha
nd
ed
 to
 p
re
ve
nt
 g
ab
le
 w
in
do
ws
 

cla
sh
in
g.

Pl
ot
s 
88
 &
 8
9 
st
re
et
 fa
cin
g,
 g
ab
le
 e
nd
 w
in
do
ws
 

ad
de
d 
to
 im
pr
ov
e 
st
re
et
 s
ce
ne
.

Pl
ot
 h
an
di
ng
s 
ad
de
d 
to
 p
la
nn
in
g 
la
yo
ut
 fo
r c
la
rit
y.

G
ro
un
d 
flo
or
 a
nd
 fi
rs
t g
ab
le
 w
in
do
ws
 a
nn
ot
at
ed
 

wi
th
 c
ol
ou
re
d 
cir
cle
s 
to
 s
ho
w 
wi
nd
ow
 p
os
itio
ns
 

re
la
tiv
e 
to
 a
dj
ac
en
t p
lo
ts
 p
lu
s 
lo
ca
tio
ns
 o
f 

re
la
tiv
e 
to
 a
dj
ac
en
t p
lo
ts
 p
lu
s 
lo
ca
tio
ns
 o
f 

ob
sc
ur
ed
 g
la
zin
g.
St
re
et
 tr
ee
s 
po
sit
io
ne
d 
al
on
g 

pa
rk
in
g 
co
ur
t w
al
l b
eh
in
d 
pl
ot
 2
5 
to
 im
pr
ov
e 

st
re
et
 s
ce
ne
.

PR
O
PO
SE
D
 B
U
IL
D
IN
G
S

B 
   
   
   
   
   
 A
ll 
re
nd
er
 p
ro
pe
rti
es
 re
m
ov
ed
 a
nd
   
   
   
 1
7/
03
/1
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 ti
m
be
r b
oa
rd
 re
du
ce
d 
to
 a
nc
illa
ry

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 b
ui
ld
in
gs
 a
nd
 g
ar
ag
es
 o
nl
y

C
 
 
 
 
 
 
 A
dd
iti
on
al
 s
la
te
 ro
of
in
g 
m
at
er
ia
l s
ho
w
n 
  2
1/
04
/1
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 fo
llo
w
in
g 
co
m
m
en
ts
 re
ci
ev
ed
 d
ur
in
g 
si
te

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 v
is
it 
m
ee
tin
g 
w
ith
 A
O
N
B/
C
hi
lte
rn
s 
Bo
ar
d 

G
  
 
 
 
 
 B
ou
nd
ar
y 
lin
e 
ex
te
nd
ed
 to
 in
cl
ud
e 
   
   
 2
7/
11
/1
7

   
   
   
   
   
   
 s
ch
oo
l l
an
d

K 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ju
nc
tio
n 
ad
de
d 
to
 la
yo
ut
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
13
/0
1/
20

J 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Si
te
 la
yo
ut
 u
pd
at
ed
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16
/1
2/
19

H
 
 
 
 
 
   
Si
te
 la
yo
ut
 u
pd
at
ed
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
18
/1
0/
19

H

A 
   
   
   
   
   
  R
ev
is
io
ns
 to
 m
at
er
ia
ls
/ro
of
in
g 
   
   
   
   
   
 2
8/
11
/1
6

A
3

J 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110

SAV_RendellA_5
Textbox

SAV_RendellA_6
Textbox
Appendix 6-Materials Plan



Page 111

SAV_RendellA_7
Textbox
Appendix 7 -Garden Sizes



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S0047/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 15.1.2021 
 PARISH WATLINGTON 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Anna Badcock 
 APPLICANT Country Snugs LTD 
 SITE Grove Farm, Patemore Lane, Pishill, RG9 6HH 
 PROPOSAL The erection of 5 holiday pods, maintenance 

building, managers flat and associated landscaping 
and parking (as amended to realign maintenance 
building). 

 OFFICER Tom Wyatt 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 In line with the council’s scheme of delegation this application is referred to Planning 

Committee due to the objection from Watlington Parish Council.  The application was 
also called in to Committee by the local ward member.    
 

1.2 The application site, which is shown on the copy of the OS plan attached as 
Appendix A, extends to an area of approximately 0.5 hectares.  The applicant also 
owns a larger area of associated pastoral farmland to the north and west of the site 
extending to an approximate area of 4 hectares.  The site is located within the 
countryside around the small and scattered settlement of Pishill and forms part of the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).   
 

1.3 The application site comprises vacant agricultural buildings with a main access and 
secondary access into the site from the adjoining public highway (B480 – Patemore 
Lane).  The proposal seeks planning permission for the demolition of all of the existing 
buildings and the redevelopment of the site to provide tourist accommodation in the 
form of five identical one bedroom pods on the valley floor to the west of the retained 
access supported by a new car port and maintenance building with manager’s flat on 
the parcel of land to the east of the access.  Copies of the plans showing the 
proposed development are attached as Appendix B whilst other documentation 
associated with the application and all of the consultation responses can be viewed on 
the council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk.  

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Watlington Parish Council – Objects for the following reasons:  
- The site is agricultural land within the Chilterns AONB  
- Pishill is not in the council’s settlement hierarchy and is not a sustainable location for 
  development.   
- Extensive views of the site from the Chilterns Way 
- Development would appear incongruous in the context of the agricultural and wooded 
  landscape.  
- Design and form not in keeping with the surroundings 
- The site is prone to flooding 
- Detrimental impact on biodiversity 
- Light spillage from the pods’ glazing 
- No local need for additional tourist accommodation 
- The proposal does not represent farm diversification 
- There is no economic benefit to the local area 

Page 113

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S0047/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
 
2.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.6 
 
2.7 
 
 
2.8 
 
 
 
 
2.9 
 
 
2.10 
 
 
2.11 
 
 

- Adverse noise pollution 
- Insufficient parking  
- Lack of renewable energy generation 
- Lack of safe access for users of the public rights of way 
- Car port too close to the adjacent woodland 
- The proposed vehicular access is unsafe 
- Adverse impact on air quality to the detriment of the neighbouring residents 
 
Pishill with Stonor Parish Council – Objects for the following reasons:  
- The proposal does not conserve the AONB 
- The site is not sustainable and visitors will be car reliant 
- Light pollution in a dark area 
- Vehicular access is dangerous 
- The site is prone to flooding 
- Design and concept is not appropriate in this location 
 
Swyncombe Parish Council – Objects due to the impact on the AONB and the site 
being unsuitable for holiday pods.  The proposal would also result in increased traffic 
movements, noise and pollution, including light pollution.   
 
Chilterns Conservation Board – The pods should cover a land area that aligns with 
the existing buildings.  There is an opportunity for chalk grassland enhancement on the 
wider site. Any requirement for visibility splays could erode the frontage of the site.  Any 
external lighting will be detrimental to the AONB.  
 
The site is highly representative of the prevailing landscape character here (Landscape 
Character Area 9 Chiltern Ridges and Valley) within the recent Lepus Study for SODC 
Landscape Character Assessment for the SOLP.  
 
Countryside Officer (South and Vale) – No objections subject to biodiversity 
enhancements being secured by condition. The habitats on site are not considered to 
be a constraint to development and it is considered that potential impacts on species 
can be readily mitigated.  Development associated with the proposed car parking area 
in the east of the site would not encroach upon the ancient woodland buffer more than 
existing built development. 
 
Drainage - (South and Vale) – No objections subject to conditions.  
 
Forestry Officer (South and Vale) – No objections subject to landscaping and tree 
protection conditions.   
 
Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objections subject to 
conditions regarding visibility splays, turning and parking and closure of existing 
access.  The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway 
network.  
 
CPRE - (Rights of Way) – Concerns raised about the conflict between users of the 
site’s vehicular access and the public right of way.  
 
Chiltern Society – The proposal would be contrary to Section 85 of the Countryside 
and Rights of Way Act 2000.  
 
South Oxfordshire District of CPRE – The site is not in a suitable location for the 
development. The development will have a negative impact on the AONB and would be 

Page 114



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

 
 
 
2.12 

highly visible from public rights of way. Harm to nocturnal wildlife and the dark skies of 
the AONB.  
 
Third Party Representations – 20 representations have been received raising 
objections to the proposal on the following grounds:  
- Harm to the landscape qualities of the AONB 
- Impact on highway safety with observations regarding the speed of traffic including 
cyclists 
- There are a lack of local facilities 
- Light and noise pollution 
- Impact on the safety of users of the Chiltern Way 
- Loss of farming potential and continued agricultural use of adjacent land is difficult 
- The design of the development is not in keeping with the surroundings 
- Concern about maintenance of the green roofs 
- Impact on local wildlife 
- Concern about potential impact on archaeological features 
- Smoke from wood burners  
- The site is prone to flooding 
- The site is unsustainable for the proposed use 
- No benefits to the local community 
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P20/S1195/FUL - Withdrawn (17/12/2020) 

The erection of 6 holiday pods and associated landscaping and parking. 
 
P19/S3293/PEM - Advice provided (03/12/2019) 
Conversion of 3 barns to either market dwellings or holiday let and demolition of other 
outbuildings as shown on submitted aerial view. 
 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 The site is within a sensitive area (AONB) but the scale of the development is not 

such to require an Environmental Statement.   
 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

STRAT1 – The Overall Strategy 
EMP10 – Development in Rural Areas 
EMP11 – Tourism 
EMP12 – Caravan and Camping Sites 
TRANS2 – Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
TRANS4 – Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans 
TRANS5 – Consideration of Development Proposals 
INF4 – Water Resources 
ENV1 – Landscape and Countryside 
ENV2 – Biodiversity – Designated Sites, Priority Habitats and Species 
ENV3 – Biodiversity 
ENV11 – Pollution – Impact from Existing and/or Previous Land Uses 
ENV12 – Pollution – Impact of Development on Human Heath, the Natural Environment 
EP3 – Waste Collection and Recycling 
EP4 – Flood Risk 
DES1 – Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2 – Enhancing Local Character 
DES6 – Residential Amenity  

Page 115

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S1195/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S3293/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

DES7 – Efficient Use of Resources 
DES8 – Promoting Sustainable Design 
 

5.2 Watlington Neighbourhood Plan 
P2 – Transport 
P3 – Conserve and Enhance the Natural Environment 
P7 - Employment 

  
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 
Chilterns AONB Management Plan  
Chilterns Buildings Design Guide 

  
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

 
5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 
 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 

 Principle of the development 

 Impact on the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area 

 Impact on the amenity of neighbouring residents 

 Highway access and parking 

 Impact on Protected Species, Trees and Biodiversity 

 Energy efficiency 

 Drainage 
 

 
 
6.2 

The Principle of the Development 
 
Policy EMP11 of the SOLP relates to the provision of tourist facilities, including visitor 
accommodation.  However, this Policy seeks to locate such facilities within the built up 
areas of the district’s towns, and larger and smaller villages.  Pishill is not such a 
settlement.  Nevertheless, the Policy also allows for small scale development outside of 
these settlements in locations such as the application site ‘to support the visitor 
economy, including farm diversification and equestrian development….provided that 
proposals are in keeping with the scale and character of the locality…larger 
developments will only be supported in exceptional circumstances’. This proposal is for 
5 single bedroomed holiday pods and supporting development, which I do not consider 
represents a ‘larger’ development in the context of Policy EMP11.  
 

6.3 The Hotel Needs Assessment 2014 was undertaken as part of the evidence base for 
the SOLP.  At Para. 8.2.1, following national trends, it identifies potential opportunities 
for visitor accommodation to enhance the visitor economy, and this includes the 
conversion of redundant farm and rural buildings to holiday cottages and cottage 
complexes and the development of holiday lodges along with camping pod and 

Page 116



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

glamping sites.  The assessment states that such development could provide a 
significant benefit in terms of rural economic development and job creation.  
 

6.4 Policy EMP10 of the SOLP is also of relevance to this proposal.  The Policy supports 
the creation and expansion of rural businesses and states:  
 
The Council will: 
i) support the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and enterprise 
in rural areas through conversion of existing buildings; 
ii) promote the sustainable development and diversification of agricultural and other 
land-based rural businesses; 
iii) support sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit businesses, 
communities and visitors in rural areas and which respect the character of the 
countryside. This will include supporting the provision and expansion of tourist and 
visitor facilities in appropriate locations where identified needs are not met by existing 
facilities in rural service centres. 
 

6.5 Policy EMP10 reflects government policy guidance contained within the NPPF.  Para. 
81 of the NPPF states:  
 
Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses 
can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to 
support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business 
needs and wider opportunities for development. 
 
Para. 84 of the NPPF states: 
 
Planning policies and decisions should enable: 
(a) the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both 
through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings; 
(b) the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural 
businesses; 
(c) sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the character of 
the countryside; and 
(d) the retention and development of accessible local services and community facilities, 
such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, 
public houses and places of worship 
 
Whilst Para. 85 states: 
 
Planning policies and decisions should recognise that sites to meet local business and 
community needs in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond existing 
settlements, and in locations that are not well served by public transport. In these 
circumstances it will be important to ensure that development is sensitive to its 
surroundings, does not have an unacceptable impact on local roads and exploits any 
opportunities to make a location more sustainable (for example by improving the scope 
for access on foot, by cycling or by public transport). The use of previously developed 
land, and sites that are physically well-related to existing settlements, should be 
encouraged where suitable opportunities exist. 
 

6.6 The application site is occupied by vacant and somewhat derelict agricultural buildings.  
Agricultural buildings and land are excluded from the definition of previously developed 
land set out in the NPPF.  However, this does not conceal the fact that the buildings are 
in situ and are no longer required for active farming.  Subject to structural surveys the 
conversion of some of the buildings to other uses such as dwellings could be 

Page 117



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

acceptable in principle. However, in my view the redevelopment of the site would 
present a more appropriate option, and it follows that there is an opportunity to 
redevelop the vacant site that currently makes no contribution to the rural economy with 
an active use that would provide such benefits if the impact on the character and 
appearance and amenities of the area are acceptable. 
 

6.7 Whilst the proposed holiday ‘pods’ are permanent structures and offer self-catering 
accommodation, they are very small in size and would not be suitable for permanent 
occupation.  The pods would not be dissimilar to more standard mobile home or 
glamping pod tourist accommodation typically found within rural areas in terms of the 
scale and layout of the development.  Policy EMP12 of the SOLP is permissive towards 
the provision of caravan and camping sites within rural areas, and this policy also 
recognises that permanent buildings will often be required to support such uses.   
 

6.8 In conclusion I recognise that the proposed ‘pods’ represent permanent self-catering 
units in the countryside and would not normally be permitted having regard to Policy 
EMP10 of the SOLP.  However, when taking the development plan policies as a whole 
and the more permissive stance of the NPPF into account, I consider that the proposal 
represents an opportunity to redevelop a vacant and despoiled site in the countryside 
with a form of development that would aid the local visitor economy. Several objections 
have opined that the development would not bring benefits to the local community.  
However, a district wide approach needs to be taken, and the provision of visitor 
accommodation in the area would benefit the economy generally in terms of businesses 
servicing the accommodation and businesses benefitting from increased visitor 
numbers such as local pubs, retail and visitor attractions.   
  

6.9 A managers flat is also proposed on the site.  This represents a permanent residential 
unit on the site.  The manager’s flat is clearly linked to the proposed rural business and 
this functional link can be secured by condition.  Policy H19 of the SOLP and Para. 80 
of the NPPF allow for housing to support the functional requirements of rural business.  
Given the nature of the proposed business I consider that a manager’s flat is justified 
here.  Usually for a new business linked residential accommodation should be provided 
in a temporary structure such as a mobile home for a temporary period of time 
(normally 3 years).  However, in this case the proposed pods and other buildings on the 
site are designed to be permanent, and the managers flat is proposed within the 
maintenance building and not as a standalone detached dwelling, which could be more 
easily divorced from the remainder of the development.   
 

 
 
6.10 

Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Site and Surrounding Area 
 
The site lies within the AONB, and the NPPF (Para. 176) states that ‘great weight’ 
should be given to the conservation and enhancement of the landscape and scenic 
beauty of these areas. This requirement is echoed within Policy ENV1 of the SOLP.  
Whilst the site is within a deeply rural part of the AONB it is not isolated from other 
development.  The site has a long frontage with the adjacent public highway, and there 
are individual dwellings positioned opposite the site and at regular points along the road 
as it extends down the valley towards the main part of Pishill and Stonor beyond.  
Furthermore, there are several vacant buildings on the site ranging from relatively 
derelict pole barns to modern more substantial concrete framed buildings.   
 

6.11 Having regard to the South Oxfordshire Landscape Character Assessment 2017 the 
site lies within the ‘Chilterns Ridges and Valley’ Landscape Character Area, which 
covers an area of land forming part of the Chilterns dip slope, from the Aston Rowant 
nature reserve in the north, to the town of Henley-on-Thames to the south. This 
character area is bound by the top of the Chilterns escarpment to the west. Key 

Page 118



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

characteristics of this character area are an undulating landscape defined by strong 
valleys, steep valleys sides supporting woodland, extensive areas of ancient woodland, 
agricultural land including arable and pasture located on the lower valley sides and 
bottoms.  The pattern of settlement in the Chilterns is typically one of small hamlets and 
farms scattered amongst extensive woods and commons. Most of the settlements are 
located on the ridges or within the valleys and have a typically linear form.   
 

6.12 The existing agricultural buildings on the site are visually prominent from the adjacent 
public highway and are not attractive buildings within the landscape.  However, 
evidently they are viewed in context with the surrounding rural landscape and are not 
incongruous in the local scene.  Nevertheless, the buildings are now vacant with little 
prospect of being used for agricultural purposes in the foreseeable future.  As I have 
explained above, I consider that there is scope to redevelop the site for an alternative 
use to the benefit of the rural economy.  In visual terms the proposed development 
would represent a considerable reduction in built form within the site.  The volume and 
footprint of the existing buildings are approximately 2850m3 and 650m2 respectively, 
whilst for the new development they would be approximately 1800m3 and 470m2 
respectively. There would also be a reduction of approximately 20% in the extent of 
hardstanding across the site.  Furthermore, the pods have a height of 4 metres as does 
the proposed car port whilst the maintenance building and managers flat would have a 
height of approximately 3 metres.  This compares favourably to the height of the larger 
existing buildings on the site, the highest of which is approximately 6.5 metres high.  
 

6.13 In light of the reduction in the amount of built form on the site the visual impact of the 
proposed development would be reduced in terms of the visible massing of the 
buildings.  This reduction would be particularly apparent in views from the public 
highway because the site sits at the valley floor approximately 2 metres below the level 
of the road and is well screened from the road by boundary hedging.  Indeed, the 
highest part of the buildings would sit at less than 1 metre above the normal height of 
the roadside hedge, and the visual impact of the pods would be further mitigated 
through the proposed use of sedum roofs and timber walls, which would help to blend 
the pods into the pasture and woodland background on the valley side to the north. 
 

6.14 As well as being within a relatively unobtrusive position in the valley bottom the site is 
only readily visible from a relatively short length (approximately 250m) of the public 
highway from which the housing on the opposite side of the highway is also visually 
prominent.  Views from further along the highway are restricted by a combination of the 
topography and woodland cover in the area, and in the public views from the highway 
the development would be viewed in context with the existing built form to the south. 
 

6.15 The pods would be arranged in a regular linear pattern along the valley floor and whilst 
their footprint and overall visual presence would be considerably less than the existing 
buildings on the site they would extend up the valley to the west further than the 
existing agricultural buildings.  However, based on historic aerial photographs of the 
site the pods would extend no further westwards than the area of the site used for the 
purposes of open agricultural storage, and they would not extend further westwards 
than the adjacent dwelling to the south (The End House).  At the present time the land 
is occupied by unattractive buildings and is relatively devoid of any landscaping. Whilst 
the pods would be laid out in a linear arrangement there would be considerable space 
between the pods and the site plan shows a significant amount of new tree and hedge 
planting between the pods and on the site generally that in my view would help to 
reduce the visual impact of the development further and help to assimilate it into its 
rural surroundings.   
 

Page 119



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

6.16 The car ports and maintenance building are located at the south eastern edge of the 
site where they would again replace unsightly agricultural buildings and would be 
visually unobtrusive below the level of the adjacent highway.  This part of the 
development would also be well screened by the area of extensive woodland 
(designated as ancient woodland) extending to the north of the site.  The Chiltern Way 
passes through the entrance of the site and into the woodland to the north of the site.  
Whilst the site is readily visible from the Chiltern Way as it passes through the site and 
towards the adjacent woodland this is only for a length of approximately 100 metres, 
and thereafter the woodland and topography restrict views of the site.  In these short 
range views the development would be seen below the level of the road and against 
the backdrop of the housing to the south.  As such the development would not in my 
opinion be visually intrusive.   
 

6.17 The pods include relatively large glazed areas facing north towards the valley side and 
woodland beyond.  Although the low height and small size of the buildings and their 
position at the bottom of the valley would limit light spill from the glazing there would still 
be a potential negative impact on the dark skies in the locality.  Policy ENV12 seeks to 
avoid adverse light pollution and this is also a requirement of Policy DP8 of the 
Chilterns AONB Management Plan (CMP) which seeks to keep skies dark at night. The 
applicant has provided details of the proposed glazing, which includes the use of 
electro chromic glass. This will reduce light pollution into the night sky to a very low 
level.  External lighting will also need to be strictly controlled and this can be done 
through a suitably worded condition.  
 

6.18 Having regard to the above matters, I consider that the visual impact of the 
development within the Chilterns AONB would be very localised.  Neither would the 
development disrupt the landscape qualities of the area as identified within the 
Landscape Character Assessment, and the proposal would respect the scattered linear 
pattern of development in the locality.  
 

6.19 The Chilterns Conservation Board has commented on the application that the planning 
merits as assessed from the perspective of AONB policy are finely balanced but they 
consider that there is a degree of harm. They have raised some concern about the 
pods extending further westwards than the existing farm buildings. For the reasons 
outlined above I consider this is acceptable.  The CMP includes objectives relating to 
increasing the enjoyment and understanding of the Chilterns, including through 
attracting greater visitor numbers. The site provides direct access to the Chiltern Way 
path as well as the wider network of public rights of way in the area and would provide 
a good base for walking holidays.  The CMP also seeks to increase the economic and 
social wellbeing of local communities by supporting the development of the visitor 
economy.  Policy SP1 of the CMP states that ‘there is great potential to attract more 
visitors, expand the short break market and raise the profile of the Chilterns’.  This 
proposal would help to meet the aims of this Policy.  
 

6.20 However, the CMP (Policy DP1) also makes it clear in line with the S85 of the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 and the NPPF that the key priority in 
assessing development proposals is to ensure the conservation and enhancement of 
the landscape and scenic beauty of the AONB.  However, for the reasons outlined 
above, I consider that the visual and landscape impacts of the proposal would not 
conflict with this central priority.  
 

 
 
6.21 

Impact on the Amenity of Neighbouring Residents 
 
There are a small number of properties opposite the site to the south and further along 
the road to the east.  Policy DES6 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that development 

Page 120



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

proposals do not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring 
uses, when considering both individual and cumulative impacts, in relation to factors 
such as loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight, dominance or visual intrusion, noise or 
vibration or external lighting.   
 

6.22 The proposed development is well separated from the existing dwelling by the public 
highway and roadside planting.  The development is low in height and the physical 
presence of the buildings would not have an adverse impact on neighbouring amenity 
in my view.  Having regard to the relatively small number of pods and the likely traffic 
generation as a result I do not consider that the additional traffic generation would 
cause any undue disturbance, particularly in context with the general traffic using the 
intervening highway.  The use of the pods for holiday accommodation may generate 
some noise from external activities during the day and evening but again having regard 
to the small number of pods and that they only comprise a single bedroom I do not 
consider that noise levels from the site would be excessive.   
 

 
 
6.23 

Highway Access and Parking 
 
Policy TRANS5 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that development provides for a safe and 
convenient access for all users to the highway network.  The site is accessed off the 
B480, and is subject to a 30mph limit in the vicinity of the site, although given the 
straight alignment and gradient of the road it appears likely that many vehicles (and 
cyclists) will exceed this speed.  The proposal seeks to utilise the existing access and a 
secondary access would be stopped up.  The proposal would improve the existing 
access by providing appropriate visibility splays to either side with a hedge replanted 
behind the splays.  In my view this represents a significant improvement to highway 
safety for users of the access and the highway more generally that would offset the 
minor increase in traffic movements to and from the site in comparison to a working 
farmyard.  
 

6.24 The proposal would provide for seven parking spaces, which should be sufficient given 
the one bedroom size of the pods and the single managers flat. It is apparent that the 
area is popular with cyclists and secure cycle parking would be provided within the 
maintenance building, which would enhance the visitor experience to the site and 
encourage more sustainable modes of travel during their stay. 
 

6.25 The Highway Authority has raised no objections to the proposal noting the 
improvements to the gradient and visibility at the access, and the provision of sufficient 
parking.    
 

 
 
6.26 

Impact on Protected Species, Trees and Biodiversity 
 
Policy ENV2 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not result in harm or 
loss to the ecological resource of the district including protected species and ancient 
woodland.  Policy ENV3 of the SOLP seeks to support proposals that would conserve, 
restore and enhance biodiversity in the district.  These requirements are also set out 
within the NPPF and Chilterns AONB Management Plan.  Policy ENV1 seeks to protect 
important landscape features, including trees.  
 

6.27 The application is supported by an Ecological Appraisal.  The existing buildings show 
no evidence of bat use and are not suitable for bat roosting.  The wider site has limited 
ecological value at the present time, with the main value as a result of the existing 
hedges and trees which are largely to be retained.  The proposal includes new 
wildflower planting along with new native trees and hedging, and this can all be secured 
by condition.  The development would encroach no further towards the ancient 

Page 121



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

woodland than the existing agricultural buildings to be demolished.  The council’s 
Countryside Officer has assessed the scheme and is satisfied that the proposal will 
result in ecological enhancements compared to the existing baseline.  
 

6.28 The site adjoins ancient woodland, which is not impacted by the development.  
Otherwise there are very few trees within the site worthy of retention.  The new trees 
and hedges to be provided will substantially increase the vegetation cover within the 
site.  The Forestry Officer has raised no objections subject to conditions requiring tree 
protection measures and new landscaping.  
 

 
 
6.29 

Energy Efficiency  
 
Policy DES8 seeks to promote sustainable design and states that all new development  
should seek to minimise the carbon and energy impacts of their design and 
construction.  An energy statement has been submitted with the application that 
outlines a fabric first approach to energy efficiency whilst solar panels are also included 
on the roofs of the car ports.  The statement indicates a 143% reduction in carbon 
emissions over the 2013 building regulations, which exceed the requirements of Policy 
DES10 of the SOLP.   
 

 
 
6.30 

Drainage 
 
Given the site’s location within the valley bottom the site is prone to surface water 
flooding but is within Flood Zone 1.  Policy EP4 seeks to ensure that development 
addresses the effective management of flood risk, and does not increase flooding 
elsewhere.  In conjunction with the council’s drainage engineer the applicant has 
developed a suitable drainage strategy for the site.  This comprises cellular soakaways 
and a low bund to control surface water drainage flows and a package treatment plant 
and drainage field to the west of the proposed pods to dispose of foul drainage.  As 
noted by the Countryside Officer the drainage fields provide an opportunity to enhance 
the biodiversity of the site primarily through facilitating a wet meadow wild flower mix.   
 

7.0 
7.1 

Conclusion and Planning Balance 
The application site is located within the countryside where new self-catering visitor 
accommodation would generally not be supported having regard to Policy EMP11 of 
the SOLP, however, having regard to the layout and scale of the proposed 
development it would have a more similar function and character to more widespread 
forms of tourist accommodation located within areas of the countryside, which are more 
permissive under development plan policies (EMP12) than to traditional market 
housing.  The development would make a positive contribution to the visitor economy 
through providing additional high quality accommodation, and supporting existing 
businesses in the area, and would meet key objectives of the CMP in relation to 
promoting rural tourism within the Chilterns.  
 

7.2 The site is currently occupied by poor quality agricultural buildings with little prospect of 
active re-use for farming purposes. The proposed development would remove the 
existing unsightly buildings and result in a significant reduction in the footprint, volume 
and height of built form within the site.  The visual and landscape impact of the 
development would be limited due to the modest scale of the development, the local 
topography and screening afforded by existing woodland cover.  Having regard to the 
small number of units proposed, and the existing use of the site the impact on the 
amenity of existing residents in the vicinity is not considered significant. The proposal 
also includes highway improvements to the site access that would be beneficial to 
highway safety.  Other significant benefits derived from the proposed development 
include the enhancement of biodiversity within the site through additional hedgerow and 

Page 122



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 December 2021 

tree planting and areas of wild flowers.  In weighing up the overall planning balance 
officers consider that the benefits associated with the development outweigh the limited 
and specific conflict with development plan policy in relation to Policy ENV11.   

8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:  

 
1. Commencement of development within three years 
2. Development in accordance with the approved plans 
3. Schedule of the materials to be agreed  
4. Levels as shown on the approved plans 
5. Landscaping in accordance with the approved plans and landscape 

management plan to be agreed 
6. Tree protection details in accordance with submitted details 
7. External lighting to be agreed 
8. Flood risk strategy to be agreed  
9. Surface water drainage agreed 
10. Foul drainage to be agreed 
11. Contaminated land investigation 
12. Contaminated land remediation 
13. Development in accordance with the Ecological Appraisal 
14. Means of access to be improved 
15. Existing access to be stopped up 
16. Provision and protection of vision splays 
17. Parking and turning areas to be provided and maintained 
18. Development to be carried out in accordance with energy statement 
19. Use of electro chromic glass 
20. Managers flat to be used in association with the business 
21. Use of the accommodation for holiday lets only  
 

  
 

Author: Tom Wyatt 

Email: Planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Tel: 01235 422600 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 123

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 125

Agenda Item 11P21/S0047/FUL



Development Area Location Plan

1:2500 at A3
20m 40m 60m 80m 100m0m

Appendix B

Page 126



j m d
Project Drawing Scale Date Drawn

Dwg NoJob No

JONATHAN MARK DENNIS
A  R  C  H  I  T  E  C  T  S

67 STAUNTON ROAD, HEADINGTON
OXFORD    OX3 7TL

t. 0 1 8 6 5   7 6 4 4 4 9
f. 0 1 8 6 5   7 6 4 4 4 9
e. jondennis@jmdarchitects.co.uk

natural blue slates to car port 
roof.  PV panels installed on 
south facing roof 

Datum 163.00mts

SOUTH ELEVATION

+ 165.50

+ 166.30

165.29 +

169.17
168.88

168.55

EAST ELEVATION

168.55

169.17

oak frame structure sat 
on brick plinth walls

Datum 163.00mts

Outline of existing  
building 3

natural blue slates to car port 
roof. PV panels installed on 
south facing roof 

WEST ELEVATION
Datum 163.00mts

Datum 163.00mts

NORTH ELEVATION

169.17
168.88

168.55

oak frame structure sat 
on brick plinth walls

open gabled oak frame 
structure sat on brick 
plinth walls

O 1 2 3 4 5m

natural blue slates 
to car port roof. 

GROVE FARM
PATEMORE LANE
PISHILL

21.01.2020

365

1.100 @ A3

CAR PORT DETAILS

D-8 D
Page 127



j 
m

 d
Pr

oj
ec

t
D

ra
w

in
g

Sc
al

e
D

at
e

D
ra

w
n

D
w

g 
N

o
Jo

b 
N

o

JO
N

A
TH

A
N

 M
A

R
K

 D
EN

N
IS

A
  R

  C
  H

  I
  T

  E
  C

  T
  S

67
 S

TA
U

N
TO

N
 R

O
A
D

, 
H

EA
D

IN
G

TO
N

O
X
FO

R
D

  
  
O

X
3 

7T
L

t.
 0

 1
 8

 6
 5

  
 7

 6
 4

 4
 4

 9
f.

 0
 1

 8
 6

 5
  
 7

 6
 4

 4
 4

 9
e.

 j
on

de
nn

is
@

jm
da

rc
hi

te
ct

s.
co

.u
k

4,
00

0

6,000

6,
75

0

2,
10

0

3,
82

5

O 1 2 3 4 5m

FLOOR PLAN WINDOWS & DOORS:

ROOFLIGHTS:

CONSTRUCTION: Pre-fabricated Timber SIPS panels constructed off site and sat 
on 100mm reinforced EcoPlus concrete slab. Walls and roof 
insulated with 300mm Thermafleece Supasoft Polyester 
Insulation or similar to provide a min U-Value of 0.12. Sedum 
vegetation layer laid over roof on 50mm substrate and 
drainage layer all to specialist details

kitchen

shw wc
bedroom

Sedum roof 

Zinc coping to end of gables to provide a 
clean defined break between sedum and 
chesnut cladding

Chesnut cladding will tuen silver/grey 
once weathered to help blend into 
ancient forest opposite

REAR ELEVATIONSIDE ELEVATIONFRONT ELEVATION

Small slot window recessed back from 
exterior cladding to minimise light 
polution at night

black enamel insulated 
flue to stove

large gunmetal grey sliding 
patio doors to minimise 
framework and maximise 
glass 

SIDE ELEVATIONTYPICAL SECTION

concealed gutter system 
to enhance clean lines of 
buildings

soakaway
Dry stream beds to carry 
rainwater from roofs to small 
rockary pond. 

Copper chute from roof to cantilver out and 
connect to chainlink downpipe to feed dry 
stream bed. copper used for its natural 
properties and aethetics

Bridge

Copper chute from roof to cantilver out and 
connect to chainlink downpipe to feed dry 
stream bed. copper used for its natural 
properties and aethetics

High performance triple glazed composite aluminium windows 
and doors with gunmetal grey pcc aluminium coated external 
face. Typical U-Value 0.8. Glass to be Electro Chromatic

HEATING:

LIGHTING: 100% low energy LED lighting throughout the pod

Defra Approved Room Sealed Multi fuel stove with direct 
external air supply installed. Max output 5Kw
Electric thermostatic radiators located in bathroom, bedroom 
and living space providing heating when not in use.
Small domestic MVHR unit located in pod to provide natural 
ventilation and condensation control

High performance triple glazed rooflights with automatic 
opening to promote cross ventilation and Electro Chromatic 
Glazing. Typical U-Value 0.6

Electro Chromatic Glazing to 
prevent light pollution at night.

sitting

Rooflights to have Electro 
Chromatic Glazing to prevent light 
pollution at night. Sedum roof 

outline of previous 
earth shelter

G
RO

VE
 F

AR
M

PA
TE

M
O

RE
 L

AN
E

PI
SH

IL
L

21
.0

1.
20

20

36
5

1.
10

0 
@

 A
3

PO
D

 D
ET

A
IL

S

D
-9

 D
P

age 128



j 
m

 d
Pr

oj
ec

t
D

ra
w

in
g

Sc
al

e
D

at
e

D
ra

w
n

D
w

g 
N

o
Jo

b 
N

o

JO
N

A
TH

A
N

 M
A

R
K

 D
EN

N
IS

A
  R

  C
  H

  I
  T

  E
  C

  T
  S

67
 S

TA
U

N
TO

N
 R

O
A
D

, 
H

EA
D

IN
G

TO
N

O
X
FO

R
D

  
  
O

X
3 

7T
L

t.
 0

 1
 8

 6
 5

  
 7

 6
 4

 4
 4

 9
f.

 0
 1

 8
 6

 5
  
 7

 6
 4

 4
 4

 9
e.

 j
on

de
nn

is
@

jm
da

rc
hi

te
ct

s.
co

.u
k

5,998

1800mm HIGH BRICK WALL WITH 
NEW OAK FRAME STRUCTURE 
INSTALLED BEHIND

G4

O 1 2 3 4 5m

1

PERMEABLE PAVING TO 
CAR PARK

+ 165.10 + 165.50 + 165.90

+ 167.57

+ 167.08

+ 166.30

+ 166.15

+ 166.

PERMEABLE PAVING

+ 164.30

1.2.3.4.5.6.

7.

DISABLED PARKING

NEW CODED GATE TO HAVE PEDESTRIAN 
BUTTON TO ALLOW  ACCESS FOR 
PEDESTRIANS ONLY WHEN VEHICLE ACCESS 
IS NOT REQUIRED

oak frame structure sat 
on stone saddle stones 

1500mm HIGH NEWLY PLANTED 
HEDGING ALL TO SPECIALIST 
DETAILS AND PLANTING 
SPECIFICATIONS

+ 164.08

+ 165.71

+ 163.78

+ 164.42 + 166.32

+ 166.34+ 166.32

+ 166.17
+ 166.44

+ 165.86

+ 165.50

+ 165.08

BINS

BRICK WALL TO 
MATCH BUILDING

+ 165.08

R    A    M    P

MAINTENANCE 
BUILDING

SITE MANAGERS FLAT

SEPTIC TANK

NEW GULLY POSITIO
OVER EXISTING

Proposed bwlow 
ground Foul 
Pumping Station

+ 166.81

G
RO

VE
 F

AR
M

PA
TE

M
O

RE
 L

AN
E

PI
SH

IL
L

21
.0

1.
20

20

36
5

1.
10

0 
@

 A
3

CA
R 

PO
RT

 D
ET

A
IL

S

D
-7

 F
P

age 129



j m d

Project

Drawing

Scale Date Drawn

Dwg NoJob No

JONATHAN MARK DENNIS
A  R  C  H  I  T  E  C  T  S

67 STAUNTON ROAD, HEADINGTON
OXFORD    OX3 7TL

t. 0 1 8 6 5   7 6 4 4 4 9
f. 0 1 8 6 5   7 6 4 4 4 9
e. jondennis@jmdarchitects.co.uk

O 1 2 3 4 5m

New building screened 
by new hedge

SOUTH ELEVATION ( VIEWED FROM ROAD ) EAST ELEVATION 
Datum 164.00mts

new planted hedge to match 
existing and to screen building 
from road New building to follow 

profile of existing building 7

165.08

167.91

proposed building 
footprint = 82 sqm

PLANT
CYCLE HIRE 
STOREBEDROOM

BATHKITCHEN

MANAGER 
FLAT

Outline of existing  
building 7

BASEMENT STORE

Datum 
164.00mts

+ 164.50

+ 165.08

TYPICAL SECTION

PLANT

STORE / PLANT

BASEMENT PLAN

NORTH ELEVATION 
Datum 164.00mts

stained sawn faced featheredge 
boading on masonry walls. external 
brick plinth to base of building

WEST ELEVATION 

lead grey single ply roof 
membrane to flat roof of new 
building

MANAGER FLAT SHOWN 
DOTTED ABOVE

existing building 
footprint = 82 sqm

BINS

37sqm internal floor area

WC

STORE / PLANT

stained timber doors and 
window to match boarding

R    A    M    P

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

GROVE FARM
PATEMORE LANE
PISHILL

21.01.2020

365

MAINTENANCE 
BUILDING & MANAGER
FLAT

1.100 @ A2

D-6 E

P
age 130



Project

Drawing

Scale Date Drawn

Dwg NoJob No

JONATHAN MARK DENNIS
A  R  C  H  I  T  E  C  T  S

t. 0 1 8 6 5   7 6 4 4 4 9
f. 0 1 8 6 5   7 6 4 4 4 9
e. jondennis@freedom255.com

67 STAUNTON ROAD, HEADINGTON
OXFORD    OX3 7TL

2.
5m

45m

6,
00

0

5,998

45m

EXISTING TREES 
RETAINED

EXISTING TREE 
REMOVED

1

G4

2

3

1

3

5

5

2

3

1

2

north

O 1 2 3 4 10m5

SOLAR PANELS INSTALLED ON SLATE ROOF 
OF CAR PORT TO PRODUCE ELECTRICITY. 
POWER INTRODUCED BACK INTO THE GRID 
TO REDUCE CONSUMPTION ON SITE

1

+ 166.66

+ 166.81

BRICK WALL WITH 
CODED GATE

EXISTING TARMACED ENTRANCE RAMP 
REMOVED AND RELANDSCAPED. 
ENTRANCE CLOSED OFF

NEW HEDGE PLANTED TO PROVIDE 
IMPROVED VISIBILITY SPLAY

NEW HEDGE PLANTED TO PROVIDE 
IMPROVED VISIBILITY SPLAY

OUTLINE OF EXISTING 
BUILDINGS SHOWN DOTTED

OUTLINE OF EXISTING 
BUILDINGS SHOWN DOTTED

GATE PROVIDED IN PROPOSE 
NEW HEDGE FOR DIRECT 
REFUGE COLLECTION FROM 
ROAD

EXISTING HEDGE 
RETAINED

EXISTING HEDGE 
RETAINED

MAINTENANCE 
BUILDING

EXISTING POST AND 
WIRE FENCE 
RETAINED 

EXISTING POST AND 
WIRE FENCE 
RETAINED 

EXISTING POST AND 
WIRE FENCE 
RETAINED 

OUTLINE OF EXISTING BUILDINGS 
SHOWN DOTTED

EXISTING GATE AND FIELD 
ACCESS RETAINED

FIRE APPLIANCE TURNING AREA 
UTILISING EXISTING IMPROVED 
PADDOCK ENTRANCE 

BUILDINGS

EXISTING

AREA AREA

EXISTING

VOLUME

1059.30 m2

2770.00 m3

VOLUME

PROPOSED

621.75 m2

AREA AREAVOLUME VOLUME

PROPOSED

SITE ANALYSIS

EXISTING BUILDINGS INCLUDE ALL STRUCTURES 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 LOCATED 
WITHIN SITE BOUNDARIES

PROPOSED HARDSTANDING INCLUDES ALL PATHS, TERRACE AREAS, 
ENTRANCE AND PARKING AREAS

WIDENED AND IMPROVED ENTRANCE 
OFF HIGHWAY WITH NEW 45x2.5m 
VISIBILITY SPLAYS EITHER SIDE AND A 
REDUCED GRADIENT INTO THE SITE

HARDSTANDING

PERMEABLE PAVING TO 
ENTRANCE

+ 164.30

+ 165.71

+ 165.86

+ 163.78

+ 164.08

+ 164.42

ROAD GULLY A TO 
CONNECT INTO NEW 
SOAKWAY ON SITE

soakaway

soakaway
7

G6

H8

5

EXISTING TREE 
REMOVED

FH

CODE CONTROLLED 
SECURITY GATE

BINS

EXISTING TREE 
REMOVED

G12

469.50 m2

820.00 m2

1818.50 m3

DRY STREAM BEDS TO CARRY RAINWATER 
FROM ROOFS TO SMALL ROCKARY POND. 
WATER FEATURE TO PROMOTE WILDLIFE 
BIO-DIVERSITY

INDIVIDUAL SOAKAWAY CRATES  TO 
COLLECT WATER FROM ROCK POOL 
OVERFLOW

Proposed Cellular Soakaway SA4
Contributing highway catchment: 420m2
Dimensions: 6m x 5 m x 0.8m
Infiltration rate: 2.53x10-5m/s
Design storm: 1 in 100yr + 40%
To be located in permeable chalk strata

soakaway

Proposed drainage field designed in 
accordance with BS6297:2007+A1:2008
Infiltration area = 60m2
Trench width = 0.9m
Trench length =66.00m
Vp = 15s/mm (with additional sand filter layer  
below the standard distribution layer)

Proposed Foul 
Pumping Station

ROAD GULLY B TO 
CONNECT INTO NEW 
SOAKWAY ON SITE

Stable

Stable

EXISTING HEDGE RETAINED

EXISTING HEDGE RETAINED

Gully

Gully

EXISTING HEDGE 
RETAINED

MAINS CONNECTED 
FIRE HYDRANT

soakaway

Proposed Cellular Soakaway SA2
Contributing highway catchment: 90m2
Dimensions: 2m x 5m x 0.8m
Infiltration rate: 2.53x10-5m/s
Design storm: 1 in 100yr + 40%
To be located in permeable chalk strata

Proposed Cellular Soakaway SA3
Contributing greenfield catchment: 22ha
Contributing highway catchment: 0.029ha
Dimensions: 10m x 13m x 0.8m
Infiltration rate: 2.53x10-5m/s
Design storm: 1 in 100yr + 40%
To be located in permeable chalk strata

Proposed Package Treatment Plant
To serve a poulation of 12 
To BS EN 12566

soakaway

soakaway

soakaway

soakaway

+ 165.08

+ 165.08

R    A    M    P

+ 165.06

HOGGIN FINISH TO TERRACE 
AREAS TO ALLOW FOR DISABLED 
ACCESS AND TO ALLOW FREE 
DRAINAGE OF SURFACE WATER

PERMEABLE HOGGIN 
FOOTPATHS

HOGGIN FINISH TO TERRACE 
AREAS TO ALLOW FOR DISABLED 
ACCESS AND TO ALLOW FREE 
DRAINAGE OF SURFACE WATER

HOGGIN FINISH TO TERRACE 
AREAS TO ALLOW FOR DISABLED 
ACCESS AND TO ALLOW FREE 
DRAINAGE OF SURFACE WATER

NEW GRASS BUND CONSTRUCTED AS REQUIRED BY LLFA 
ENGINEER. BUND 0.5M HIGH AND 3M WIDE AT BASE WITH 
AN APPROX SLOPE OF 1in3. PURPOSE TO INTERCEPT 
GREENFIELD RUN OFF FROM LAND TO WEST AND DIRECT 
TOWARDS A NEW SOAKAWAY.

Outline of 
building 1 Outline of 

building 2

Tree

175.54

173.33

Datum 163.00mts

TP

Datum 163.00mts

Street Scene

O 1 2 3 4 10m5

Outline of 
building 7

TP

Outline of 
building 2

INTERNAL SECTION THROUGH SITE

Outline of new building hidden 
behind new hedging

Entrance to bin 
storage area

Proposed new hedging planted to provide 
new improved visibility splays from 
existing access

Proposed new hedging planted to provide 
new improved visibility splays from 
existing access

Outline of 
building 1

Outline of 
building 8

Outline of 
building 7

NEW GRASS BUND CONSTRUCTED AS REQUIRED BY LLFA 
ENGINEER. BUND 0.5M HIGH AND 3M WIDE AT BASE WITH 
AN APPROX SLOPE OF 1in3. PURPOSE TO INTERCEPT 
GREENFIELD RUN OFF FROM LAND TO WEST AND DIRECT 
TOWARDS A NEW SOAKAWAY.

GROVE FARM
PATEMORE LANE
PISHILL

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

21.01.2020 JMD

365 D-1 G

1.200 @ A0

P
age 131



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meetings
	Minutes SODC Planning Committee 13.10.21 fv

	8 P20/S3245/FUL - Harlesford Farm near Tetsworth
	Appendices A-C
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Sheets and Views
	003


	Figure 6.9 Landscaping Proposals Rev K
	SD-01-DNO Substation Elevations and Dimensions Plan_rev02
	SD-02-Customer Substation Elevations and Dimensions Plan_rev02
	SD-04-Stock Fence and CCTV Elevation_rev01
	SD-08-Inverter Elevations and Dimensions Plan_rev02
	SD-10-Panel Cross Section 25 Degree Tilt_rev02
	SD-13-Substation Compound Plan_rev01
	Appendix C
	Sheets and Views
	OP-01




	9 P20/S4360/FUL - Land to south west of Cowley Substation, Nuneham Courtenay
	Appendices A-B
	Appendix A Site Location Plan with field numbers
	Sheets and Views
	Site Location Plan A


	Appendix B Landscape masterplan


	10 P16/S3852/FUL - Land to the south of Newnham Manor, Crowmarsh Gifford
	Appendices1-7
	Appendix 1 Location PLan
	Appendix 2 Proposed Site Layout
	Appendix 3 Proposed Access Design
	Appendix 4 Junction Landscape Design
	Appendix 5 Indicative School Land layout
	Appendix 6 Materials Plan
	Appendix 7 Garden Sizes


	11 P21/S0047/FUL - Grove Farm, Patemore Lane, Pishill
	Appendices A-B
	GIS plan
	Location Plan
	365D8D_1.100_CAR_PORT_DETAILS
	365D9D_1.100_POD_DETAILS
	Car Port Details drwgno 365 D-7 F
	Maintenance Shed drwgno 365 D-6 E
	Site Plan Proposed drwgno 365 D-1 G





